

The Online Journal of New Horizons in Education

Volume 3 Issue 4 October 2013

Prof. Dr. Aytekin İşman Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Dr. Cem BİROL Editor

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ahmet ESKİCUMALI Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fatoş SİLMAN Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fahriye ALTINAY AKSAL Assoc. Prof. Dr. Zehra ALTINAY GAZİ Associate Editors

> www.tojned.net 01.10.2013





Copyright © 2011 - THE ONLINE JOURNAL OF NEW HORIZONS IN EDUCATION

All rights reserved. No part of TOJNED's articles may be reproduced or utilized in any form or by any means, electronic or mechanical, including photocopying, recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system, without permission in writing from the publisher.

Contact Address:

Prof. Dr. Aytekin İŞMAN TOJNED, Editor in Chief Sakarya-Turkey

Published in TURKEY

Message from the Editors

Dear researchers,

I am happy to announce that TOJNED is the rapidly growing journal in the field of education with the support and qualified studies of international researchers all around the world. It is great pleasure for me to present current volume and issue of TOJNED, October 2013 to the academic agenda. I would like to thank Editor and his delegation for the process of the publications. Further to this, I would like to thank authors who shared their valuable research papers to the academic world through TOJNED. Upon the developments of the journal, it is significant to ensure quality by pointing out interdisciplinary papers, methodologies and context to be part of the journal scope. In this respect, we are pleased to get qualified research papers to share in the academic world for the next issues of TOJNED.

October 01.2013 Prof. Dr. Aytekin İŞMAN **Editor in Chief**

TOJNED is an international journal that covers valuable research articles from international research agenda. On behalf of the editorial team, I am pleased to present new issue of TOJNED which focuses on interdisciplinary view within its quality and development. Upon the TOJNED scope, this issue covers different researches, methodologies and research contexts.

I would like to thank researchers and editorial team for their contributions to the academic agenda and the issue of TOJNED.

October 01.2013 Prof. Dr. Cem BİROL Edior

Editor-in-Chief

Prof. Dr. Aytekin İŞMAN - Sakarya University, Turkey

Editor

Prof. Dr. Cem BİROL - Eastern Mediterranean University, TRNC

Associate Editors

Assoc. Prof. Dr. Ahmet ESKİCUMALI, Sakarya University, Turkey Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fatoş SİLMAN - Near East University, TRNC Assoc. Prof. Dr. Fahriye ALTINAY AKSAL - Near East University, TRNC Assoc. Prof. Dr. Zehra ALTINAY GAZİ - Near East University, TRNC

Editorial Board

Ahmet MAHIROGLU, Gazi University, Turkey	Kenan OLGUN, Sakarya University, Turkey
Ahmet PEHLIVAN - International Cyprus University,	Mehmet CAGLAR, Near East University, TRNC
TRNC	Mustafa KALKAN, Dokuz Eylul Universiy, Turkey
Antoinette MUNTJEWERFF, University of	Nerguz BULUT SERIN, International Cyprus
Amsterdam, Netherlands	University, TRNC
Arif ALTUN, Hacettepe University, Turkey	Nilay BUMEN, Ege University, Turkey
Arvind SINGHAL, University of Texas, United States	Oguz SERIN, International Cyprus University, TRNC
Aytekin ISMAN, Sakarya University, Turkey	Selahhattin GELBAL, Hacettepe University, Turkey
Brent G. WILSON, University of Colorado at Denver,	Selahattin GÖNEN, Dicle University, Turkey
United States	Teressa FRANKLIN, Ohio University, United States
Buket AKKOYUNLU, Hacettepe University, Turkey	Aaron DAVENPORT, Grand View College, United
Cevat CELEP, Kocaeli University, Turkey	States
Charlotte GUNAWARDENA, University of New	Adem UZUN, Uludag University, Turkey
Mexico, United States	Ahmet AKIN, Sakarya University, Turkey
Colleen SEXTON, Governor State University, United	Ahmet ESKİCUMALI, Sakarya University, Turkey
States	Ali Sidki AGAZADE, Eastern Mediterranean
Coskun BAYRAK, Anadolu University, Turkey	University, TRNC
Don FLOURNOY, Ohio University, United States	Andreja Istenic STARCIC, University of Primonska,
Enver Tahir RIZA, Dokuz Eylul University, Turkey	Slovenija
Erdal ZORBA, Gazi University, Turkey	Antonis LIONARAKIS, Hellenic Open University,
Ferhan ODABASI, Anadolu University, Turkey	Greece
Francine Shuchat SHAW, New York University,	Bayram ÇETİN, Mustafa Kemal University, Turkey
United States	Cüneyt BİRKÖK, Sakarya University, Turkey
Gianni Viardo VERCELLI, University of Genova, Italy	Dale HAVILL, Dhofar University, Oman
Giovanni ADORNI, University of Genova, Italy	Elnaz ZAHED, University of Waterloo, UAE
Gilbert Mbotho MASITSA, Universirty of The Free	Fahriye ALTINAY AKSAL, Eastern Mediterranean
State - South Africa	University, TRNC
Gregory ALEXANDER, Universirty of The Free State -	Fatime BALKAN KIYICI, Sakarya University, Turkey
South Africa	Gulriz IMER, Mersin University, Turkey
Gurhan CAN, Anadolu University, Turkey	Hasan Basri GUNDUZ, Sakarya University, Turkey
Halil Ibrahim YALIN, Gazi University, Turkey	Hüseyin ÇALIŞKAN, Sakarya University, Turkey
Heli RUOKAMO, University of Lapland, Finland	Hj. Mohd Arif Hj. ISMAIL, National University of
Huseyin BASAR, Hacettepe University, Turkey	Malaysia, Malaysia
Jerry WILLIS, Manhattanville College, United States	Huseyin YARATAN, Eastern Mediterranean
Mariam MANJGALADZE, Institute of Linguistics,	University, TRNC
Georgia	Jagannath DANGE, Kuvempu University, India
Marina Stock MCISAAC, Arizona State University,	James C. HOLSTE, Texas A&M University at Qatar,
United States	Qatar
Martin STEIN, Westfalische Wilhems University,	Kakna SHENGELIA, Caucasus University, Georgia



Germany	Manoj Kumar SAXENA, M M College of Education,
Mehmet Ali KISAKUREK, Ankara University, Turkey	India
Mehmet Durdu KARSLI, Canakkale 18 Mart	Mehmet Ali DIKERDEM, Middlesex University, U.K.
University, Turkey	Mehmet ÖZDEMİR, Sakarya University, Turkey
Miguel j. ESCALA, Ins. Tech. de Santa Domingo,	Metin YAMAN, Gazi University, Turkey
Dominican Republic	Min JOU, National Taiwan Normal Uni., Taiwan
Monte CASSIM, Ritsumeikan Asi Pacific University,	Murat ISKENDER, Sakarya University, Turkey
Japan	Mustafa BAYRAKCI, Sakarya University, Turkey
Mufit KOMLEKSIZ, Ege University, Turkey	Mustafa GAZI, Eastern Mediterranean University,
Murat BARKAN, Yasar University, Turkey	TRNC
Mustafa SAGLAM, Anadolu University, Turkey	Mubin KIYICI, Sakarya University, Turkey
Nabi Bux JUMANI, Allama Iqbal Open University,	Neşe GÜLER, Sakarya University, Turkey
Pakistan	Nilgun TOSUN, Trakya University, Turkey
Ozcan DEMIREL, Hacettepe University, Turkey	Nursen SUCSUZ, Trakya University, Turkey
Petek ASKAR, Hacettepe University, Turkey	Omer Faruk TUTKUN, Sakarya University, Turkey
Rauf YILDIZ, Canakkale 18 Mart University, Turkey	Osman TİTREK, Sakarya University, Turkey
Ramazan ABACI, Sakarya University, Turkey	Ozcan Erkan AKGUN, Sakarya University, Turkey
Saedah SIRAJ, University of Malaya, Malaysia	Pamela EWELL, Central .College of IOWA, United
Satilmis TEKINDAL, Turkey	States
Sefik YASAR, Anadolu University, Turkey	Paul KGOBE, Centre of Edu. Pol. Dev., South Africa
Songul ALTINISIK, Abant Izzet Baysal University,	Paul Serban AGACHI, Babes-Bolyai University,
Turkey	Romania
Stefan AUFENANGER, University of Mainz, Germany	Paula FITZGIBBON, University of Victoria, Canada
Suleyman DOGAN, Ege University, Turkey	Psaltis IACOVOS, European University Cyprus,
Ş. Şule ERCETIN, Hacettepe University, Turkey	Cyprus
Ulku KOYMEN, Girne American University, TRNC	Partow IZADI, University of Lapland, Finland
Vahdettin SEVINC, Sakarya University, Turkey	Rıfat EFE, Dicle University, Turkey
Yavuz AKPINAR, Bogazici University, Turkey	Seref TAN, Uludag University, Turkey
Yuksel KAVAK, Hacettepe University, Turkey	Tam Shu SIM, University of Malaya, Malaysia
Abdülkadir MASKAN, Dicle University, Turkey	Vincent Ru-Chu SHIH, National Pingtung Univ. of Sci.
Cem BIROL, Eastern Mediterranean University,	& Tech., Taiwan
TRNC	Vu Thi Thanh HOA, Oxfam Great Britain, Vietnam
Danguole RUTKAUSKIENE, Kauno Tech. University,	Yuksel GUCLU, Sakarya University, Turkey
Lithuania	Zehra ALTINAY GAZI, Near East University, TRNC
Eric Zhi-Feng LIU, National Cenral University, Taiwan	
Fatos SILMAN, Near East University, TRNC	
Filiz POLAT, The University of Hong Kong, China	
Iman OSTA, Lebanese American Universiy, Lebanon	



Table Of Contents	
ACADEMIC MISCONDUCT: STUDENT BELIEFS AND BEHAVIORS AT A HBCU	1
Timothy J. Sweet-Holp, Veyonnis M. James	
ANXIETY AS PREDICTOR OF ASPIRATION AMONG ACADEMIC ACHIEVERS	12
Syeda Farhana Kazmi	
COLLEGE READINESS AND BLACK STUDENT PERFORMANCE: DISAFFIRMED EQUITY	23
Carolyn M. Davis, John R. Slate, George W. Moore, Wally Barnes	
EARLY CHILDHOOD PROGRAM PARTICIPATION AND LONG TERM EFFECTS ON READING ACHIEVEMENT AMONG BOYS AND GIRLS	45
Lory E. Haas, Debra P. Price, John R. Slate	
EMILE: AN INSIGH INTO EDUCATION AND CITIZENSHIP IN PLURALISTIC SOCIETY	58
Rasit Celik	
FOUNDATION OF THE COMPUTER ASSISTED TRANSLATION ACT	71
Ilyas OZTURK, Cemil OZ, Filiz ŞAN	
STRENGTHENING THE SYNERGY BETWEEN TEACHING AND RESEARCH	82
Divya Singhal	
THE EFFECTS OF PARENT'S SES AND EDUCATION LEVEL ON STUDENTS' MATHEMATICS ACHIEVEMENT: EXAMINING THE MEDIATION EFFECTS OF PARENTAL EXPECTATIONS AND PARENTAL COMMUNICATION	89
Ali Bicer, Mary M. Capraro, Robert M. Capraro	
THE USE OF TECHNOLOGY IN ACADEMIC TRANSLATOR TRAINING IN THE RESTRUCTURING PROCESS OF HIGHER EDUCATION	98
Filiz ŞAN	

Academic Misconduct: Student Beliefs and Behaviors at a HBCU

Timothy J. Sweet-Holp [1], Veyonnis M. James [2]

ABSTRACT

The purpose of this research is to measure the beliefs and behaviors, concerning academic dishonesty, of students at a Historically Black University (HBCU) located in the Southern United States. A literature review suggests that there is no existing work showing a similar study at a HBCU. Our primary goals are to detail student beliefs and behaviors, and to then better understand the relationship between student beliefs about academic misconduct and their own behaviors. This study uses sixteen questions, measuring various academic misconduct actions, previously asked of students enrolled at a Predominantly White Institution (PWI). Our paper then, in part, compares the findings from the PWI survey to those from our HBCU survey. In addition, our work compares student self reported beliefs to their self reported behaviors. Our data indicate that there is incongruence between beliefs and behaviors; students are more likely to take part in misconduct actions than their reported beliefs indicate.

Keywords: Academic Misconduct, HBCU, student beliefs, behaviors

[1] PhD Assistant Professor of Political Science Department of History and Political Science Albany State University 504 College Drive Albany GA 31705 229.430.5155 (O) tjholp@asurams.edu sweetholp@yahoo.com

[2] Department of History and Political Science Albany State University 504College Drive Albany GA 31705 229.733.2199 (C) vey.james@gmail.com

INTRODUCTION

Academic misconduct, such as cheating on tests, plagiarizing term papers, and submitting other people's work as original has garnered much attention in the academic literature. Although not restricted to institutions of higher education, the topic of academic dishonesty at the college level has generated a vast amount of work over the last fifty years. Payne and Nantz report that research on academic misconduct has occurred as early as 1941 (1994, p. 2) and Shipley cites work from a 1964 study by Bowers (1964) that found that at least one-half of the students surveyed on 99 campuses reported cheating (2009, p. 40). From student and faculty perceptions (Wilkinson, 2009; Hard, Conway, & Moran, 2006) to studies targeting specific majors and colleges, such as Journalism (Shipley, 2009), Business (lyer & Eastman, 2006), and Information Technology (Sheard, Markham, & Dick, 2003), scholars have looked at the phenomenon from the United Kingdom (Selwyn, 2008), Turkey (Tas & Tekkaya, 2010), Australia (Wilkinson, 2009), and the United States. Predicting behavior and attitudes (Culwin, 2006; Whitley, 1998) by isolating social (Zimny, Robertson, & Bartoszek, 2008), and psychological (Jordan, 2001) covariates and applying econometric (Bisping, Patron, & Roskelley, 2008) and multidimensional scaling techniques (Schmelkin, Gilbert, Spencer, & Pincus, 2008) serve as the focus of some researchers, while others concentrate on case study methodology (Stephens & Nicholson, 2008) to better understand the context within which students cheat.

Background Literature

According to Shipley the level of cheating differs by college major (2009, p. 40), and Crammer, Etters, and Finn note that there is a relationship between student orientation towards learning or grades and attitudes concerning cheating, with those oriented toward learning more likely to have harsher attitudes about cheating (2006, p. 135). Further, Shipley cites Bowers' (1964), findings that college peers are suspected to have the greatest influence on student's attitudes toward cheating (2009, p. 40). To complicate matters, however, Crammer et al., point out that students may be confused about what constitutes plagiarism and the status of other academic short-cuts (2006, p.

135). As noted in the introduction, there are many models of academic misconduct, each postulating a varied set of predictor variables.

In addition, academic dishonesty is defined in many ways and encompasses many activities. Some researchers identify academic dishonesty as cheating (Niiya, Ballantyne, North, & Crocker 2008; Etter, 2006), while others (Stone, Jawahar, & Kisamore, 2009; Hard et al., 2006) take a broader approach and include plagiarism, data falsification, and other forms of misconduct, as well. In this research, a wide range of activities, as used by Hard et al. (2006), are included under the label of academic misconduct. The sixteen questions used to measure student beliefs and behaviors are replicated from the study by Hard et al, (2006) at a Predominantly White Institution (PWI). The research of Hard et al, (2006) is based on the relationship between personal beliefs and the behavior of peers. There is a body of work that shows that individual beliefs are consistent with perceived peer behavior, and Hard et al, show that "students considerably overestimated the frequency of peer's misconduct" (2006, p. 1076). But what is the relationship between individual beliefs and behaviors? As Stephens and Nicholson discuss, "there are numerous studies in the literature indicating that many students experience belief-behavior incongruity specifically in the domain of academic dishonesty" (2008, p. 636). This incongruity can lead to moral disengagement, or the use of what Stephens and Nicholson call "neutralization devices [that] obscure or even negate one's personal agency by attributing responsibility for one's conduct to others" (2008, p. 636).

Although Crammer et al., find that students at a church affiliated school are likely to rate misconduct as more serious than students at a larger research university, gender might be a confounding variable (2006, p. 149). Nevertheless, the findings of Crammer et al., (2006) serve as a point of interest. Is it possible that religion might play a role in the formation of student beliefs and behaviors when it comes to academic misconduct? Hill investigates the interaction between college life and religious beliefs and states that "religion only works as a deterrent to deviant behavior when the community upholds the religious justifications" (2009, p. 517). Hill expects that in a closed community, such as students in college, "religious life will be more salient" (2009, p. 517). In addition, Bryant (2003) posits that "students may become increasingly committed to spiritual matters during college" (p. 3), and found that there was a greater "commitment to integrate spirituality into their lives" (p. 6) over the course of one year. Directly informing this research, Hill relates that although students who attend HBCUs have moderately lower levels of religious participation, than students at religious schools, i.e., Bible colleges, their participation rate is considerably higher than that of students at nonreligious public and private schools (2009, p. 523). Table 2 shows our student responses to two questions about their religiosity. Over eighty percent identify themselves as *Very* or *Somewhat* religious, and approximately one-third report attending church service at least weekly.

Although there is no direct support in the literature, this research is built upon the conjecture that the role of religious belief is strong at HBCUs and that a robust sense of moral community will possibly temper the academic misconduct beliefs and behaviors of students.

PURPOSE

After examining the literature, one question that comes to mind is, do students at different types of institutions have varying attitudes toward academic dishonesty? Thus, these authors have found only one study conducted exclusively at a Historically Black College or University (HBCU) (Qwunwanne, Rustagi, & Dada, 2010). Furthermore, although Qwunwanne et al., (2010) looked at academic dishonesty at Howard University, the study targeted students enrolled in the college of Business, exclusively, and did not cross academic disciplines.

This research looks at student self reports of beliefs and behaviors concerning academic dishonesty. It takes its lead, in part, from a study (Hard et al, 2006) conducted at a Predominantly White Institution (PWI). Our study borrows from the PWI study by asking the same set of questions, about academic misconduct, to students at a HBCU. Our research is focused on three central questions that we strive to answer with our questionnaire data.

First, we measure HBCU student attitudes and beliefs concerning academic misconduct. We ask about their beliefs and about their behaviors and report the univariate findings. Next, we compare the responses from students at the HBCU to the responses detailed by Hard et al, (2006) of students from a PWI. We are curious to see if self reports of behavior concerning academic misconduct from students at a HBCU differ from students at the PWI. Finally, and secondary to the descriptive findings, we then compare the self reports of beliefs and behaviors at the HBCU to determine if there a difference between student perceptions of honest behavior and their actual behavior.

METHODOLOGY

Two surveys (Form 1, Form 2) were administered concurrently to approximately four-hundred and seventy undergraduate students at a HBCU located in the Southern United States. Approval from the university's Institutional Review Board was gained prior to implementing the survey. Students enrolled in university developmental and core curriculum classes during the Fall term of 2011 were asked to voluntarily participate in the study. Because of the voluntary nature of the survey, responses were not tracked and response rates not calculated. Informal observation indicates that the vast majority of students completed the survey, with only a few students leaving the classrooms during survey administration. The courses selected enroll predominantly first and second year students from all majors.

The survey included items borrowed from an earlier study (Hard et al, 2006) that asks students to rate sixteen academic misconduct behaviors. This research differs, however, from that of Hard et al, (2006) by using a split-form design. The split-form pre-experimental design is used to allow comparison of the two groups. Thus, one-half of the students are asked to rate their *beliefs* concerning each item, while the other half are asked to rate their *behaviors*. The two survey forms are stacked in alternating fashion and then distributed to students in classrooms. In total there are 237 completed Form 1 surveys and 241 of Form 2. Survey Form 1 measures student beliefs, while Form 2 measures student behaviors. On both forms the scale runs from -5 to 5. On the *Beliefs* form, the scale goes from -5 (Completely Unacceptable Behavior) to +5 (Completely Acceptable Behavior) with 0 (Not Really Acceptable but Not Unacceptable, Either) in the middle. On the *Behaviors* form it goes from -5 (Would Never Consider It) to +5 (Have Done It Many Times) with 0 (Might Consider It, But Never have Done It) in the middle.

The questions run the range from minor infractions such as "Realizing during an exam that another student wants to copy from your paper, and allowing that student to copy" to the more serious "Buying papers for the purpose of turning them in as your own work." Demographic information was also collected. Once these data are collected, they are entered into the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS) for analyses. Univariate and means test procedures are performed on these data to test for differences between student beliefs and behaviors. The wording for the sixteen questions that measure student beliefs and behaviors are displayed at the end of this *Methodology* section..

Before analyzing the belief and behavior responses, we first compared the two groups to see how closely they matched on basic demographic and student attributes. Tables 1 and 2 show that the two groups (Form 1 - Beliefs, Form 2 - Behaviors) are comparable in their composition.

Class Rank*	Form 1	Form 2
Freshman	53.20%	48.50%
Sophomore	32.80%	36.90%
Junior	6.40%	6.90%
Senior	7.70%	7.70%
Mean GPA*	2.97	2.90
Mean Age*	22.34	22.72
*Not Signif	ficant at the .01 level	

Table 1: Comparison of Student Attributes

In terms of class rank, the two groups have a very similar response distribution and a Chi-Square test does not allow us to reject the null hypothesis of no difference between the two samples at the .01 level. Likewise, the mean GPA and mean Age differences do not generate a sufficiently small probability to reject the null hypothesis of no difference at the .01 level.

How Religious*	Form 1	Form 2
Very	33.10%	32.50%
Somewhat	52.10%	52.60%
A Little	12.30%	12.80%
Not At All	2.50%	2.10%
Church Attendance*	Form 1	Form 2
Daily	1.70%	3.00%
Weekly	36.10%	32.20%
Monthly	21.90%	22.90%
Several Times A Year	17.60%	22.50%
Rarely	19.30%	17.80%
Never	3.40%	1.70%
*Not Significant at the .0)1 level	

Table 2: Comparison of Demographic Variables

Table 2 compares the two groups on two religion oriented questions; how religious the students consider her/him-self and church attendance and, again, the differences are not statistically significant at the .01 level. We do find a statistically significant difference at the .01 level in reported parental income (Table 3).

Table 3: Comparison of Parental Income

Income*	Form 1	Form 2	
\$15,000 or Less	20.60%	25.00%	
\$15, 001 to \$30,000	26.80%	19.30%	
\$30,001 to \$45,000	19.60%	15.30%	
\$45,001 to \$60,000	15.50%	19.90%	
\$60,001 to \$ 100,000	9.80%	17.00%	
\$100,000+	7.70%	3.40%	
*Significant at the .01 level			

Seaman cautions us that "failing to find difference is not proof of similarity" (1998, p. 405). However, Seaman acknowledges that "some researchers attempt to demonstrate equivalence by showing that the traditional null hypothesis of no difference cannot be rejected" (1998, p. 405). Thus, although not the most rigorous test for similarity, for this first exploratory look, the authors are comfortable, overall, that the two samples are similar enough and move forward with comparing student beliefs and behaviors.

Below are the sixteen survey questions used in this study.

Q1 Planning in advance and then copying from another person's paper or receiving unauthorized aid from another person during an examination.

Q2 Not planning to, but copying from another person's paper or receiving unauthorized aid from another person during an examination.

Q3 Planning to and then using unauthorized materials or devices during an examination or any other form of academic evaluation and grading: for example, using signals, notes, books, or calculators during an examination when the instructor has not approved the instructor has not approved their use.

Q4 Not planning to, but using unauthorized materials or devices during an examination or any other form of academic evaluation and grading.

Q5 Planning to, and then allowing, another person to copy from your paper during an examination.

Q6 Realizing, during an exam, that another student wants to copy from your paper, and then allowing that

student to copy (or not preventing the student from copying).

Q7 Improperly acquiring or distributing examinations for example, stealing examinations before the test period or taking a copy of an examination from a testing room without the permission of the instructor.

Q8 Submitting another person's material as one's own for academic evaluation.

Q9 Preparing work for another student to submit for academic evaluation.

Q10 Working with another student on material to be submitted for academic evaluation when the instructor has not authorized working together.

Q11 Submitting the same work, or substantially similar work, in more than one course without prior consent of the evaluating instructors.

Q12 Using unauthorized materials or fabricated data in an unacceptable exercise: for example, falsifying data in a research paper or laboratory experiment.

Q13 Coping sentences, phrases, paragraphs, tables, figures or data directly or in slightly modified form from a book, article, or other academic source without using quotation marks or giving proper acknowledgments to the original author or source.

Q14 Coping information from Internet websites and submitting it as your own work.

Q15 Buying papers for the purpose of turning them in as your own work.

Q16 Selling or lending papers so another student can turn them in as his or her own work.

FINDINGS

The first procedure conducted is the calculation of the *Belief* response means. Table 4 shows the findings of this analysis by displaying the questions in rank order from smallest to largest mean. A mean of -5 is "Completely Unacceptable," while a mean of 5 is "Completely Acceptable." As the table shows, the three responses with the smallest means - or less unacceptable actions - are Question 8 "Submitting another person's material as one's own for academic evaluation" (-3.90), Question 7 "Improperly acquiring or distributing examinations for example, stealing examinations before the test period or taking a copy of an examination from a testing room without the permission of the instructor" (-3.87), and Question 1"Planning in advance and then copying from another person's paper or receiving unauthorized aid from another person during an examination" (-3.59). Table 4 also shows the percent of Completely Unacceptable responses to each of the sixteen actions.

Table 4: Rank Order of Bellets by Mean Score				
Survey Question	^Mean Score Belief	% Responding Completely Unacceptable		
Q8	-3.900	67.4		
Q7	-3.870	69.2		
Q1	-3.590	62.4		
Q3	-3.560	62.6		
Q14	-3.560	58.0		
Q12	-3.550	56.1		
Q15	-3.500	59.2		
Q5	-3.330	54.9		
Q9	-3.300	52.7		
Q4	-3.290	55.6		
Q13	-3.260	48.7		
Q2	-3.220	53.6		
Q6	-3.070	48.1		
Q16	-2.980	51.7		
Q11	-2.430	41.4		
Q10	-1.210	23.1		
^Scale ranges from -5 Complete	ly Unacceptable to 5 Completel	y Acceptable		

Table A. David Ovelaw S. C. D. P. G. L. M.

The three belief responses with the largest means - or more acceptable actions - are Question 16 "Selling or lending papers so another student can turn them in as his or her own work" (-2.98), Question 11 "Submitting the same work, or substantially similar work, in more than one course without prior consent of the evaluating instructors" (-2.43), and Question 10 "Working with another student on material to be submitted for academic evaluation when the instructor has not authorized working together" (-1.21). These findings suggest that students tend to think that premeditated direct actions, e.g., planning on submitting someone else's work, are less acceptable than spontaneous actions, or actions taken by someone else, e.g., letting someone copy their test. Question 10 can be attributed to the popular attitude of 'if we are not told explicitly not to do something, then it must be alright.'

Table 5 shows a similar ranking of responses to the *Behavior* questions in that the order goes from smallest to largest mean. For behaviors, a mean of -5 is "Would Never Consider It," while a mean of 5 is "Have Done It Often." The three questions with the smallest mean – or less likely to be considered - are Question 15 "Buying papers for the purpose of turning them in as your own work" (-3.69), Question 8 "Submitting another person's material as one's own for academic evaluation" (-3.51), and Question 7 "Improperly acquiring or distributing examinations for example, stealing examinations before the test period or taking a copy of an examination from a testing room without the permission of the instructor" (-3.49). Table 5 also shows the percent of *Would Never Consider It* responses to each of the sixteen actions.

The three behavior responses with the largest mean - more likely to be considered - are Question 2 "Not planning to, but copying from another person's paper or receiving unauthorized aid from another person during an examination" (-1.54), Question 6 "Realizing, during an exam, that another student wants to copy from your paper, and then allowing that student to copy (or not preventing the student from copying)" (-1.26), and Question 10 "Working with another student on material to be submitted for academic evaluation when the instructor has not authorized working together" (-.069).

Survey Question	[^] Mean Score Behavior	% Responding Completely Unacceptable		
Q15	-3.690	67.8		
Q8	-3.510	63.1		
Q7	-3.490	63.9		
Q12	-3.060	50.6		
Q16	-3.020	55.3		
Q9	-2.960	54.2		
Q14	-2.420	44.2		
Q11	-2.150	41.5		
Q1	-1.920	39.1		
Q13	-1.850	39.2		
Q4	-1.730	37.6		
Q3	-1.710	38.8		
Q5	-1.700	36.1		
Q2	-1.540	35.0		
Q6	-1.260	31.5		
Q10	-0.690	25.0		
^Scale ranges from -5 Would Never Consider to 5 Done It many Times				

Table 5: Rank Order of Behaviors by Mean Score

It is interesting to note that not only do similar patterns emerge in terms of premeditated direct actions being less acceptable, but that two of the three most unacceptable beliefs and behaviors are the same. However, when looking at the tables, there does not appear to be an overall pattern in terms of the ranking of beliefs and behaviors. Question 8 "Submitting another person's material as one's own for academic evaluation" generates a mean of -3.90 as belief, and a behavior mean of -3.51 (this belief-behavior gap is addressed in the final section of this analysis). Question 10 "Working with another student on material to be submitted for academic evaluation when the instructor

has not authorized working together," is the action that generates the largest mean as a belief and as a behavior (-1.21 and -.069, respectively) and is more acceptable as a behavior than as a belief.

For the next analysis, we compare the results of our survey to those of a study conducted at a PWI (Hard et al, 2006). In their study, Hard et al, (2006) asked respondents to report their own misconduct using a five point scale that ranged from 1: Never, to 5: Very Often for each of the sixteen misconduct actions. Hard et al, (2006) reported the means for each of the sixteen questions. On our survey, we use the Hard et al, (2006) actions, but ask our respondents to answer on a ten point scale that ranges from -5: Would Never Consider It to 5: Done It Many Times. The results of the comparison are shown in Table 6. In order to make this comparison, we transform the means from each study's survey questions to a standardized format. We accomplish this transformation by mapping each survey scale to a 1-10 scale.

As Table 6 displays, the standard scores from the HBCU are higher across the board than are the scores from the PWI. The three questions that generate the largest differences are Question 4 "Not planning to, but using unauthorized materials or devices during an examination or any other form of academic evaluation and grading" (2.345), Question 2 "Not planning to, but coping from another person's paper or receiving unauthorized materials or devices during an examination 3 "Planning to and then using unauthorized materials or devices during an examination" (2.210), and Question 3 "Planning to and then using unauthorized materials or devices during an examination or any other form of academic evaluation and grading: for example, using signals, notes, books, or calculators during an examination when the instructor has not approved their use" (2.190). Questions 2 and 4 speak to the same pattern of acceptance of accidental indirect actions being more acceptable on the part of students at the HBCU.

Table 6: Comparison of PWI and HBCU Students

Survey Question	Mean Score Behavior PWI^	Standard Score PWI*	Mean Score Behavior HBCU#	Standard Score HBCU*	Standard Score Difference
Q1	1.380	0.950	-1.920	3.080	2.130
Q2	1.500	1.250	-1.540	3.460	2.210
Q3	1.440	1.100	-1.710	3.290	2.190
Q4	1.370	0.925	-1.730	3.270	2.345
Q5	1.550	1.375	-1.700	3.300	1.925
Q6	1.730	1.825	-1.260	3.740	1.915
Q7	1.130	0.325	-3.490	1.510	1.185
Q8	1.170	0.425	-3.510	1.490	1.065
Q9	1.250	0.625	-2.960	2.040	1.415
Q10	2.110	2.775	-0.690	4.310	1.535
Q11	1.700	1.750	-2.150	2.850	1.100
Q12	1.520	1.300	-3.060	1.940	0.640
Q13	1.980	2.450	-1.850	3.150	0.700
Q14	1.600	1.500	-2.420	2.580	1.080
Q15	1.150	0.375	-3.690	1.310	0.935
Q16	1.250	0.625	-3.020	1.980	1.355
^1: Never, 2: Seldom, 3: Occasionally, 4: Often, 5: Very Often.					
*Scores standardized into a 10 point scale for comparison purposes.					

#-5 Would Never Consider to 5 Done It many Times

The responses generating the three smallest differences between PWI and HBCU students are Question 12 "Using unauthorized materials or fabricated data in an unacceptable exercise: for example, falsifying data in a research paper or laboratory experiment" (.640), Question 13 "Coping sentences, phrases, paragraphs, tables, figures or data directly or in slightly modified form from a book, article, or other academic source without using quotation marks or giving proper acknowledgments to the original author or source" (.700), and Question 15 "Buying papers for the purpose of turning them in as your own work" (.935)". It is evident that the same pattern holds in terms of premeditated direct actions as least acceptable. The differences are very small between the HBCU and PWI students

when it comes to these actions and indicate that students, in general, recognize the serious negative nature of these misconduct actions.

When looking at students at a HBCU in comparison to students at a PWI, it is important to keep in mind two important speculations. First, the studies occurred approximately eight years apart, and it is possible that the differences we find between institutions are, at least in part, an artifact of the times. Second, and perhaps the more interesting postulate, is that the HBCU students are more honest about their academic misconduct beliefs and behaviors. Thus, the distinct possibility exists that the culture at the institution is one of being honest about dishonesty. Future studies will answer the questions raised by these speculations if the findings show an increasing trend in the disregard for honest academic behavior, irrespective of institutional setting. It is also possible to imagine future work that measures attitudes toward honesty about dishonesty.

Our final analysis looks at the apparent disconnect between student beliefs and their behaviors. Stephens and Nicholson claim that many students experience belief-behavior incongruity specifically in the domain of academic dishonesty (2008, p. 363). This is certainly the case with the students participating in this study. Table 7 shows the means for each of the sixteen actions. Column one of the table displays the belief mean, while column two displays the behavior mean. Column three of the table shows the difference in the two means. Since both scales range from - 5 to 5 (Completely Unacceptable to Completely Acceptable, and Would Never Consider It to Have Done It Many Times, respectively), the raw scores can be compared without mapping to a standard scale. In addition, with only two exceptions, the means for beliefs are smaller than the means for behavior. Since there is a straightforward interpretation of the values, an absolute mean was not calculated. The mean difference is simply the belief mean minus the behavior mean, with larger negative values meaning there is greater incongruity between student beliefs and actions. Larger negative mean differences indicate that students believe the action more unacceptable than their likelihood to consider participating in the action. For the two actions that generate a positive value, student resistance to considering taking an action, is greater than their belief of its unacceptability.

Survey Question	Belief Mean Score	Behavior Mean Score	^Mean Difference		
Q1	-3.590	-1.920	*-1.67		
Q2	-3.220	-1.540	*-1.68		
Q3	-3.560	-1.710	*-1.85		
Q4	-3.290	-1.730	*-1.56		
Q5	-3.330	-1.700	*-1.63		
Q6	-3.070	-1.260	*-1.81		
Q7	-3.870	-3.490	-0.380		
Q8	-3.900	-3.510	-0.390		
Q9	-3.300	-2.960	-0.340		
Q10	-1.210	-0.690	-0.520		
Q11	-2.430	-2.150	-0.280		
Q12	-3.550	-3.060	-0.490		
Q13	-3.260	-1.850	*-1.41		
Q14	-3.560	-2.420	*-1.14		
Q15	-3.500	-3.690	0.190		
Q16	-2.980	-3.020	0.040		
^Questi	ons 10, 11, 15, 16 assume e	equal variance.			
*Statistically different at the .01 level.					

|--|

For eight of the sixteen actions, the belief–behavior incongruity is statistically different at the .01 level. In rank order, from largest difference to smallest, the three questions generating the largest statistically significant differences are Question 3 "Planning to and then using unauthorized materials or devices during an examination or any other form of academic evaluation and grading: for example, using signals, notes, books, or calculators during an

examination when the instructor has not approved their use" (-1.85), Question 6 "Realizing, during an exam, that another student wants to copy from your paper, and then allowing that student to copy (or not preventing the student from copying)" (-1.81), and Question 2 "Not planning to, but copying from another person's paper or receiving unauthorized aid from another person during an examination" (-1.68). Interestingly, the greatest incongruence is generated by an action that is counter to the overall pattern in these data. That is, Question 3 describes an action that is premeditated and direct, an action that students find very unacceptable, yet it is an action in which they are more likely to consider participating.

The three questions generating the smallest differences (largest to smallest), and, hence, not statistically significant are Question 12 "Using unauthorized materials or fabricated data in an unacceptable exercise: for example, falsifying data in a research paper or laboratory experiment" (-0.49), Question 15 "Buying papers for the purpose of turning them in as your own work" (0.19), and Question 16 "Selling or lending papers so another student can turn them in as his or her own work" (0.04). Each of these acts (using unauthorized material, buying, and selling) is a premeditated action. Interestingly, none of the actions rank in the top three in terms of unacceptability of belief, or behavior, however student beliefs and behaviors converge in their level of unacceptability on these three items.

DISCUSSION

These data show that student beliefs and behaviors reflect a sense of moral integrity, but also a cognitive incongruity. Although the fact that students are not repulsed by the mere thought of any type of academic misconduct is upsetting to some administrators and faculty, a realist acknowledges that there is a long history of dishonesty on college campuses. The silver lining in these data is that these students consistently rate academically dishonest actions below the level of indifference. On the scales used to measure beliefs and behaviors, a zero (0) is a moral neutral and not one of the sixteen actions is larger than -0.690 (Question 10 as a behavior) Thus, students believe the actions to be wrong, and, although they acknowledge considering taking action, it is not at an unbridled level. It is also the case that academic misconduct that requires premeditated and direct action are viewed as worse offences than actions that are unintended and indirect. This distinction is true for both their beliefs and behaviors.

A key speculation of this research is that the religiosity and strong sense of moral community of a HBCU will temper student beliefs and behaviors when it comes to academic misconduct. To test this conjecture, the self reported behaviors of HBCU students are compared to students attending a PWI. Across the board, the HBCU students reported a greater likelihood of participating in academic misconduct. Clearly, however, the mean scores indicate that, also across the board, academic dishonesty is viewed as a negative occurrence. None of the sixteen actions generate a raw mean above zero (0 – might consider it), and, in terms of standard score, the highest score generated is a 3.080. The roughly eight years between when the Hard et al, (2006) data were collected, and when the data for this research were collected, is also a confounding factor. It is possible that student beliefs and behaviors have changed during this time span, with academic dishonesty becoming more acceptable.

Perhaps the most intriguing finding from these data is that there is, indeed, a very strong incongruence between student beliefs and behaviors. Actions that students rate as unacceptable in terms of their beliefs are not rated as severely negative in terms of their behaviors. Reflecting on the "neutralizing devices" detailed by Stephens and Nicholson (2008), the premeditated and direct actions identified in the data take on a new hue. Thus, students are clearly exhibiting deflective behavior by rating academically dishonest actions as more severe when conducted by someone else.

As a final thought, the gap between student beliefs and behaviors is a curious one, and speaks to the delicate psychology of the human mind. Hutton points out "being able to get away with cheating helps students justify it. Unfortunately, cheaters are rarely caught—less than 2 percent, according to Ralph Wexler, vice president of the nonprofit Joseph and Edna Josephson Institute of Ethics" (2006, p. 171). Students can recognize misconduct, and even be appalled at the thought of it, but, as the old saying goes, 'actions speak louder than words.'

There are more questions raised by this research than answered. Future work can address the role of religion and other variables in forming student beliefs and behaviors. Furthermore, a single form survey design asking respondents to answer each of the sixteen questions for both beliefs and behaviors will provide greater depth to the data and allow for advanced analysis into the phenomenon.

CONCLUSION

This research has provided an overview and insight into beliefs and behaviors of students at a HBCU on academic misconduct. It presents the findings of a survey measuring student beliefs and behaviors concerning sixteen

academic misconduct actions. The mean scores for these sixteen behavior actions are compared to student scores collected at a PWI nearly ten years ago and suggest that most misconduct actions are viewed in a negative light, both in belief and behavior. However, upon mapping the two sets of means to a common scale, the students in this study are more lenient in their behaviors than the students of the earlier study.

The findings from this research also show that student beliefs and behaviors of acceptability vary by action, with premeditated and direct actions being less acceptable and actionable. In addition, there is a clear incongruity between what students say is morally unacceptable and their behaviors. Overall the study has contributed to the discussion of academic misconduct on the part of students by examining the role that type of institution plays in the manifestation of self reported beliefs and behaviors.

REFERENCES

Bisping, T., Patron, H., & Roskelley, K. (2008). Modeling academic dishonesty: the role of student perceptions and misconduct type. *Journal of Economic Education*, *na*, 4-21.

Bowers, W.J. (1964). Student dishonestly and its control in college. New York: Bureau of Applied Social Research, Columbia University.

<u>Bryant</u>, N. A., <u>Choi</u>, Y. J., & <u>Yasuno</u>, M. (2003). Understanding the Religious and Spiritual Dimensions of Students' Lives in the First Year of College. <u>Journal of College Student Development</u>, <u>44(6)</u>, 723-745.

Cramer, J., Etters, S., & Finn, S. (2006-2007). Origins of Academic Dishonesty: Ethical Orientations and Personality Factors Associated with Attitudes about cheating with information technology. *Journal of Research on Technology in Education*. 39(2), 133-155.

Culwin, F. (2006). An active introduction to academic misconduct and the measured demographics of misconduct. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 31(2), 167-182.

Hard, S., Conway, J. M., & Moran, A. C. (2006). Faculty and college student beliefs about the frequency of student academic misconduct. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 77(6), 1058-1080.

Hill, J. (2009). Higher education as moral community: institutional influences on religious participation during college. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, *48*(3), 515-534.

Hutton, P. A. (2006). Understanding student cheating and what educators can do about it. *College Teaching*, 54(1), 171-176.

lyer, R., & Eastman, J. K. (2006). Academic dishonesty: are business students different from other college students? *Journal of Education for Business*, 82(2), 101.

Jordan, A. (2001). College student cheating: the role of motivation, perceived norms, attitudes, and knowledge of institutional policy. *Ethics & Behavior*, *11*(3), 233-247.

Niiya, Y., Ballantyne, R., North, M., & Crocker, J. (2008). Gender, contingencies of self-worth, and achievement goals as predictors of academic cheating in a controlled laboratory setting. *Basic and Applied Social Psychology*, *30*, 76-83.

Payne, S. L. & Nantz, K. S. (1994). Social accounts and metaphors about cheating. *College Teaching*; 42*(3), p90. Full article from Academic Search Complete.

Qwunwanne, D., Rustagi, N., & Dada, R. (2010). Students' perceptions of cheating and plagiarism in higher institutions. *Journal Of College Teaching And Learning*, 7(11), 59.

Schmelkin, L., Gilbert, K., Spencer, K., Pincus, H., & Silva, R. (2008). A multidimensional scaling of college students' perceptions of academic dishonesty. *The Journal of Higher Education*, *79*(5), 587-607.

Seaman, A. M., & Serlin, C. R. (1998). Equivalence Confidence Intervals for Two-Group Comparisons of Means. *Psychological Methods*, 3(4), 403-411.

Selwyn, N. (2008). 'Not necessarily a bad thing': a study of online plagiarism amongst undergraduate students. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, *33*(5), 465-479.

Sheard, J., Markham, S., & Dick, M. (2003). Investigating differences in cheating behaviours of IT undergraduate and graduate students: the maturity and motivation factors. *Higher Education Research & Development*, 22(1), 91-

108.

Shipley, L. J. (2009). Academic and professional dishonesty: student views of cheating in the classroom and on the job. *Journalism & Mass Communication Educator*, *64*(1), 39.

Stephens, J., & Nicholson, H. (2008). Cases of incongruity: exploring the divide between adolescents' beliefs and behavior related to academic dishonesty. *Educational Studies*, *34*(4), 361-376.

Stone, T. H., Jawahar, I., & Kisamore, J. L. (2009). Using the theory of planned behavior and cheating justifications to predict academic misconduct. *Career Development International*, *14*(3), 221-241.

Whitley, Bernard E. (1998). Factors associated with cheating among college students: A Review.

Research in Higher Education, 39(3), 235-274.

Wilkinson, J. (2009). Staff and student perceptions of plagiarism and cheating. *International Journal of Teaching and Learning in Higher Education*, 20(2), 98-105.

Tas, Y., & Tekkaya, C. (2010). Personal and contextual factors associated with students' cheating in science. *The Journal of Experimental Education*. 78, 440–463.

Zimny, S., Robertson, D., & Bartoszek, T. (2008). Academic and personal dishonesty in college students. *North American journal of psychology*, *10*(2), 291-312.

Anxiety as Predictor of Aspiration among Academic Achievers Syeda Farhana Kazmi [1]

[1] Dr, Head, Department of Psychology Hazara University, Mansehra, Khyber Pukhtoonkhwa, Pakistan

ABSTRACT

The present research aimed at to measure the relationship between anxiety and aspiration among academic achievers. A purposive convenient sample consisted of 200 students with average age 15 years of both gender; 100 female students (high academic achievers =50, low achievers = 50) and 100 male students (high academic achievers = 50, low academic achievers= 50)were taken from Higher secondary schools of Abbottabad. Taylor manifest anxiety scale (Taylor & Spence, 1953) along with Study-Habit Scale(Ansari, 1983) were administered on the sample. Analysis of results revealed that the pattern of achievement of a student depends on his/her aspiration level and anxiety has association with level of aspiration in students. Study further highlighted that achievers tend to have considerably higher achievement scores have higher aspiration as the result of perceived high anxiety. Students with low achievement scores have lower aspiration as the result of perceived high anxiety. Least-square line of Regression with achievement status as the outcome of aspiration and anxiety as the predictor variable indicated good model of fit showed that results indicate there was positive significant relationship between students' high level of academic achievement and anxiety. The study filled some identified gapes in literature and tries to stress the need for more research on this topic.

Keywords: Anxiety, Aspiration, low achievers and high achievers

INTRODUCTION

Examination stress and test anxiety are pervasive problems in modern society. Every year, millions of students underperform in school and university because of heightened test anxiety, which is set of phenomenological, physiological and behavioral responses that accompany concern about possible negative consequences or failure on an exam or similar evaluative situation (Zeidner, 1998).

Many psychologists are often interested in knowing the factors that cause individual differences in academic performance individually. Anxiety as the achievement of effort is now seen as possible factor that affects a person's academic ability. It varies markedly from one individual to another. Thus, some individuals will be relatively calm when it comes to completing a test, whilst others will generally perceive examinations as more dangerous or threatening and experience more intense levels of state anxiety when taking tests (Spielberger & Vagg, 1995).

Aspiration of the students is a term used frequently in education. Early research helped us understand the aspirations, as an expression of the will to achieve and improve. Aspirations can be defined as the student's ability to identify and set goals for the future, while breathing in the present to work toward those goals (Quaglia and Cobb, 1996). This view the aspirations of students is the only one that combines the components of this motivation (inspiration) in the future (ambitions).

There is considerable research on the association of the results and academic motivation (cited in Hornery,

Craven, Yeung, & Ali, 2008) for high school students, two important academic results are as follows: aspirations of high grades and the desire for further education, these aspirations are an additional engine that could affect student motivation and academic achievement. According to McInerney, Yeung, and McInerney (2001) a sense of purpose of learning is an important psychological construct that provides two aspects of the effort, namely anxiety and motivation. There is the traditional Chinese students and their parents believe in the traditional thinking of strong associations with the aspirations of work and effort (Tsang, 1992). An aspiration level can be interpreted as a result, it takes a special position in the decision process. Topic of code in the claim level results as the successes and results below the level of aspiration as a failure. It values the overall probability of success and the total probability of failure(Diecidue and Van de Ven, 2008).

Achievement aspiration is believed to be one of the driving forces for the development of a concept or idea and yours is like a virus to spiritual people to be competitive, work hard and causes more resistance. Educational aspirations relating to the early presentation of their own academic abilities and the highest level of education of individuals expected to achieve (Furlong & Cartmel, 2005).

Educational aspirations were developed early in a student's academic career and are generally theorized to influence academic achievement is improving the ability to participate in educational opportunities. Students who have high academic aspirations are more likely to take advantage of educational opportunities that can lead to academic success. Also, students with low academic aspirations are less likely to take advantage of these opportunities, thus limiting their future educational opportunities (Arbona, 2000).

Achievement is definitely as a result of emotional conflict between striving for success and avoiding failure (Covington, 2004; Heafner, 2004). If a student does not feel afraid he will not be able to do work harder to achieve the goal (Seligman, 2002). As aspiration for success has been the focus of a large amount of research in studies of personality, has a way to measure work motivation has become a source for researchers to explore their representation in the population (Pigatt, 2009).

The most common technique for high academic achievement is the skills of time management, homework, get help when needed and build a relationship with the teachers, and reading. Time management involves organizing school supplies, self-efficacy, control beliefs, anxiety and aspirations and beliefs that maintain the behavior towards a particular goal (as cited in Creasey, Jarvis & Knapcik, 2009).

Why an individual completes a task, the value component of motivation focuses on the reasons why students become involved (or not involved) in an instructional activity (Pintrich & DeGroot, 1990). It defines students' beliefs about the importance or value of a task and why students approach or avoid a task (Brophy, 1983). Self-worth theory rests upon the perception that students are motivated to establish, maintain, and promote a positive self-image (Covington, 2000).

Stipek (1997) found that there is a personality dimension that is directly associated with greater success in education, to feel the need for individual achievement. And one of the perennial or in other words, continuous education problem a lack of motivation. The only needs that will be relevant here will be those that the absence of the condition is also motivated by the situation.

Although many studies have been conducted, one conclusive research work is a meta-analysis study conducted by Covington, Omelich, and Schwarzer (1986) results support the anxiety resulting from the disruptive effects of perceptions of reduced capacity, instead of the disturbing influence of diffuse emotional arousal.

Hernandez (1994) examined the best predictors of academic success was the ability to self-concept and educational aspirations. High performance grew in self-concept of ability and learning aspirations in relation to literacy skills. Brown, Robinson, and Kurpius (1997) results suggest that the academic preparation and aspirations, academic performance and interaction with the best difference between faculty and staff students who persisted in school and those who do not.

Mousavi, Haghshenas, and Alishahi (2008) identified the causes of poor school performance included poor grades or down as a result of a yield spread ability, the early repetition lacks school, disinterest in learning, low self-esteem, anxiety, failure to complete school or at home, disruptive behavior and school dropouts.

Bendura, Barbaranelli, Caprara, and Pastorelli (1996) analyzed the children's belief in their efficacy to regulate their own learning and learning outcomes in turn contributed to student success both independently and through the promotion of high educational aspirations and prosocial behavior and reducing vulnerability to feelings of depression.

Heafner and McCoy (2001) study found that feelings of effectiveness and therefore motivation to switch tasks is maximized not only by the amount of success, but manages the difficult tasks optimally. In other words,

motivation depend on the best fit between difficulty and skill. It was also found that high self-perceived academic competence was positively correlated with GPA (weighted average, a measure of performance).

Although external motivation was negative predictive of academic success for young Indian immigrants in Canada. There was no significant predictor of academic success of Indian youth in India (Areepattamannil, Freeman, & Klinger, 2011).

Differences in the anxiety level of education were also related to differences in study habits, and these in turn linked to the GPA. Results recommend the use of specific scales, rather than general anxiety as predictors of academic performance and involve learning habits as a process of mediation can (Otello & Patricia, 1969).

Culler and Holahan (1980) studied quality of study habits and how much study time positively related to academic performance, while the missing classes and delay test was inversely related to performance. The results are discussed in terms of dominant interference model of test anxiety. McKeachie, Karabenick, Wilbert, and Lin (1998) found the exact relationship between test anxiety and self-regulation in students' motivation and use of learning strategies.

Yeunga and McInerney (2005) studied Grade 7 students were significantly higher in the direction of effort and work and career aspirations that from 9 to graders, and higher scores in praise orientation than11th students. The apparent decreased motivation may from Grade 7, especially in the direction of work and effort, both related to a mastery orientation dimension that was supposed to be a major driving force for excellence, requiring immediate attention students' motivation in college classes in the secondary.

Objective

To investigate the relationship between anxiety and aspiration among Pakistani students.

Hypotheses

- 1. There will be positive correlation between anxiety and aspiration among high achiever students.
- 2. There will be negative correlation between anxiety and aspiration among low achiever students.
- 3. There will be likelihood that students tend to have considerably higher achievement scores have higher aspiration as the result of perceived high anxiety.
- 4. There will be likelihood that students tend to have considerably lower achievement scores have lower aspiration as the result of perceived high anxiety.

Operational Definition of the Variables

The study has following variables:

Anxiety

In the present research anxiety is operationally defined as the score on anxiety scale (Taylor & Spence, 1953).

Aspiration

Aspiration is an expression of the desire to achieve and improve. It's a level of motivation that overcomes task complexity with perpetual efforts and push one's to work toward those goals. Aspiration is operationally defined as scores obtained on study Habit and attitude scale(Ansari, 1983).

Academic Achievement

Academic achievement is operationally defined as scores obtained by the students in 10th Grade of Higher Secondary School Examination conducted by Federal board.

High achievers

High achievers are those students receiving "A" grade in 10th class of Secondary School Examination conducted by Federal board. They generally stand in top ten positions in the school and having high aspiration for becoming highly successful.

Low achievers

Low achievers are those students who obtaining "C" grade in 10th class of Secondary School Examination conducted by Federal board. They generally remain in lower ten positions in the school and having low aspiration for goal achievement with respect to academic accomplishment.

METHODOLOGY

Research Design

Crossectional survey design was employed in this study

Sampling Technique

Purposive convenient sampling technique was used.

Sample

Participants for the study were selected in 2011, 11th grade classes from Higher secondary schools in Abbottabad and Havellian were included in the investigation comprising a sample of N = 200 students. At the time of the measurement occasion (June 2011), students were on average 15 years old with both gender, 100 female students (high academic achievers with Grade A = 50, low academic achievers with Grade C = 50) and 100 male students (high academic achievers with Grade A = 50, low academic achievers with Grade C = 50). The list of high achievers and low achievers was got from the clerical staff of principal of the respective schools.

Research Tools

- 1. Taylor manifest anxiety scale: This scale contains 50 items and response category is dichotomous consisting of true and false. Code of 1 is assigned to true and 2 is assigned to false. Higher scores indicate high level of anxiety.
- 2. Study-Habit Scale: Another instrument was" Study-Habit Scale" developed by Ansari (1983) for measuring the student's aspiration level such as completion of school assignments, understanding of academic concepts and frustration caused by mismanagement of time during the academic session. Questions were posed in different ways to conclude the techniques of high academic achievement. The most common technique for high academic achievement is the skills of time management, homework, get help when needed and build a relationship with the teachers and reading. Time management involves organizing school supplies, making to do lists, prioritizing and planning. There are 31 items with five response options. Five response categories of points used for each statement, such as 5 = strongly agree, agree = 4, uncertain = 3, disagree = 2, disagree = 1 for positive valence part while the negative valence items were counted in the reverse order. Results showed satisfactory reliability that is .747 and .836 for the both scales respectively.

Procedure: Intention is to check the anxiety and aspiration level of the students. Taylor manifest anxiety scale and Study-Habit Scale was used to collect data. For data collection respondents were personally approached by the researcher and questionnaire were distributed individually in face to face fashion. Clear instructions were prepared for the respondents. They were requested to go through the general instructions first and then to respond. The respondents were asked to decide about agreement with the statements and mark the relevant response category honestly. The questionnaire was distributed randomly to the subjects with request to complete and return it. The cooperation from institution teachers was remarkable.

RESULTS

For the purpose of analyzing the result through statistical procedure it was subjected to various kind of analysis. Results of data analysis are in the forms of tables given below.

Table 1	1 Relationship between	Anxiety	and Aspiration	of high gr	ade students	(N=100)
						• •

	Anxiety	Aspiration
High Achievers	0.550	0.250

***P<0.001; **P<0.006

Above table indicates that there is positive significant relationship between students high level of academic achievement and anxiety (r = 0.550, P< 0.001). Students with high achievements also showed significant positive correlation between their academic achievement and motivation at

10th school level (r = 0.250, P < 0.006) and presently studying at 11th level in Higher secondary school.

Table 2 Relationsh	ip between As	spiration and	Anxiety of low	grade students	(N =100)
--------------------	---------------	---------------	----------------	----------------	----------

	Anxiety	Aspiration
Low Achievers	0.762	176

***P < 0.001, *P < 0.04

Above table indicates that there was positive significant relationship between students low level of academic achievement and anxiety (r = 0.762, P< .001). Students with low level of academic achievement (academic grade) showed negative significant correlation between their achievement and motivation level (r = -0.176, P < 0.04) in (10th grade) and presently studying at 11^{th} level in Higher secondary school.

Table 3 Regression Anal	lysis Anxiety as Predictor of	Aspiration among Hi	gh Achievers (N=100)

Predictors	В	Т	Р
Anxiety	0.25	2.82	.05
$F = 12.45$, *P < 0.05, $R^2 = 0.20$, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.19$			

Above table revealed that Regression measures anxiety is predictor of aspiration among the students who obtained grade "A" in (10th grade) and presently studying at 11^{th} level in Higher secondary school. Findings also include the β , t, and p values of the test and significance level is also shown in table. This is satisfactory.

Table 4 Regression Analysis Anxiety as Predictor of Aspiration among Low Achievers (N=100)

Predictors	В	Т	Р
Anxiety	-0.267	-2.744	0.007
	\mathbf{D}^2	0.0.42	

F =7.53 , **P < .007 $\,$, $\,R^2$ = 0.071 $\,$, Adjusted R^2 = 0.062 $\,$

Above table revealed that anxiety is not the significant predictor of aspiration / motivation among low achiever (students who obtained "C" grade in 10th). Table also showed that students' aspiration /motivation decreased as their level of anxiety increased. Regression Analysis Anxiety as a Predictor of Motivation among high Achievers Findings also include the β , t, and p values of the test and it indicates that anxiety is not significant predictor of motivation among high academic achievers

DISCUSSION

This study was conducted to investigate anxiety and aspiration among the students in schools with high and low achievement, although the relationship between anxiety and motivation was based on academic achievement were also examined. The results reveal that students made significant efforts who have obtained A grade in Matric showed a significant positive correlation between their performance and aspiration/motivation in relation to their academic success in school (r = 0.250, P <0.006) (see Table 1). This finding is also similar to Schunk (1991) suggest that the achievement was related to more comprehensive general motivation and ambition. In connection with this study, previous researchers (e.g., Anis-ul-Haque, 1998 ; Sideridis, 1998) stressed the usefulness of self-efficacy in predicting the outcome of motivation that played a major role in student success.

The aspiration of students is believed to have a significant influence on learning outcomes. Previous researchers (e.g., Jayanti, 2008; Urhahne, Chao, Florineth, Luttenberger & Paechter, 2011) also confirms that educational aspirations may be an important factor in predicting academic success. There is considerable research on the association of the results and academic motivation (McInerney, Roche, McInerney, & Marsh, 1997; Schunk, 1991; Yeung and McInerney, 2005; Hornery, Craven, Yeung, & Ali, 2008) for high school students these aspirations are an additional engine that could affect student motivation and academic achievement.

The results of recent research shows that there was positive significant correlation between the level of student achievement and anxiety (r = 0.550, P < 0.001) Table 1. Yousafi, Abu Talib, Mansor, Juhari (2010) also confirmed the same relationship between test anxiety and academic performance among adolescents in Iran respondents from more than 400 students (200 boys and 200 girls), the result shows that there is a significant correlation between test anxiety and academic performance.

In the second analysis the results showed that there is a negative relationship between educational achievement and motivation(r = -0.176, P < 0.04) with high level of anxiety(r = 0.762, P <0.001) among the students who have obtained C grade in Matric(Table 2). Some past studies have more or less obtained the same findings. Mohsen and Mansoor (2009) examines the significant negative correlation between test anxiety and academic performance, after a study of 110 students from the University of Isfahan. The results with regard to educational achievement are also in line with those obtained from other studies (e.g., Mousavi, Haghshenas, & Alishahi, 2008) all have reached the conclusion that educational achievement and test anxiety level have a reverse ratio. It means that as test anxiety level increases, educational achievement decreases and vice-versa. Present results are consistent with studies of Jayanti (2008) concluded that educational aspirations may be an important factor in predicting academic success. The educational aspirations of indigenous lower freshmen are minority contributes significantly to the problem leads to lower academic performance. This finding is also similar to Eskeles, Fleming and Gottfried (2001) which was examined in a longitudinal study of elementary through high school years found a combination of these two aspects of continuity points of motivation of these was in the beginning of their schooling at special risk.

Results indicate that there was positive significant correlation between the low academic achievement and anxiety(r = 0.762, P < 0.001). The current conclusion is supported by Elliot and McGregor (1999) also found that test anxiety were documented as a mediator of the negative relationship between performance avoidance goals and exam performance. Covington, Omelich & Schwarzer (2005) suggested that anxiety is not a uniform response to perceived threat, but rather a number of interacting factors, whose relationship with the individual performances alter the development of a test event to the next. The results support anxiety resulting from the understanding that the interfering effects of reduced ability of perceptions, rather than the influence of emotional arousal embarrassing transmissions.

In the third analysis to test hypothesis 3 regression analysis was performed on the students' aspiration for academic achievement in order to evaluate whether the level of anxiety predicts aspiration/motivation that would result in high grade. It was assumed that there will be likelihood that students tend to have considerably higher achievement scores have higher aspiration as the result of perceived high anxiety. Table 3 (F = 12.45, P < 0.05, R^2 = 0.20, Adjusted R^2 = 0.19) showed that anxiety is a predictor of aspiration among high achievers (students with "A" Grade at 10th class). Previously, researchers are investigating the academic success has been the best predictors of educational aspirations in relation to effective and sustained (e.g., Hernandez, 1994; Brown, Robinson, & Kurpius, 1997).This result is supported by Hodapp (1989), who has done research on a group of 91 (grade 7) students and 134 (corresponding to graduate students), students in elementary school. The results support the concept of anxiety performance relationship as an interdependent system. Piedmont (1988) study indicates that the positive effects of achievement motivation was constant regardless of the situational manipulations. But sometimes situations facilitated performance in additive ways a concern had a differential effect on performance depends on levels of achievement motivation. Vesta (1961)also confirmed that educational aspirations of students may affect what they learn in school and their eventual success in academic. Aspiration is assumed to have both energizing and directive effects on performance often may be attributed to learning.

To test the hypothesis 4 regression analysis was performed on the students' aspiration for academic achievement in order to evaluate whether the level of anxiety predicts low aspiration/motivation that would result in low grade. It was assumed that there will be a risk that students tend to have scores of success is dramatically lower than the result of anxiety is considered high. Table 6(F = 7.53, P < .007, $R^2 = 0.071$, Adjusted $R^2 = 0.062$) showed that anxiety is a insignificant predictor of aspiration among low achievers of high school students who received grade "C" in 10th class. The current conclusion is similar to the finding of Cochinwala and Ismail (1986) studied the curvilinear relationship between anxiety and academic achievement of 300 Pakistani youths (male and female). In the same context, Vogel and Collins (1989) believe that students suffering from test anxiety of high and low test anxiety will lower academic performance. In the same context, Marjoribanks' (1988) results support the concept of anxiety performance relationship as an interdependent system. Therefore, these students with moderate levels of test anxiety perform better. Bouffard, Vezeau and Bordeleau (1998) suggest that the greater insight and increased motivation can also be created following the acquisition of a differentiated perception of the ability of early adolescence.

To test the hypothesis 5 regression analysis was conducted on the academic achievement of students in order to evaluate the effect of aspiration on academic performance. Table 5 (F = 7.53, P <0.012, R2 = 0.062, adjusted R2 = 0.053) reveled that motivation /aspiration is an important predictor of high performance among students who have received (A) Grade (Class 10).

The study is supported by Campbell (2007) who also believed in the theory of motivation system that is a valid indicator of performance. Dweck and Carol (2009) also found that motivational processes affect the formation of a child, transfer and use of knowledge and skills. Nichols, Kotchick, Barry, and Haskins (2009) results showed that the average American male African use of community resources was significantly related to their positive and educational

aspiration. Eccles (2004) also agreed that high self-perceived academic competence was positively correlated with GPA (weighted average, a measure of performance). Piedmont (1988) results showed that the positive effects of achievement motivation was constant regardless of the situational manipulations. But sometimes situations facilitated performance in an additive manner. Anxiety had a differential effect on performance depends on levels of achievement motivation. Although Kurita and Zarbatany (1991) agree that motivation is decreased, in their teens, their results suggest that the decline in motivation occurs only up to grade 9. Empirical data support the hypothesis that negative effects of performance approach orientation may be due to the presence of avoidance motivation. Sideridis (1998) suggest that dichotomizing performance goal orientation is involved in a good understanding of the processes associated with motivation to succeed, and depression. On the other hand low achievement of the students is seen as a personality trait that distinguished students based on their tendency or taking things work well and compete against a standard of excellence (Vigfield & Eccles, 2002).

Urhahne, Chao, Florineth, Luttenberger, and Paechter (2011) realised that students were satisfied with the low achievement and assumed that students have learning motivation below their overrated classmates.

CONCLUSION

Present study was conducted on school students studying at secondary level from science and arts group in different schools of Abbottabad. Anxiety emerged as a significant predictor of motivation/aspiration in high achievers and insignificant predictor in low achievers. The students who had been overloaded anxiety engaged in healthy habits and resultantly greater motivation for studies that brought high scores among the high achievers and vice versa with low achievers. In high academic achievers factor of aspiration was also studied as the skills, strategies and habits of high academic achievement that contributes to the maintenance of "A" grade at Matriculation level.

On the other hand, regression analysis also assured that high level of anxiety reduces students' educational aspiration such as time mismanagement, incomplete homework, least bother to get help when needed and build a relationship with the teachers and planning for reading. Such study habits accumulate some level of anxiety or stress regarding upcoming exams, papers or presentations and this examination anxiety generally causes decrements in academic performance.

The results support the concept of anxiety and academic performance relationship as an interdependent system. Study indicates that the positive effects of achievement motivation was constant regardless of the situational manipulations. But sometimes situations facilitated performance in additive ways a concern had a differential effect on performance depends on levels of achievement motivation. Result also confirmed that educational aspirations of students may affect what they learn in school and their eventual success in academic. Motivation is assumed to have both energizing and directive effects on academic performance often may be attributed to anxiety.

Limitations & Suggestions

The major limitation of the study is age range of the participants as all the data was drawn from higher secondary school and college students. Secondly, data was only collected from educated boys and girls. The results of the study could be more generalized by taking a broad based sample of earlier age range from school because the onset of social anxiety takes place in early adolescence.

Implications

The theoretical implication of this study rests in its contribution to two areas of psychology i.e., Education and Developmental psychology. And practical implication of this study seems to that it points out that aspiration significantly affects the achievement level of adolescents. This study can be helpful for children, parents and teachers to know that so anxiety is also hurdle in their academic achievements and success in life, so they must make effort to overcome it.

REFERENCES

Alpert, R., Haber, R. N. (1960). Anxiety in academic achievement situations. *The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology*, 61(2), 207-215. doi:10.1037/h0045464

Anis-ul-Haque, M., Khan, S. (1998). Age effect on academic, self-concept of high school children. *Pakistan Journal of Psychological Research*, 13(1-2), 35-42.

Ansari, Z.A. (1983). Study habits and attitude of students. Technical Report. National Institute of Psychology, Quaide-i-Azam University, Islamabad.

Arbona,C.(2000).Practice and Research in Career Counseling and Development. *The Career Development Quarterly*, 49(2), 98-134. dOI: 10.1002/j.2161-0045.2000.tb00554.x

Areepattamannil, S., Freeman, J. G., & Klinger, D. A. (2011). Influence of motivation, self-beliefs, and instructional practices on science achievement of adolescents in Canada. Social Psychology of Education, 14, 233-259. doi:10.1007/s11218-010-9144-9

Bendura, A., Barbaranelli, C., Caprara, G.V. & Pastorelli, C. (1996). Multifaceted impact of selfefficacy beliefs on academic functioning. *Journal of Child Development*, 67(3), 1206-1222. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8624.1996.tb01791

Bouffard, T., Marcoux, M., Vezeau, C., & Bordeleau, L. (2003). Changes in self-perceptions of competence and intrinsic motivation among elementary school-children. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 73, 171-186. Retrieved from http://motordevelopment.tamu.edu/paper/is%20perceived%20motor%20competence%20a%20constraint%2 0in%20children's%20action%20planning.pdf

Bouffard, T., Vezeau, C., & Bordeleau, L. (1998). A development study of the relation between combined learning and performance goals and students' self-regulated learning. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, *68*, 309-318. Retrieved from www.aare.edu.au/05pap/bar05385.pdf

Campbell, M. M. (2007). Motivational systems theory and the academic performance of college students. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning*, *4*(7). Retrieved from http://www.cluteinstitute-onlinejournals.com/PDFs/353.pdf

Covington, M. (2004). Self worth goes to college: Or do our motivation theories motivate. In D.M. McInerney & S. Van Etten (Eds.). *Research on sociocultural influences on motivation andlearning Big theories revisited* (pp. 91-114). Greenwich, CT: Information Age Press.

Covington, M. V. (2000). Goal theory, motivation, and school achievement: An integrative review. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *51*(1), 171-190. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.51.1.171

Covington, M.V., Omelich, C.L., & Schwarzer, R. (1986). Anxiety, aspirations, and self-concept in the achievement process: A longitudinal model with latent variables. Journal of Motivation and Emotion, 10(1), 71-88. doi;10.1007/BF00992151

Creasey, G., Jarvis, P., Knapcik, E.(2009). *International Journal for the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, *3*(2). Retrieved from http://www.georgiasouthern.edu/ijsotl

Culler, R. E., & Holahan, C.J. (1980). Test anxiety and academic performance: The effects of study-related behaviors. Journal of Educational Psychology, 72(1), 16-20. doi: <u>10.1037/0022-0663.72.1.16</u>

Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (1985). *Intrinsic motivation and self-determination in human behavior*. New York: Plenum.

Diecidue, E., & Van de Ven, J.(2008). Aspiration level, probability of success and failure, and expected utility. International Economic Review, 49, 683-700. doi:10.2139/ssrn.932019

Dweck, C.S. (2009). On learning to become a member of one's culture. In M. Tomasello, C. S. Dweck, J. Silk, B. Skryms, & E.S. Spelke, Why We Cooperate. Boston, MA.: Boston Review. https://www.stanford.edu/dept/psychology/cgi-bin/drupalm/system/files/CV_1.pdf

Eccles, J. (2004). Schools, academic motivation, and stage-environment fit. In R. Lerner &L. Steinberg (Eds.), Handbook of adolescent psychology (2ndEdition) (pp. 125-153). NewYork: Wiley.

Furlong, A., & Cartmel, F. (2005). *Graduates from Disadvantaged Families: Early Labour Market Experiences*, Policy Press, Bristol.

Heafner, T. (2004). Using technology to motivate students to learn social studies. Contemporary Issues in Technology and Teacher Education [Online serial], 4(1). Retrieved from http://www.citejournal.org/vol4/iss1/socialstudies/article1.cfm

Heafner, T. L., & McCoy, L. P. (2001). Technology and the academic and social culture of a university campus. In J. Price, D. Willis, N. Davis, & J. Willis (Eds.), *Proceedings of the Society for Information Technology in Teacher Education 01*. Charlottesville, VA: Association for the Advancement of Computing in Education.

Hernedezs, A. (1994). Interpersonal relationship motivation engagement and achievement: yields for theory, current issues and educational practice. *Review of Education*, 79(1), 327-365. doi:10.3102/0034654308325583

Hornery, S., Craven, R.G., Yeung, A.S., & Ali, J. (2008). A New Multi-Dimensional Domain-Specific Motivation Questionnaire: Measurement of Young Children's Multi-faceted Reading Motivation. Paper presented at the Australian Association for Research in Education conference, Brisbane.

Ismail, Z., & Cochinwala, S. (1986). A study of the relationship of manifest anxiety with school achievement of 10th grade students. *Pakistan Journal of Psychology*, 17(1-2), 33-43. P-ISSN:0030-9869

Jayanti, O. (2008). The role of academic aspiration in shaping college academic performance (Paper presented at the annual meeting of American Sociological Association). Retrieved from http://www.allacademic.com/meta/p241569http://www.allacademic.com/meta/p241569.

Jing, H. (2007). Analysis on the Relationship among Test Anxiety, Self-concept and Academic Competency., 5(1), 48. Retrieved from http://www.linguist.org.cn/doc/uc200701/uc20070111.pdf

Kukla, A. (1974). Performance as a function of resultant achievement motivation (perceived ability) and perceived difficulty *Journal of Research in Personality*, 7(4), 374-383. doi:10.1016/0092-6566(74)90059

Kurita, J. A., & Zarbatany, L. (1991). Teachers' acceptance of strategies for increasing students' achievement motivation. *Contemporary Educational Psychology*, *16*, 241-253. Retrieved from www.sustainengagement.com/storage/documents/1998 Reeve CEP.

Marjoribanks, K. (1988). Ability and attitude correlates of aspirations: Personality-group differences. *Journal of Experimental Education*, 56. doi:10.1080/00223980209604157

McInerney, D. M., Roche, L. A., McInerney, V., & Marsh, H. W. (1997). Cultural perspectives on school motivation: The relevance and application of goal theory. *American Educational Research Journal*, *34*, 207-236. Retrieved from ink.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs12187-011-9117-3

McInerney, D. M., Yeung, A. S., & McInerney, V. (2001). Cross-cultural validation of the Inventory of School Motivation (ISM): Motivation orientations of Navajo and Anglo students. *Journal of Applied Measurement*, *2*, 135-153. Retrieved from <u>www.self.ox.ac.uk/Conferences/2006/Ali</u> 2.pdf.

<u>McKeachie, H. Wilbert, J. Karabenick, S. A. Guang</u>, YL.(1998). *The relationship between test anxiety* and *self-regulation on students' motivation and learning*. Retrieved from http://www.google.com.pk/#hl=en&source=hp&q=Bembenutty%2CHefer+%2Cs+the+relationship+between+ test+anxiety+andself+regulation+on+students+motivation+and+learning+find+doi&aq=o&aqi=&aql=&oq=&g s_rfai=&fp=9ea39ed30b15e7c5

Miller, R.B. & Brickman, S.J. (2004). A Model of Future-Orientated Motivation and Self-Regulation. Educational Psychology Review, 16(1), 9-33. Retrieved from ournals.ohiolink.edu/ejc/search.cgi?q=id:00220663/.../629...

Mohsen, R., & Mansoor, T. (2009). Investigating the relationship among test anxiety, gender, academic achievement and years of study: A case of Iranian EFL university students. English Language Teaching, 2(4). Retrieved from http://www.ccsenet.org/journal/index.php/elt/article/view/4449

Mousavi, M., Haghshenas, H., & Alishahi, M.J. (2008). Effect of gender, school performance and school type on test anxiety among Iranian adolescents. *Iranian Red Crescent Medical Journal*, 10, January, 4-7.

Nichols, T.M., Kotchick, B.A., Barry, C.M., & Haskins, D.G. (2009). Understanding the educational aspiration of African Americans adolescents: child, family and community factors. *Journal of Black Psychology*, 36(1), 25-48. doi:10.1177/0095798409344084

Otello, D., & Patricia, K. (1969). Anxiety, study habits, and academic achievement. *Journal of Counseling Psychology*, 16(2, Pt.1), 162-165. doi:10.1037/h0027213

Piedmont, R. (1988). The relationship between motivation, anxiety and situational characteristics on performance on a cognitive task. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 22(2), 177-187. doi:10.1016/0092-6566(88)90013

Pigatt, M. (2009). Analysis of high-academic achieving African American males. Focusing on success. Retrieved from http://www.sociology.emory.edu/SEUSS/archive/documents/FirstPlace2009.pdf

Pintrich, P. (2003). A motivational science perspective on the role of student motivation in learning and teaching contexts. Journal of Educational Psychology, 95, 667-686. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.95.4.667. doi: 10.1037/0022-0663.95.4.667

Pintrich, P. R., & DeGroot, E. V. (1990). Motivational and self-regulated learning components of classroom academic performance, *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *82*,33-40.

Pintrich, P. R., Marx, R. W., & Boyle, R. (1993). Beyond "cold" conceptual change: The role of motivational beliefs and classroom contextual factors in the process of conceptual change. *Review of Educational Research*, *63*, 167-199.

Pintrich, P.R., & Roeser, R.W. (1994). Classroom and individual differences in early predictive validity of the motivated strategies for learning questionnaire (MSLQ). Educational and Psychological Measurement, 53(2), 801-813. Retrieved from etd.lib.metu.edu.tr/upload/12614232/index.pdf

Quaglia, R. J., Cobb, C.D. (1996). Toward a Theory of Student Aspirations. *Journal of Research in Rural Education*, 12 (3)127-132. Retrieved from php.scripts.psu.edu/dept/jrre/articles/v12,n3,p127-132,Quaglia.pdf

Ryan, R. M., Stiller, J., & Lynch, J. H. (1994). Representations of relationships to teachers, parents, and friends as predictors of academic motivation and self-esteem. Journal of Early Adolescence, 14, 226-249. Retrieved from

http://www.eric.ed.gov/ERICWebPortal/search/detailmini.jsp?_nfpb=true&_&ERICExtSearch_SearchValue _0=EJ493539&ERICExtSearch_SearchType_0=no&accno=EJ493539

Schunk, D. H. (1991). Self-efficacy and academic motivation. *Educational Psychologist*, *26*(3/4), 207-232. Retrieved from http://libres.uncg.edu/ir/uncg/f/d_schunk_self_1991.pdf

Seligman, M. E. P. (2002). Authentic Happiness: Using the New Positive Psychology to Realize Your Potential for Lasting Fulfillment. New York: Free Press. <u>ISBN 0-7432-2297-0</u>(Paperback edition, Free Press, 2004, <u>ISBN 0-7432-2298-9</u>)

Sharma & Rao (1984). Test anxiety research in India: Twentieth century Retrospect. Psychology and Developing Societies, 13, 151-169. doi:10.1177/097133360101300103

Sideridis, G. D. (1998). Goal orientation, Academic achievement, and Depression evidence in Favor of Revised goal theory frame work. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 93(3), 366-375. doi:10.1037/0022-0663-97-3-366

Smith, T.W., Snyder, C.R., & Handelsman, M.M. (1982). On the self-serving function of an academic wooden leg: Test anxiety as a self handicapping strategy. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 42(2) 314-321. PMID: 7057356

Spielberger, C. D., & Vagg, P. R. (1995). Test anxiety: A transactional process. In C. D. Spielberger & P. Vagg (Eds.), *Test anxiety: theory, assessment, and treatment* (pp. 3-14). Washington, DC: Taylor & Francis.

Stipek, D. J. (1997). Motivation and instruction. In David C. Berliner & Rober C. Calfee (Eds.), *Handbook of Educational Psychology* (pp. 85-113). New York: MacMillan.

Taylor, J. A., & Spence, K. W. (1954). Conditioning level in the behavior disorders. The Journal of Abnormal and Social Psychology, 49(4), 497-502. doi: 10.1037/h0055951

Tsang, W. K. (1992). *The class structure in Hong Kong.* Hong Kong: Hong Kong Institute of Asia-Pacific Studies, Chinese University of Hong Kong.

Urhahne, D., Chao, S.H., Florineth, M.L., Luttenberger, S., & Paechter, M. (2011). Academic self-concept, learning ,motivation and test anxiety of the underestimated students. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 81(1), 161-177. doi;1348/000709910x504500

Vesta, F. J. D. (1961). Meaningful learning, personality, interpersonal, and social variables. *American Educational Research Association*, 31(5), 511-521. doi:10.3102\00346543031005511

Vogel, H. L., Collins, A. L. (1989). The relationship between test anxiety and academic performance. Retrieved from http://clearinghouse.missourwestern.edu/manuscripts/333.php

Yeunga, A. S., & McInerney, D.M. (2005). Educational Psychology. An International Journal of Experimental Educational Psychology, 25(5), 537-554. doi:10.1080/01443410500046804

Yousefi, F., Abutalib, M., Mansoor, M.B., & Juhari, R.B. (2010). Relationship between test anxiety and academic achievement among Iranian adolescents *.Journal of Asian Social Science*. Retrieved from http://www.ccsentet.org/journal/index.php/ass/article/view/5979

Zeidner, M. (1998). Test anxiety: The state of the art. New York: Plenum.

Zimmerman, B.J. (1990). Self-regulated learning and academic achievement. An Overview <u>Educational Psychology</u>, 25(1), 3-17. doi: 10.1207/s15326985ep2501

College Readiness and Black Student Performance: Disaffirmed Equity

Carolyn M. Davis[1], John R. Slate [2], George W. Moore [3], Wally Barnes[4]

[1] Houston Community College

[2], [3], [4] Sam Houston State University

ABSTRACT

Through a myriad of legislative mandates, College Board endeavors, as well as state and federal incentive programs, efforts to close the achievement gap are visible. As the result of these initiatives, Black students' involvement in Advanced Placement has increased. However, Black students do not show as much improvement in their Advanced Placement program access and equity as do Hispanic and other student groups. Amid the lens of critical race theory and human capital theory, interest convergence emerges to suggest why a society should educate all of its citizens equally.

Keywords: readiness, black student, performance

INTRODUCTION

According to the literature, negating the ability to transition from high school to college and careers is the presence of serious issues such as (a) inequalities in level of education among some ethnic groups, (b) high school dropout rates, and (c) the persistent achievement gap in postsecondary attainment. Several researchers (Dewey, 1966; Klarman, 2007; Ladson-Billings, 1998) suggested that perhaps the democratic privileges and the civil rights of Black citizens in the United States may be violated. Dewey (1966) proclaimed that a democratic education is a process of transforming individuals from powerless to powerful—from uninformed to informed. In addition, Dewey asserted that a democratic society promotes equality among its members through education for all. Furthermore, Neubert (2010) determined that a democratic education cannot ignore systemic conditions of inequalities and exclusion of individuals and groups. Specific to Black citizens, Klarman (2007) and Ladson-Billings (1998) pointed out the legality of equality in education and how the civil rights of Black people have been denied or hindered by the ruling class in the United States.

Consequently, as one of the most widely recognized pathways to academic equality and college readiness, the Advanced Placement (AP) curriculum is used throughout the United States. Researchers (e.g., Davis, Joyner, & Slate, 2011; Dillon, 2007) implied that participating in AP programs is an indication of students' ability to transition to postsecondary education. In addition, Davis et al. (2011) asserted that AP has grown in much greater proportions than other college preparatory programs. Specifically, Dillon (2007) declared that in 2006, approximately 62%, 15,000 of the 24,000 high schools in the United States offered one or more AP programs. The 2006 percentage represented a 5% increase from the 2000. Nonetheless, students who need the experience of rigorous coursework, particularly minority students, are less likely to have access to this type of curriculum (Alliance for Excellent Education, n.d.; Dillon, 2007). Accordingly, this article contains an introduction, and a review of literature on (a) condition of college and career readiness in the United States, (b) Advanced Placement, (c) Advanced Placement initiatives by state, and (e) theoretical framework.

College and Career Readiness

The consensus among researchers (e.g., Barnes & Slate, 2011; College Board, 2012b; Lavin-Loucks, 2006; Trimis, 2009) is that a large number of high school graduates are not college ready. Precisely, the absence of college preparedness suggests a gap exists in what students learn in high school and what is expected when they reach college (College Board, 2012d; Education Week, 2011; THECB, 2006; Trimis, 2009). Hence, the Council of the Great City Schools and ACT, Inc. (2007) asserted that students who are prepared at a level equipping them to "enroll and succeed, without remediation, in a credit-bearing first-year course, at a two-year or four-year institution, trade school, or technical school are said to be college ready" (p. 7). As defined by Menson, Patelis, and Doyle (2009), college-ready students are those students who have participated in college level courses in high school and exemplify (a) detailed knowledge about the subject, (b) good study habits, (c) research skills, and (d) a higher level of thinking. Conley (2008a) classified college readiness as being academically and socially prepared by exhibiting behaviors that promote successful achievement on a post-secondary level. Conley (2008a) defined academic preparedness as having the cognitive and meta-cognitive abilities, which includes "analysis, interpretation, precision and accuracy, problem solving, and reasoning" (p. 24). Additionally, Conley (2008b) determined that behaviors such as self-control, persistence, time management, and study habits also contribute to college readiness.

Moreover, to become college ready, all high school students should be involved in at least four processes: (a) strenuous core coursework; (b) a positive student-centered learning environment; (c) group learning and social interaction; and (4) college preparatory curriculum (Martinez & Klopott, 2005). As such, the level of high school training impacts students' achievement on standardized tests, high school assessments, and overall success in college and career training (ACT, Inc., 2005; College Board, 2010b). Appropriately, Barnes and Slate (2011) investigated over a 3-year period (i.e., 2006-2007, 2007-2008, and 2008-2009 academic years) college readiness rates and academic achievement gap in reading, math, and both subjects for Black, Hispanic, and White students in Texas. Using the TEA's Academic Excellence Indicator System, Barnes and Slate (2011) established that Black and Hispanic students' college readiness increased over the three academic years. However, Black and Hispanic students continued to lag behind White students on all measurements.

Although Black and Hispanic students in Texas experienced a steady increase in their college readiness over a 3year period, the differences in this achievement when compared to White students continue to widen for Black students. Therefore, Barnes and Slate (2011) corroborated previous research illustrating the college readiness gap between Black, Hispanic, and White student groups. Subsequently, Barnes and Slate (2011) uncovered statistically significant differences in all of their 27 college readiness analyses, with effect sizes ranging from small to large.

In a similar study, Moore et al. (2010) explored college ready graduate rates of all Texas students for the 2006-2007 school year. The researchers included 1, 099 high schools in their analysis of students' scores in math, reading, and in both courses. Overall, 33% of all students were considered ready for college (Moore et al., 2010). A small to large effect size was revealed among Black, Hispanic, and White students in math, reading, and both courses (Moore et al., 2010). However, a large effect size (1.11) was indicated in the pairwise comparison White students to Black students in reading (Moore et al., 2010). Similar effect sizes (0.93) were revealed in comparing White students to Hispanic students. For math the pairwise comparison exposed a wider gap between White and Hispanic students with a large effect size of 1.22, and when White students were compared to Black students, an even larger effect size of 1.88 was noted (Moore et al., 2010).

Engaging a sample of 1,099 high schools, Combs et al. (2010) examined gender differences in college readiness as measured by students' achievement on math, reading, and both courses for Texas students during the 2006-2007 school year. Also, gender differences were investigated based on students' outcome on SAT and ACT exams for both the 2005-2006 and 2006-2007 school years. In addition to reviewing differences in criterion scores, Combs et al. (2010) investigated the number of girls and boys who took the exams. Statistically significant differences were present in college ready scores for boys and girls in math, reading, and both subjects (Combs et al., 2010). For both subjects, less than 33% of girls and boys were deemed college ready for 2006-2007 school year.

In the comparison of boys' and girls' in reading, girls were statistically significantly more college ready than boys with a Cohen's *d* of 0.68 or moderate effect size (Cohen, 1988; Combs et al., 2010). A different finding was noted for math whereas boys held a higher college readiness rate than girls with a Cohen's *d* of 0.50 or moderate effect size (Cohen, 1988; Combs et al., 2010). For boys and girls college readiness on the ACT and SAT during the 2005-2006 and 2006-2007 school years, Combs et al. (2010) evaluated (a) ACT and SAT exam participation, (b) exam outcome for boys and girls, and (c) how girls and boys differed on their exam achievement. Statistically significant differences, for both school years, were revealed on ACT or SAT exam participation with moderate effect sizes, Cohen's *d* of 0.35 and 0.38, respectively (Combs et al., 2010).

In determining the differences in which of the two groups excelled in reaching or exceeding benchmark, Combs et al. (2010) discovered statistically significant differences for both school years. Boys had the highest percentage of ACT or SAT exam scores at or above benchmark. Effect sizes were small for the 2005-2006 and 2006-2007 school

years with a Cohen's *d* of 0.26 and 0.23, respectively.

Regarding the last research question, Combs et al. (2010) determined that boys' and girls' ACT averages for the 2005-2006 and 2006-2007 school years were not statistically significantly different. However, on their SAT averages, boys' and girls' scores were statistically significantly different (Combs et al., 2010). Boys' SAT average exam totals were 25 points greater than girls' SAT average totals. Effect sizes were small for both school years, Cohen's *d* of 0.32 and 0.29, respectively (Combs et al., 2010).

Conley (2011) viewed college readiness from a different perspective. In a contextual framework, Conley (2011) proposed that states adopt "Common Core Standards" (p. 17) to replace *teaching to the test* mentality and traditional classroom management. The purpose of the standards is twofold: (a) to define and organize the knowledge and skills teachers and assessments should focus on and (b) to increase achievement among U.S. students to a level that is globally competitive (Conley, 2011). From this viewpoint, the standards focused on content but did not provide learning strategies needed "to acquire and retain curriculum content" (p. 18). The overarching purpose of the standards is to increase students' ability to transfer knowledge and become college ready. Therefore, to implement effective criterions, Conley (2011) suggested a change in the process from emphasis on learning by memory, teaching-to-the test, and repetitive teaching methods to a curriculum that is challenging and participatory. Moreover, Conley (2011) suggested that students be allowed freedom of expression in an environment conducive to sharing thoughts and ideas.

As the result, Conley (2011) proposed the following Common Core Standards for math and English: (a) mathematical practice should foster an understanding of problems and persistence in finding solutions and (b) English/language arts standards that promotes acquiring critical thinking and analytical skills. Both Common Core Standards advocated incorporating different strategies using technology and students' involvement in the learning process. Conley (2011) noted that 47 states have adopted these standards. In addition, 45 states have developed two consortiums to review and revise their assessment strategies to align with these standards.

Similarly, Cates and Schaefle (2011) investigated the relationship between college preparatory program participation and the college readiness rates for low-income and Hispanic students. The authors were specifically interested in the hours students spent in mentoring, advising, and tutoring, college visits, field trips, and summer programs, as they related to participants' involvement in the program over a 6-year period. These activities were reviewed in relationship to students' completion of college preparatory curriculum and participation in the Preliminary SAT (PSAT). Finally, students were allowed to rank program activities, and the results were then compared to students' college expectations to ascertain if a relationship existed. Advising, access to college information, and exposure to the college environment during high school were positively related to college readiness (Cates & Schaefle, 2011).

College Readiness Programs and Indicators

Over the past decade, Haycock (2010) proclaimed that AP, IB, and dual-credit courses, Middle College and Early College High School programs have experienced rapid growth and are considered the most popular college readiness curriculums. More important, these programs are considered as rigorous pedagogy that prepare students for college and beyond (ACT, Inc., 2006; College Board, 2010a; Haycock, 2010; Texas Association of Community Colleges [TACC], 2012). Moreover, the majority of high schools in the United States offer at least one of these courses (Bragg, Kim, & Barnett, 2006). Consequently, advanced courses allow students to gain an academic advantage over their peers who do not take such classes (Haycock, 2010). Therefore, students who participate in rigorous class work have been known to accomplish higher scores on formal exams, including state assessments, SAT, and ACT exams (ACT, Inc., 2009a; College Board, 2010a). However, whereas access to some advanced programs is more open, other advanced curriculums are restricted to certain groups (Davis, 2011).

Recently, some high school counselors have aggressively sought to include college level courses as a part of the mainstream curriculum agenda and to affect policy changes from the district level (Haycock, 2010). Furthermore, each state under investigation mentioned several, if not all, of these programs as essential components of their accountability and college readiness initiatives. For this reason, the following sections highlight each of these programs. Because the AP program is the focus of this research, it will be explored in detail in a subsequent section.

International Baccalaureate Programs

The IB program was developed in 1968 as a non-profit organization and is currently offered at 3,480 schools located in 143 countries (International Baccalaureate, 2012). One of the major emphases of the IB program is to improve instruction and learning among students and expanding global thinking and education. A collaborative relationship is maintained between IB officials, educators, and school administrators to provide rigorous curriculums to over 1 million students. The IB curriculum is offered at three levels (a) primary years include ages 3-12, (b) middle years involve those ages 11-16, and diploma comprise of ages 16 to 19. The Diploma program is a 2-year curriculum leading to qualifications recognized by prominent universities throughout the world. Although the program started as part of the international private schools, today 50% of IB courses are in state schools.

Similar to the AP program, the IB program is also described as a rigorous program that is widely recognized by college admissions staff. Another similarity to the AP program is that the IB program has not been available to all students. For instance, IB programs are recognized in 49 states; however, less than 50% of IB programs make any special efforts to target underserved students (Bragg et al., 2006). Nevertheless, states such as Kansas, Kentucky, and South Dakota have formal policies that require all high schools to provide access to IB and AP courses (Bragg et al., 2006).

Dual Credit/Dual Enrollment Programs

According to the TACC (2012), Dual Credit is a multi-dimensional curriculum infusing high school curriculum with college level content. Similar to AP and IB programs, Dual Credit programs are collaborative efforts between high schools, community colleges, and universities. The difference between AP, IB, and Dual Credit programs is that students who participate in Dual Credit programs earn college credit while in high school whereas students taking AP and IB courses must take an exam and achieve the benchmark score to receive college credit (College Board, 2008; THECB, 2008).

Under the dual credit program, colleges are accredited, and instructors are credentialed by the Southern Association of Colleges and Schools (James, Lefkowits, & Hoffman, 2012; TACC, 2012). Participation is limited to high school juniors and seniors who meet criteria set by the affiliate college, usually a community college (TACC, 2012). Therefore, students can choose from both academic and workforce classes. In addition, dual credit students must meet Texas Success Initiative (TSI) requirements either by achieving exemption status on the SAT, ACT, or STAAR or successful results on one of the college entrance exams (TACC, 2012).

Moreover, Smith (2007) indicated that participation in Dual Credit programs positively affects high school completion and persistence in college. Smith (2007) administered a 12-item survey to 304 high school seniors enrolled in a dual credit program at a community college in the mid-west. The purpose of Smith's (2007) study was to investigate "the relationship between participation and location of dual-credit enrollment and the educational aspirations of high school students" (p. 371). Smith (2007) discovered (a) a statistically significant relationship exists between dual-credit participation and level of academic motivation; (b) participating in dual credit programs on a college campus yield greater educational ambitions among students than taking courses at their high school; and (c)

dual credit participation was a better predictor of college success than grade point average or parents educational achievement.

Scholastic Assessment Test

According to the College Board website, the SAT is considered as a widely accepted measurement of college readiness. Administered annually by the College Board, the SAT exam is used to quantify students' knowledge in reading, math, and writing. Hence, the reading section evaluates students' ability to think critically (College Board, 2012c). Students' competencies in math are appraised by their skills in applying mathematical concepts, data interpretation, and problem-solving. On the writing section of the exam, students are rated on their ability to illustrate effective written communication skills that involve sentence structure, editing, and proper use of writing conventions (e.g., grammar, punctuation).

Consequently, the College Board (2010b) asserted that the SAT is a compelling predictor of college success. Hechinger (2009) conveyed that over two million high school students (compared to the 1.5 million ACT test-takers) complete the SAT exam each year. Hechinger (2009) also acknowledged that a record number of minorities took the SAT in 2009, setting the record for the most diverse population ever to take this exam. The College Board (2010b) confirmed that test-takers, who were considered as minorities, totaled 612, 666—however, test scores for the underserved, especially Black and Hispanic students, remained lower than other ethnic groups.

The College Board (2012c) disclosed that the 2012 class (over 1.66 million) was the largest group to take the SAT in its history. Subsequently, the discrepancy in Hechinger's (2009) claims and the current College Board (2012c) report suggested further investigation. Upon review of the College Board (2010b) data, the number of students who took the SAT in 2009 was 1.5 million. Nevertheless, the College Board (2012c) revealed that an increase in SAT participation occurred between 2008 and 2012; however, students' critical reading and writing scores declined by four and five points respectively, with no change in math scores.

Gehring (2001) examined over 1,700 studies in which SAT exam scores were used over a 50 year period. Gehring (2001) established that the SAT exam was both an arduous measure of academic success in students' first year of college as well as a predictor of accomplishment throughout their college involvement. The meta-analysis included 1.3 million students who took the exam in 2000, along with research from the 1940s through the late1990s. Gehring (2001) asserted that the SAT test predicted early and late college success.

Kobrin, Patterson, Shaw, Mattern, and Barbuti (2008) investigated whether the changes made to the SAT exam affected the predictive ability of the exam. Two specific changes were made to the SAT test: (a) renaming the verbal section to critical reading, adding more advanced math, and including a writing section and (b) increasing the testing time from 3-hours to 3 hours and 45 minutes. Thus, Kobrin et al. (2008) conducted a study involving a sample of 151,316 college students who completed their first-year of college in May or June of 2007. Participants were first-year college students attending 110 four-year colleges and universities from across the United States. Therefore, SAT test scores (coupled with high school GPA) were examined to ascertain whether the changes improved or weakened the SAT score value on determining students' first-year grade point average (FYGPA). Females comprised over half (54%) of the student participants. By ethnic affiliation, the sample consisted of 69% White, 9% Asian American, 7% Black, 7% Hispanic, and 3% Other ethnic groups. Kobrin et al. (2008) documented the presence of a statistically significant relationship (r = .28) of HSGPA and the three sections on the SAT. However, Kobrin et al. (2008) cautioned that these statistics may not be measuring the same characteristics of educational attainment.

From the high school graduating class of 2012, students who participated in AP curriculum were more successful on the SAT than students who did not take an AP course (College Board, 2012c). For instance, on the SAT mathematics exam, 83% of students who participated in AP math achieved the college readiness benchmark compared to students who did not take AP math. Similar findings were noted for the SAT Critical Reading and Writing exams (College Board, 2012c).

ACT Program and Exam

Organized in 1959, the American College Testing (ACT) Program purposes were to (a) assist students with selecting a college and major and (b) provide information to colleges to support admissions decisions and predicting students' success following enrollment (ACT, Inc., 2012). In 1966, the elongated name was dropped to embrace the most widely used abbreviation, ACT. During 2002, the ACT expanded their involvement to include both education and the workforce. Hence, an evolved corporate structure was created to provide an Education and Workforce Division. Additionally, in 2005 ACT, Inc. developed ACT International; from which, ACT, Inc. became an internationally recognized provider of 100 programs and services to individuals, institutions, and organizations.

In 2007, and for the first time in history of ACT, the exam was accepted by all 4-year colleges in the United States (Marklein, 2007). This exam is intended to measure students' achievement in English, science, math, and reading—with a writing exam that is optional. Subsequently, Wimberly and Noeth (2005) unveiled a college readiness "Action Plan" that included benchmarks for English, math, reading and science. The highest possible score on the ACT is 36 with benchmarks for English set at 18, math at 22, science at 24, and reading at 21 (ACT, Inc., 2009b; Wimberly & Noeth, 2005). Benchmarks are defined as the minimum score one can attain on an ACT test area that can indicate whether an individual has a 50% probability of obtaining a B or higher; or a 75% probability of obtaining a C or higher in an equivalent college course (ACT, Inc., 2009a). According to the 2009 ACT, Inc. Report, over 1.5 million high school students completed the ACT exam—this number represented a 24% increase over the number of examinees in 2005. Furthermore, between 2005 and 2009, the average composite scores by race and ethnic groups revealed that Asian American students' ACT score increased 1.1 points, White students' score increased 0.3 points, Hispanic students' score increased 0.1 points, and Black students' score decreased 0.1 point (ACT, Inc., 2005; 2009a; 2009b).

Respectively, ACT exam scores are used to predict students' college readiness based on the FYGPA (ACT, Inc., 2005). For instance, ACT, Inc. (2009a) investigated over 300,000 students who took the ACT exam between 1999 and 2003. To measure the relationship between students' GPA and achievement on the ACT exam, ACT benchmarks were used to compare students who reached an ACT benchmark to those students who did not reach this goal. Of the students who achieved benchmarks in English and math, 80% were retained with a 2.98 FYGPA (ACT, Inc., 2009a). Students who met all three benchmarks had an 83% retention rate and a 3.16 mean FYGPA. In comparison, 65% of the students who did not meet any of benchmarks were retained with a mean GPA of 2.37. Thus, the ACT, Inc. (2009a) concluded that a correlation existed between the FYGPA and the number of ACT benchmarks achieved.

Zagier (2011) documented that the percentage of Black and Hispanic students' taking an ACT exam increased from 19% in 2007 to 26% in 2011. However, from the high school class of 2011, 28% of graduates did not meet any ACT college readiness benchmarks (Zagier, 2011). By ethnic affiliation, 4% of Black students met ACT benchmark standards, compared to 11% Hispanic, and 31% Whites. Asian students (70%) were the only ethnic group that exceeded benchmarks in English and math with 41% reaching college readiness standards in all four content areas. None of the groups accomplished 50% of the ACT benchmarks on all exams (Zagier, 2011).

Middle College and Early Challenge High Schools

The Middle College National Consortium (n.d.) indicated that Middle College-Early College (MC-EC) schools are in partnership with local school districts, community colleges, corporations, and parents. Through collaborations with local colleges, MC-ECs provide a supportive pathway to college for underserved students. Thus, the most prevalent characteristics of MC-ECs include (a) being located on or near college campuses; (b) starting with Grade 9 with enrollments of 100 or less per grade; (c) developing a five year academic plan that offers up to 60 transferable college credits or yields an Associate degree by graduation; and (d) engaging students in condensed college level curriculum that eliminates the need for remediation (Middle College National Consortium, n.d.).

In the early 1970s, the first middle college was developed on the campus of LaGuardia Community College, located in Long Island City, New York (Phillip, 2011). According to the Middle College National Consortium (n.d.), most middle colleges focused on recruiting at least 50% of their enrollment from among disadvantaged minority and low-income students. Nevertheless, the program targeted high school drop-outs and those who were at-risk of dropping out of high school (Phillip, 2011). By gender and ethnic affiliation, 53% of the student population were females; 78% included Black, Hispanic and other groups of color; and 67% were eligible for Title I resources.

During the fall of 2011, Prince Georges Community College (PGCC) in Maryland opened the Academy of Health Sciences, accepting 100 freshmen students. As noted by PGCC President, the purpose of the college's involvement was to provide students with the culture and academic challenges that will continue to stimulate learning. As such, students participated in their regular coursework while simultaneously taking two college courses. Those students who continued as scheduled, accumulated 43 or more college credits by high school graduation (Phillip, 2011).

Similarly, Early College High Schools implement a rigorous curriculum providing students the opportunity to receive college credits. Acknowledged as motivation for low-income and first generation students to experience college success, the major components of this program were similar to the components of the middle college (Early College High Schools, 2011). For example, the completion time to being awarded a high school diploma and two year college degree was reduced in both programs. In addition, many of the barriers of transitioning from high school to college were removed. However, the Early College High School did not target at-risk students (Early College High Schools, 2011). Hence, students, who were considered underrepresented, underserved, or otherwise omitted from AP curriculums in regular school, were given the opportunity to participate in a program that would allow them to complete an Associate's Degree or receive two years of college credit towards a higher degree at no cost to them

(Early College High Schools, 2011).

Access, Equity, and the Achievement Gap

Kanter, Ochoa, Nassif, and Chong (2011) and the THECB (2006) asserted that one of the principal barriers to academic success in the United States has been attributed to the persistent achievement gap among all ethnic groups. Education Week (2011) described the achievement gap as the variation in grades, participation in certain curriculum, degree completion rates, assessment exams, and other measures that suggest academic success. The term is used to identify disturbing trends in accomplishments of Black, Hispanic, and low-income student groups when compared to the White student group and students from economically advantaged families (Education Week, 2011).

Similarly, researchers (e.g., Lavin-Loucks, 2006; Maxwell, 2012; Trimis, 2009) suggested the phrase achievement gap describes the inconsistencies and differences in academic success that persists among ethnic groups, low-income, and non-English speaking students. In contrast, other authors (Ladson-Billings, 2006, 2007; Thomas, 2009) attributed the achievement gap to (a) parental involvement with their children's educational process and (b) the level of experience and qualification of teachers responsible for educating students with academic deficiencies. As the result, many students are not experiencing successful transitioning to college and beyond with most students (especially Black and Hispanic students) being placed in college remediation courses.

High School Achievement

Corra, Carter, and Carter (2011) proclaimed that the existence of extreme high school dropout rates and evidence of low college enrollment among Black students compared to their White peers is proof of the racial inequities in the U.S. education system. Achieve, Inc. (2004) acknowledged that high school completion rates are a major concern when discussing the achievement gap and college readiness. However, Orfield, Losen, Wald, and Swanson (2004) contended because states do not report graduation rates separately by ethnic group or income level, the severity of the low graduation rate among these groups of students (e.g., Black, Hispanic, and students with disabilities) are seldom included in education reform discussions. Thus, Orfield et al. (2004) collaborated with several organizations (i.e., Advocates for Children of New York, The Urban Institute, and The Civil Society Institute) to investigate the following questions:

First, how deep and widespread are the racial disparities that exist at the state and district levels? Second,

how has the misleading and incomplete reporting of this issue obscured both the magnitude of the crisis and

its racial dimensions? Finally, focusing primarily on the No Child Left Behind (NCLB) legislation, we ask

whether state and federal accountability systems, as implemented, are appropriately structured to improve

high school graduation rates, especially among children of color. (p. 3)

For question one, Orfield et al. (2004) revealed that students of color left high school prematurely because of (a) high school assessment policies that did not permit students to graduate that did not pass the exam and (b) external problems so severe they interfered with school participation and success. Many of these students were dedicated to their studies, had achieved successful outcomes in the classroom, and expressed hopes of pursuing a higher education. Thus, Orfield et al. (2004) concluded that "collectively, these stories suggest that there may be 'perverse incentives' in many states to push low-performing students out the back door" (p. 3).

In answering question two, Orfield et al. (2004) indicated that dropout rates provided by federal agencies were much lower than what they discovered. For example, government agencies announced a 3.9% dropout rate for Black students' in Florida during 2004, and a 2.6% dropout rate for Black students in Texas during the same year; New York's 2004 dropout rate was not included. Conversely, based on graduation rates presented by Orfield et al. for 2004, a higher percentage of dropouts occurred than reported by governmental agencies.

Similar results were provided by the Alliance for Excellent Education (2012a, 2012b, 2012c) in their examination of data from the class of 2008. For Black students in Texas, the Alliance for Excellent Education (2012c) showed that high school completion rates had improved from 55.3% in 2004 (Orfield et al., 2004) to 59% in 2008 (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2012c). The greatest improvement in graduation rates for Black students occurred in New York, 19.9% (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2012b).

Regarding the third research question, Orfield et al. (2004) revealed that accountability for graduation rates

were not being enforced, whereas incentives for eliminating low-performing students were strictly imposed. Subsequently, in their attempt to avoid repercussions from provisions of the NCLB Act, many states and school districts began to push out low-achieving students to raise their overall test scores (Orfield et al., 2004; Sanchez & Wertheimer, 2011).

A case in point was discovered in Texas, where a principal and several other administrators encouraged lowperforming 10th grade students to drop out of school (Llorca, 2012). Prior to hiring the principal, the school was experiencing low performance and threats of being closed. Therefore, to increase school testing results, the principal implemented the plan that resulted in over 40% of the sophomore class not progressing to high school graduation. In one instance, three of the students were members of the same family. According to Llorca (2012), the push-out was school officials' method of meeting accountability standards required by NCLB (2002). Although this plan produced favorable assessment outcomes, the method used was considered fraudulent (Lloraca, 2012).

Researchers (e.g., Balfanz & Legters, 2004; Orfield et al., 2004; Zhao, 2011) indicated that high dropout rates were clearly associated with students' socioeconomic level and the economic level of the school district. Zhao (2011) documented that in 2009, the dropout rate for low-income students was five times greater than their high-income counterparts (i.e., 7.4 % compared to 1.4% respectively). In addition, between 1993 and 2002 the number of schools with low promotion rates increased by 75% (Balfanz & Legters, 2004). However, promoting power was not an issue in minority high schools with resources (e.g., selective programs, higher per pupil expenditures, suburban location). Balfanz and Legters (2004) declared that minority schools in affluent communities "successfully promoted students to senior status at the same rate as majority White schools" (p. 49).

Moreover, Balfanz and Legters (2004) revealed that Florida, Texas, Georgia, North Carolina, and South Carolina had the highest number of schools with debilitated or minimal promoting power. Correspondingly, Balfanz and Legters (2004) concluded that students' timely promotion from freshman to senior status has a strong correlation to high school dropout and deficits in graduation rates. Balfanz and Legters (2004) proclaimed that almost 50% of Black students, compared to 40% of Hispanic students and 11% of White students, attended high schools where completion is not the norm.

In addition, the economic impact of low graduation rates also warrants mentioning. For instance, the Alliance for Excellent Education (2011a, 2011b, 2011c) declared that dropouts from the Class of 2008 (alone) will encumber lifetime lost wages for Texas, \$30 billion; New York, \$22 billion; and Florida, \$24 billion. From this perspective, the economic burden of high school dropout affects both the individual and the society (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2009). Subsequently, the Alliance for Excellent Education (2009) advocated that the federal government include high school graduation rates as a measure in reporting accountability.

Access to Advanced High School Curriculum

Researchers (Bragg et al., 2006; Lewin, 2011; VanSciver, 2006; Walker & Pearsall, 2012) confirmed that while low-income and minority enrollment in higher education institutions continue to increase, participation in college readiness programs for these students remains disproportionate compared to White students. VanSciver (2006) interviewed 77 low-income and minority students in grades 6 through 10 who were enrolled in the school district's AP Incentive Program during the 2002-2003 year. Parents were also interviewed to investigate the absence of diversity among the population of students taking AP courses. Specifically, the purpose was to determine (a) factors impacting why and how students make decisions and (b) how decisions are made for them. VanSciver (2006) concluded that some students' primary goal is to satisfy their parents with good grades. Therefore, these students deliberately enrolled in courses that yielded the easiest way to a good grade. However, VanSciver (2006) described this type of behavior as destructive. Hence, VanSciver declared,

Although the myth of public education as the 'great equalizer' is alive and well in the minds of many, the

reality is that the notion of public schools as the savior of the less fortunate is fundamentally compromised

when institutional decision making does more to suppress low-income and minority students through low

expectations demonstrated by the scheduling process than to advance their academic opportunities. (p. 56)

Moreover, VanSciver (2006) maintained that parents of minority and low-income students trust that teachers and school administrators will guide the educational attainment of their children. More important, these parents are not confident in advocating for their children in the school environment, specifically as it relates to requesting challenging curriculum involvement (VanSciver, 2006).
Walker and Pearsall (2012) investigated minority student groups to understand the issues prohibiting minority students' access to AP coursework. Precisely, Walker and Pearsall (2012) examined both barriers to and influences of Hispanic students' participation in AP curriculum at a suburban public high school. These researchers conducted focus groups with Hispanic students and their parents. Interview transcripts suggested that Hispanic students' low participation in AP courses was directly affected by peer interactions and parental endorsement. As the result, Walker and Pearsall (2012) recommended that school officials implement strategies to improve student motivation towards success, develop progressive communication with the community, and improve peer interaction.

Zhao (2011) revealed that legislators continue to argue over changes to the NCLB Act and the accountability measures it imposes on educators. The major concern among these lawmakers is how to identify strategies to revise the NCLB Act to support the students and teachers as well as improve the U.S. education system (Zhao, 2011). As noted earlier, the Obama Administration developed a plan to address the needs of both students and teachers (Kanter et al., 2011). Specifically, the Obama Administration's plan offered each state the latitude to create their own strategic plan to include direct accountability measures (Obama, 2011). According to the Alliance for Excellent Education (2011a, 2011b, 2011c) and Achieve, Inc. (2004), many states, including Texas, New York, and Florida, are joining coalitions improve college and career readiness while concentrating on closing the achievement gap for low performing students (e.g., Black and Hispanic).

Repercussions of College Readiness Deficiencies

Lewin (2011) asserted that although the United States is experiencing a steady increase in college enrollment, college completion rates does not reflect enrollment numbers. One of the problems affecting this outcome is the increasing number of students requiring remediation. Thus, a major component of college readiness is being able to enroll and succeed in credit-bearing college courses (Conley, 2008a; Council of the Great City Schools & ACT, Inc., 2007).

College Remediation

Complete College America (2012) asserted that college remediation is a classic example of systemic academic failure. This contention was made because the original purpose of remediation was to assist low-achieving students with becoming college ready. However, Complete College America (2012) declared that more than 50% of students enrolling in 2-year colleges, and 20% of students at 4-year institutions are placed in remedial classes. Moreover, approximately 4 out of 10 students taking remedial courses fail to complete the class (Complete College America, 2012). For the 2007-2008 school year, Black students represented 45.1% of first-year graduates who required college remediation compared to 31.3% of White students from this class (U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2011a, 2011b).

Additionally, taking remedial courses delays and threatens students' ability to complete college within a reasonable amount of time (ACT, Inc., 2010; Education Commission of the States, 2011). A reasonable amount of time to complete a 2-year degree is from two to four years; to complete a 4-year degree is from four to six years (Education Commission of the States, 2011; Lewin, 2011). Therefore, participating in remedial courses adds another layer of barriers to the achievement of Black students at the postsecondary level (ACT, Inc., 2010). Equally important is the cost of remediation. For instance, the Alliance for Excellent Education (2006) declared that low college readiness resulted in cost over \$3.7 billion a year. Of this total, \$1.4 billion dollars were used for developmental education for recent high school graduates, and \$2.3 billion is projected as lost earning potential as the result of students not completing their college education. Notably, the Chronicle of Higher Education (2006) stated the \$1.4 billion reported by the Alliance for Excellent Education calculations were the result of using a College Board formula that estimated the average cost of college courses. Conversely, the Chronicle of Higher Education (2006) reported that because remedial courses are taught mostly by adjunct faculty, in some instances, they are not as costly as credit bearing courses.

Researchers (College Board, 2012a; Council of the Great City Schools & ACT, 2007; Lavin-Loucks, 2006; Menson et al., 2009) implied that taking remediation or developmental courses in college is also a clear indication of students' lack of readiness for college. However, other researchers (e.g., Bettinger & Long, 2009) asserted that taking remedial courses contributes to students' college success. Thus, Bettinger and Long (2009) investigated the question, "Who should be placed in remediation, and how does it affect their educational progress?" (p. 4).

Using data from the Ohio Board of Regents (OBR), Bettinger and Long (2009) tracked approximately 28,000 fulltime, first-year freshmen students who attended an Ohio public college over a 5-year period. Bettinger and Long (2009) used ACT mean scores and HSGPAS to explain the impact participating in developmental education has on students' college outcomes. For the first portion of the research question, Bettinger and Long (2009) pointed out that students with lower ACT scores and high school grade point averages were more likely to be placed in developmental courses. Specifically, students who had a 17.4 mean ACT score on math required remediation whereas students with an ACT mean score of 23.3 avoided remediation. For the ACT English exam, students with an ACT score of 22.8 avoided remediation whereas students with an ACT score of 15.8 were placed in remediation (Bettinger & Long, 2009). However, in regard to the effect of developmental participation on college success, Bettinger and Long (2009) determined that students who took developmental courses had a higher college persistence rate than students who had comparable state exam scores but did not take remedial courses.

College Completion

Dougherty (2010) asserted that students who enter high school with academic challenges are most likely not ready for college-level coursework. Nonetheless, Dougherty (2010) mentioned that because the ACT Reading, Science, and Math exam benchmarks are above the national grade level norms, states that based their college readiness levels on ACT benchmarks are placing this achievement above grade level. For this reason, most low-income and low-performing minority students are categorized as not college ready.

Other researchers (e.g., ACT, Inc., 2010; Bragg, Kim, & Rubin, 2005; Education Commission of the States, 2011; Menson et al., 2009) discovered that being college ready affect students' successful completion of their postsecondary education. For instance, College Board (2010) and Lewin (2011) confirmed that approximately 68% of high school graduates in the United States enroll in a higher education institution. Of this number, Lewin (2011) noted that 21.8% of students graduate in 4 years, 40\% graduate in 5 years, and 45% in 6 years at 4-year universities. Furthermore, Lewin (2011) pointed out that of 100 students in Texas who enrolled in a public institution, 79 attended community college, but only two of the 79 completed their degree within 2 years. Meanwhile, only seven students graduated after 7 years. The remaining 21 students out of the 100 students enrolled at a 4-year institution with 5 students completing within 4 years and 13 students graduating after 8 years (Lewin, 2011).

With respect to ethnic differences, the U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics (2009) revealed that at 4-year colleges, White students' degree attainment rate was 71% compared to Black students' degree attainment rate of 51% and Hispanic students' degree attainment rate of 54%. Astin and Oseguera (2002) reported that considerable differences in college completion rates by type of institution, ethnic group affiliation, and gender have been present. According to Astin and Oseguera (2002), 4-year private institutions are known to have the highest graduation rate (67%) compared to 4-year public universities (24%).

For the 2008 graduating class, the Alliance for Excellent Education's (2011a, 2011b, 2011c) indicated that a decrease occurred in the college graduation rates among all ethnic groups when compared to Astin and Oseguera's (2002) report. As reported by the Alliance for Excellent Education (2011a, 2011b, 2011c), Black students represented 39% of the 2008 graduating class to earn a 4-year college degree. Hispanic students represented 46%, and White students represented 59% of the 4-year college graduates for 2008. Compared to Texas and New York, Florida had the highest percentage (42%) of Black students to earn a 4-year degree for the 2008 school year (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2011a, 2011b, 2011c).

The completion rates for community colleges are even more daunting than rates for 4-year institutions (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2011a, 2011b, 2011c; Lewin, 2011). For instance, the Alliance for Excellent Education revealed that New York had 17% of Black students to complete 2-year college. Not far behind New York, Texas experienced a 22% 2-year college completion rate for Black students. Florida's 2-year college completion rate of 43% was the highest among the three states examined in this research. On the national level, 26% Black, 29% Hispanic, and 32% of White students completed community college from the class of 2008 (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2011a, 2011b, 2011c).

In retrospect and compared to current trends, little or no improvement in college completion rates has occurred between 2002 (Astin & Oseguera, 2002) and 2011 (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2011a, 2011b, 2011c). Consequently, because of low graduation rates, the United States is falling behind other countries in the postsecondary achievement. In addition, legislators and the THECB indicated that if this trend continues, the United States, in general, and Texas, specifically, will not have the workforce skilled enough to fill emerging jobs and affect global competitiveness (THECB, 2010).

Theories Related to Black Student Performance

Bell (1980) attributed W. E. B. Du Bois (1868-1963) as the pioneer in the study of sociology and a leader in American theory on race. However, several post-modern theorist and researchers on race and education in the United States used *Brown v. Board of Education* to determine the extent that inequality had been addressed in this country (Bell, 1980; Kozol, 2005; Ladson-Billings, 2006). Consequently, theories on race surfaced as the result of legal cases and legislative mandates in support of or against equal rights for Black Americans (Bell, 1980; Delgado, 1990; Ladson-Billings, 2006). Thus, the entire civil rights movements of the 1950s, 1960s, and beyond were the result of cultural ideologies that affected the academic system and proliferated inferior education upon its Black citizens (Bell, 1980; Kozol, 2005; Lawrence, 1987; Ladson-Billings, 2006; Tate, 1997a). Lawrence, (1987) proclaimed,

Americans share a common historical and cultural heritage in which racism has played and still plays a

dominant role. Because of this shared experience, we also inevitably share many ideas, attitudes, and beliefs

that attach significance to an individual's race and induce negative feelings and opinions of nonwhites. To

the extent that this cultural belief system has influenced all of us, we are racists. At the same time, most of

us are unaware of our racism. We do not recognize the ways in which our cultural experience has influenced

our beliefs about race or the occasions on which those beliefs affect our actions. In other words, a large part

of the behavior that produces racial discrimination is influenced by unconscious racial motivation. (p. 322)

First, Lawrence (1987) explained the unconscious state of racism through the lens of Freudian theory which states: "the human mind defends itself against the discomfort of guilt by denying or refusing to recognize those ideas, wishes, and beliefs that conflict with what the individual has learned is good or right" (p. 323). Therefore, in the event of conflicting ideas and values between racism and culture norms that criticize those thoughts, the mind ignores feelings of racism (Lawrence, 1987). Second, Lawrence (1987) applied the theory of cognitive psychology to illustrate how culture (e.g., parents, peers, leaders, and media) influence individual's perceptions, thoughts, and beliefs. Specifically, Lawrence (1987) asserted that an individual's personal beliefs are connected with the larger society and such beliefs influence decisions, actions, and attitudes that affect systemic outcomes (e.g., on education and economy) in the larger community.

Historically, Black students have been known to endure unfair processes that may adversely affect their ability to participate in advanced curriculums in high school. Researchers (Astramovich & Harris, 2007; Green, 1999; Nieto, 2004; Sullivan, Larke, & Webb-Hasan, 2010) uncovered disparities in retention, school disciplinary actions, tracking, and standardized testing among Black, Hispanic, and low-income students. Potts (2003) further noted that these groups are more frequently placed in special education classes and labeled as students with learning deficiencies. Because of apparent differences in treatment and inclusion of Black and other students, Kozol (2005) declared that schools in the United States are less integrated today than before the decision in *Brown v. Board of Education* (1954; 1955). According to Kozol (2005), integrating students on racial lines is not the issue. What are fundamentally important are the conditions in segregated schools with majority Black, Hispanic, and low-income students are different from the education environment experienced in predominantly White schools (Kozol, 2005).

Specific to education, explored in the following subsections are the ideologies presented by critical race theorists and human capital theorists to understand the persistent access and equity gap experienced by Black students in the United States as well as the long term economic implications for the individual as well as the nation. The concepts of critical race theory were examined in more detail because it is considered the primary foundation on which this study rests. The concept of interest convergence was selected from among the themes of critical race theory to provide a framework relative to closing the achievement gap. Specifically, interest convergence may serve as a motivation towards an expedient closure of the academic achievement gap for Black students. Subsequently, through critical race theorist and human capital theorist the interest of the nation may be accelerated.

Critical Race Theory in Education

Critical race theory was introduced to academe by Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995). Thus, Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995) employed critical race theory to describe and uncover inequalities in educating Black, Hispanic, and low-income students. In addition, Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995) asserted that critical race theory provided another lens through which educational institutions and the struggles experienced by minority participants can be analyzed. Moreover, because critical race theory is an outgrowth of critical legal studies, several researchers (e.g., Bell, 1980, 1988; Ladson-Billings, 2006) employed critical race theory to examine the repercussions of decisions in both the 1954 and 1955 *Brown v. Board of Education* litigation. Through the lens of critical race theory and in the aftermath of Brown, Bell (1980) observed,

Most black children attend public schools that are both racially isolated and inferior. Demographic patterns,

white flight, and the inability of the courts to effect the necessary degree of social reform render further

progress in implementing Brown almost impossible. (p. 518)

Ladson-Billings (2006) utilized the components of critical race theory to ascertain the implication of Brown for education in the 21st Century. Ladson-Billings (2006) concluded that because *Brown v. Board of Education* was argued under the assumption of Black inferiority, it does not provide a substantial framework on which to build equality in education.

Brayboy (2005) declared that critical race theory in education revealed the widespread racism that was pervasive in U.S. culture and education. More important, critical race theory brings to the forefront issues of racism that have become obscured by society's chronic acceptance and denial of its existence (Brayboy, 2005). Furthermore, critical race theory excels a liberal view of education and opposes traditional philosophies vis-à-vis equality, meritocracy, and color blindness. Specifically, critical race theory in education advocates eradicating discrimination based on an individual's socioeconomic status, race, and gender from the educational system (Delgado Bernal & Villalpando, 2002).

Thus, Brayboy, Castagno, and Maughan (2007) proclaimed the future of race scholarship in education need to be centered on equity and justice and not on equality. Subsequently, Brayboy et al. (2007) disagreed with the most widespread debate asserting that the terms (i.e., equity and equality) are synonymous. Instead, the authors preferred to distinguish the expressions and then link them to perceptions of justice. To this end, Brayboy et al. (2007) defined equality as "sameness and, more specifically, sameness of resources and opportunities" (p. 159). Therefore, irrespective of race, income, gender, or class, children of an impartial culture should have access to equal resources and opportunities to experience favorable outcomes (Brayboy et al., 2007). Hence, to realize equality in U.S. schools, Brayboy et al. (2007) declared "every student must have access to the same quality of teachers, resources expenditures, and current infrastructure" (p. 159). Nevertheless, test scores, facilities, and lifetime achievement of students from marginalized groups indicate the existence of a void in parity of resources and positive student outcomes. Therefore, to accomplish a school system that practices the equality it espouses, procedures reflecting equity should be present (Brayboy et al., 2007).

Brayboy et al. (2007) posited equity to "mean a system where unequal goods are redistributed to create systems and schools that share a greater likelihood of becoming equal" (p. 161). Specifically, when resources are distributed equally, the equality may be based on the economics of tax levels placed on housing, business, and other factors within the neighborhood. To this end, equality means processes and practices that allow distribution of information to all student groups equally whereas equity assures that resources are equally distributed for equality to become a reality (Brayboy et al., 2007).

DeCuir and Dixson (2004) urged educational researchers to employ critical race theory to investigate the influence of race and racism in education relative to the experiences of African-American students. Subsequently, DeCuir and Dixson (2004) advocated incorporating themes of critical race theory as a means of analyzing these phenomena. Consequently, a qualitative research design was most frequently employed by educational researchers who used critical race theory to frame their studies (Alemán, 2006; Green, 1999; Housee, 2010; Hylton, 2010; Ladson-Billings, 1995, 1997; Parker & Lynn, 2002; Pizarro, 1999; Roberts, 2010; Sullivan et al., 2010; Yosso, 2005). Hence, Parker and Lynn (2002) believed that qualitative research and critical race theory work together to expose the hidden operation of race and racism in legal decisions and social order.

In this manner, DeCuir and Dixson (2004) incorporated the counter stories of African-American students at an elite, predominantly White, independent school, located in the southeastern section of the United States, in a

community with property valuing from \$450,000 to over \$3 million. Although the school espoused multiculturalism and diversity through counseling and curriculum offerings, DeCuir and Dixon (2004) discovered a different perspective in school administrators' behavior. For instance, through stories of African-American students and lens of critical race theory, DeCuir and Dixson (2004) exposed the persistence of racism in a school that overtly professed and acted outside of racial discrimination yet implemented decisions that spoke otherwise.

DeCuir and Dixson (2004) described an example of a conflicting behavior, involving a student who wore African inspired clothing on a no uniform school day. Confronted by administrators, the student was prohibited from wearing this type of clothing to school. Thus, DeCuir and Dixson (2004) associated the actions of school administrators to Harris' (1993) concept of property interest. Harris (1993) indicated that slavery laws regulating Black slaves as property perpetuated beliefs concerning property interest.

Moreover, several critical race theory theorists and educational researchers (e.g., Bell, 1980; Harris, 1993; Ladson-Billings, 2006) believed ideas of property rights were propagated through legal decisions and interpretations of *Plessy v. Ferguson* (1896) and *Brown v. Board of Education* (1954, 1955). Within this context, Harris (1993) asserted that property interest operates on three levels: (a) right of ownership and control; (b) right to exploit; and (c) right to establish the prevailing attitudes, criteria, outcomes, or expectations. In addition, Harris (1993) decided that attributed to property are the rights to transfer, use, enjoy, and exclude.

From the perspective of exclusion, Sullivan et al. (2010) used critical race theory to examine out-of-school suspension and expulsion rates for students of color in Texas during the 1999-2000 and 2002-2003 school years. The authors revealed statistically significant differences in both out-of-school suspensions and expulsions. Compared to other student groups (i.e., American Indian, Asians, Hispanic), Black students had the highest expulsion rate for both the 1999-2000 (64.3%) and 2002-2003 (65.1%) school years. For out-of-school suspensions during both school years, Sullivan et al. (2010) discovered over 53% of Black students' had experienced this fate.

Critical Race Theory and Advanced Placement

Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995) exploited Harris' (1993) concepts of White property interests as they applied to education. Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995) explained that examining property rights through the concept of exclusion will guide researchers in unmasking hidden racism in U.S. high schools. Specifically, Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995) employed tenets of critical race theory and incorporated concepts of property rights of exclusion to make the following statement:

Educational inequity, the curriculum, and, specifically, access to a high quality, rigorous curriculum, has been

almost exclusively enjoyed by White students. Tracking, honors, and/or gifted programs and advanced

placement courses are but the myriad ways that schools have essentially been re-segregated. The formal

ways that selection and admission into these programs are conducted guarantee that students of color have

virtually no access to a high-quality curriculum or certainly one that will prepare them for college attendance.

(p. 60)

Ladson-Billings and Tate (1995) declared that schools use regulations and practices that limit access and successful participation of minority students in college preparatory programs and access to good resources (e.g., experienced teachers and updated technology). As a result, most Black, Hispanic, and low-income students experience low accomplishment in school and ultimately the same fate in their careers (Kozol, 2005).

Tate (1997b) analyzed archival data on mathematic attainment based on ethnicity, gender, class, and language proficiency. Specifically, Tate (1997b) used data from national studies, AP exams, and college admissions tests to establish the changes that had occurred in math achievement over a 15-year period. Tate (1997b) discovered that student participation in AP, ACT, and SAT exams increased; however, Black students continue to lag behind their peers. For instance, between 1990 and 1994, Black students' participation in Calculus BC exam increased from 458 to 1,264 (Tate, 1997b). Yet, the percentage of Black students achieving a 3 or more on the Calculus BC decreased from 48.7% to 36% during this time period (Tate, 1997a). Nevertheless, Tate (1997b) concluded that the analysis revealed significant improvement in math among all groups. The results of the within group comparisons indicated that Hispanic and Black students showed the greatest improvement on math scores. By gender, Tate (1997b) discovered statistically significant difference for 17 year olds, revealing male scores in math were significantly higher than

females. Overall, Tate (1997b) reported that gender did not affect outcomes on mathematic scores.

Human Capital Theory in Education

Becker (2008) clarified the misconceptions of the term capital. Thus, Becker (2008) declared, for the majority of people, capital means finance, shares in company stocks, or other tangible entities that produce income. However, because education, values, habits of mind, and medical expenses support income earnings, Becker (2008) believed they should be considered as capital. Furthermore, money spent on gaining knowledge, maintaining a healthy lifestyle, and supporting society as a whole becomes an investment in human capital (Becker, 2008). Consequently, as human capital, these assets cannot be separated from the people who possess them. For this reason, Becker (2008) suggested that society view higher education as an investment in human capital.

Olaniyan and Okemakinde (2008) declared that scientific data affirmed that an "investment in education has a positive correlation with economic growth and development" (p. 157). However, for education to be considered valuable to the economy, education must first be perceived as an asset within the dominate culture (Lawrence, 1987; Olaniyan & Okemakinde, 2008). As such, Kozol (2005) posited that inadequate education ultimately precedes social and economic deficits that affect all levels of society. Subsequently, human capital theory supports research that explores education and its influence on the individual's long-term social and economic status. For instance, Flowers (2008) investigated differences in AP program participation on students' GPAs, graduation rates, and potential income earnings. Similarly, Olaniyan and Okemakinde (2008) examined research to validate the contribution that education makes on the economy.

From a different point of view, Loomis and Rodriguez (2009) determined that the issue is not whether society accepts education as a way of building human capital. Instead, the problems that should be addressed are the (a) intentions and the effect of the intentions on the structure of education; (b) inequality and limiting information to certain groups; and (c) lack of consistency in developing human capital across racial boundaries. Specifically, Loomis and Rodriguez (2009) and Gilead (2009) suggested that the focus of education and the development of educational processes should be framed by human capital theory. Other researchers (Sakura-Lemessy, Carter-Tellison, & Sakura-Lemessy, 2009) used both the neo-classical human capital and social reproduction theoretical frameworks to investigate the relationship of students' race, class, and gender on high school curriculum participation. A neoclassical human capital theory includes ideologies that describe values placed on human employment or salary (Sakura-Lemessy et al., 2009). Laslett and Brenner (1989) and Macris (2011) provided distinct definitions of social reproduction theory. Thus, Laslett and Brenner (1989) described social reproduction as the "activities and attitudes, behaviors and emotions, responsibilities and relationships directly involved in the maintenance of life on a daily basis, and inter-generationally" (p. 382). Macris (2011) asserted that social reproduction theories on education provide insight into why and how inequalities are recreated, but they do not assist in identifying solutions to the problem. For this reason, schools continue to reproduce systems of prolonged social inequalities (Macris, 2011).

Consequently, from the neoclassical human capital and social reproduction theoretical frameworks, Sakura-Lemessy et al.'s (2009) reported statistically significant differences existed in class, race, and gender when compared to students' educational and post-graduate incomes. Specifically, disparities in education and employment outcomes were noted. As such, Sakura-Lemessy et al.'s (2009) findings supports literature that specifically addressed the equity and access gap prevalent in AP program participation, AP exam attainment, college success, and economic achievement among Black citizens in the United States.

In contrast, Rubb (2006) explored the differences in earnings for overeducated individuals. Rubb (2006) used human capital theory to explain wage differences between the overeducated, undereducated, and properly educated worker. An overeducated person is described as a worker or employee with more education than required to perform the job (Rubb, 2006). Conversely, an undereducated individual has less education than required for the position and the appropriately educated person's education correspond to job requirements. Rubb (2006) discovered that the overeducated person, in the same job, earned less than the properly educated worker. However, Rubb (2006) asserted that the overeducated worker's chances for promotion and salary increases are greater than the properly educated employee.

Human Capital Theory and Advanced Placement

Through the lens of human capital theory, Flowers (2008) explored data from the National Education Longitudinal Study (NELS), which covered a period from 1988 through 2000. Initially, Flowers (2008) included a stratified sample of 25,000 eighth grade students and additional data from at least one parent, two instructors, and a school administrator. From the NELS sample, approximately 28% of the participants had participated in at least one AP course, and 50% had not been involved in the AP program (Flowers, 2008). Among the participants in AP courses,

72% were White students, 13% were Blacks, 10% were Hispanics, and 5% Asian or Pacific Islanders.

Flowers' (2008) purpose was to ascertain whether participating in AP courses affected students' (a) college entrance exam scores (i.e., SAT, ACT, and PSAT); (b) undergraduate GPA; (c) level of postsecondary attainment; and (d) income from employment in 1999. Statistically significant differences were prevalent for all variables used in this study with some variations by ethnic affiliations. For instance, the analysis showing income differences of Black and Hispanic students who participate in AP courses compared to students within their ethnic group who did not participate in AP courses, revealed no statistically significantly difference in the income of these two groups (Flowers, 2008). In contrast, Flowers (2008) discovered that White and Asian or Pacific Islander participants' income were \$3,000 and \$10,000 higher (respectively) than participants in their ethnic group who did not take an AP course in high school.

Thus, Flowers (2008) supported previous literature on AP program involvement. First, regarding college entrance exam outcomes, Flowers (2008) determined that students who participated in AP curriculum more frequently scored higher on college entrance exams than students who did not participate in AP courses. By ethnic affiliation, Black and Hispanic students involved in AP courses scored 100 points more on their college entrance exams than other students in their same ethnic group. Asian or Pacific Islander and White students who participated in AP courses experienced and even greater margin of success on their college entrance exams (i.e., Asian or Pacific Islander 263 points more, and White students 174 points more than other students in their ethnic groups).

Second, Flowers (2008) affirmed that students who participated in AP courses achieved significantly higher undergraduate GPAs than students who did not participate in AP courses. Again, Asian or Pacific Islander and White students showed larger differences in GPAs of 0.28 and 0.26 respectively above non-AP program participants. For Black and Hispanic AP students' GPAs, a smaller difference was present (0.11 and 0.17, respectively) with no statistically significant differences.

Third, all student groups who took AP courses were most likely to earn a graduate degree than their peers who did not take AP courses (Flowers, 2008). Fourth, with regard to income, Black and Hispanic students taking AP courses earned approximately \$2,000 and \$1,700 respectively more than Black and Hispanic students who did not participate in AP courses (Flowers, 2008). In contrast, White and Asian or Pacific Islander students who took AP courses earned \$10,000 and \$3,000 more a year respectively than peers in the same ethnic group who did not take an AP course (Flowers, 2008).

Summary

Examined in this article was literature on the historical perspectives of education for Black citizens in general and Black students specifically in the United States. As such, a greater understanding of the depth and breadth of academic problems in this country can be achieved. Based on views from a diverse group of researchers and several legal cases, education was and continues to be at the core of civil rights struggles in the United States.

Nevertheless, each state has developed programs that promise to close the achievement gap and provide Black and other ethnic groups more access to advanced coursework. In addition, most states, along with the College Board and federal government provide financial incentives for AP and IB exam accomplishments, including grants to assist low-income students with the cost of AP exams. Thus, more students are experiencing rigorous coursework, and the financial barrier to AP exam participation has been minimized or eliminated. Just this year, the Secretary of Defense announced a multi-million dollar grant to support APIP and exam fees (U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics, 2012). Black students' involvement in AP courses and exams has increased over the years (College Board, 2012d). However, Black students' level of access to AP courses and achievement on AP exams remains low. Even in the presence of federal, College Board, and school districts assistance, Black students do not show as much improvement in their AP program access and equity as do Hispanic and other student groups (College Board, 2012d; Klopfenstein, 2004; Lavin-Loucks, 2006; Moore & Slate, 2008).

Furthermore, the Alliance for Excellent Education (2008) indicated that the U.S. Census Bureau predicted that by 2050, approximately 50% of the U.S. population will consist of Black, Hispanic, or Asian ethnic groups. Because of these statistics, students of color and the schools they attend should be the concern of all citizens (Alliance for Excellent Education, 2008). Although the achievement gap appears to be closing for Hispanic students, this situation is not the case for Black students. Thus, the theoretical lenses (critical race theory and human capital theory) appear to offer strong foundations on which to frame this literature. For instance, addressed in the literature on critical race theory and human capital theory are the problems identified in this study. Similarly, presented in the literature on human capital is a basis for which a society can perceive the value of educating all of its citizens equally.

REFERENCES

Achieve, Inc. (2004). The American Diploma Project: Ready or not creating a high school diploma that counts. Retrieved from www.achieve.org

ACT, Inc. (2005). Students graduate from high school ready or not. Activity Publication 43(3), 1-7. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/activity/about.html

ACT, Inc. (2006). Benefits of a high school core curriculum. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/research/policymakers/pdf/core_curriculum.pdf

ACT, Inc. (2009a). The condition of college readiness. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/research/policymakers/pdf/TheConditionofCollegeReadiness.pdf

ACT, Inc. (2009b). Profile Report. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/news/data/09/

statemenu.html

ACT, Inc. (2010). Mind the gaps: How college readiness narrows achievement gaps in college success. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/research/policymakers/pdf/MindTheGaps.pdf

ACT, Inc. (2012). History of ACT. Retrieved from http://www.act.org/aboutact /history.html

Alemán, E. Jr. (2006). Is Robin Hood the "prince of thieves"1 or a pathway to equity?: Applying critical race theory to school finance political discourse. Educational Policy 20(1), 113-142. doi:10.1177/0895904805285290

Alliance for Excellent Education. (n.d.). *College access*. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/about_the_crisis/students/college_access

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2006). Paying double: Inadequate high schools and community college remediation. (Issue Brief). Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/files/archive/publications/remediation.pdf

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2008, September). African American students and U.S. high schools (Fact Sheet). Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/files/

AfAm_FactSheet.pdf

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2009, July). Understanding high school graduation rates in Texas. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/files/Texas_wc.pdf

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2011a, May). Accelerating the college and career readiness of Florida's students. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed .org/files/Florida_cs.pdf

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2011b, May). Accelerating the college and career readiness of New York's students. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/files/NewYork_cs.pdf

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2011c, May). Accelerating the college and career readiness of Texas' students. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org /files/Texas_cs.pdf

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2012a, March). Florida high schools. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/files/FloridaState_hs.pdf

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2012b, March). New York high schools. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/files/NewYorkState_hs.pdf

Alliance for Excellent Education. (2012c, March). Texas high schools. Retrieved from http://www.all4ed.org/files/TexasState_hs.pdf

Astin, A.W., & Oseguera, L. (2002). Degree attainment rates at American colleges and universities. Los Angeles, CA: Higher Education Research Institute, UCLA. Retrieved from www.gseis.ucla.edu/heri/heri.html

Astramovich, R. L., & Harris, K. R. (2007). Promoting self-advocacy among minority students in school counseling. Journal of Counseling & Development 85, 269-276.

Balfanz, R., & Legters, N. (2004). Locating the dropout crisis: Which high schools produce the nation's dropouts? Where are they located? Who attends them? (Report 70). Retrieved from http://www.csos.jhu.edu/crespar/techReports/Report70.pdf

Barnes, W., & Slate, J. R. (2011). College readiness rates in Texas: A statewide, multiyear study of ethnic differences. Educational and Urban Society, 20(10), 1-29. doi:10.1177/0013124511423775

Becker, G. S. (2008). "Human capital." The Concise Encyclopedia of Economics. Retrieved from http://www.econlib.org/library/Enc/HumanCapital.html

Bell, D. A., Jr. (1980). Brown v. Board of Education and the interest-convergence dilemma.

Bettinger, E. P., & Long, B. T. (2009). "Addressing the needs of underprepared students in higher education: Does college remediation work?" (Working Paper 11325). Journal of Human Resources 44(3). Retrieved from http://www.nber.org/papers/w11325.pdf?new_window=1

Bragg, D. D., Kim, E., & Barnett, E. A. (2006). Creating access and success: Academic pathways reaching underserved students. New Directions for Community Colleges, 135, 5-19. doi:10.1002/cc.243

Bragg, D. D., Kim, E., & Rubin, M. B. (2005, November). Academic pathways to college: Policies and practices of the fifty states to reach underserved students. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the Association for the Study of Higher Education, Philadelphia, PA. Retrieved from http://www.apass.uiuc.edu /publications/ASHE2005%20APASS%20paper.pdf

Brayboy, B. (2005). Toward a tribal critical race theory in education. Urban Review, 37, 425-446. doi:10.1007/s11256-005-0018-y

Brayboy, B., Castagno, A. E., & Maughan, E. (2007). Chapter 6 equality and justice for all? Examining race in education scholarship. Review of Research in Education, 31, 159-194. doi:10.3102/0091732X07300045

Brown v. Board of Education, 347 U.S. 483 (1954).

Brown v. Board of Education (II), 349 U.S. 294 (1955).

Cates, J. T., & Schaefle, S. E. (2011). The relationship between a college preparation program and at-risk students' college readiness. Journal of Latinos & Education, 10, 320-334. doi:10.1080/15348431.2011.605683

Chronicle of Higher Education. (2006, August 30). Remediation's cost to community colleges is open to question. Retrieved from http://chronicle.com/article/Remediations-Cost-to/37499/

Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

College Board. (2008). Advanced Placement: Report to the nation. Retrieved from http://www.collegeboard.com/

College Board. (2010a). English course description: English Language and Composition, EnglishLiteratureandComposition.Retrievedfromhttp://apcentral.collegeboard.com/apc/public/repository/ap-english-course-description.pdf

College Board. (2010b). Sixth annual AP report to the nation. Retrieved from http://www.collegeboard.com/html/aprtn/?excmpid=CBF13-ED-1-aprtn

College Board. (2012a, February 8). Advanced Placement results for the Class of 2011 announced (Press Release). Retrieved from http://press.collegeboard.org/releases/

2012/advanced-placement-results-class-2011-announced

College Board. (2012b). State supplement: New York. The 8th Annual AP Report to the Nation. Retrieved from http://media.collegeboard.com/digitalServices/public/pdf/

ap/rtn/Ap-Report-to-the-Nation-NewYork.pdf

College Board. (2012c). The SAT Report on College and Career Readiness. Retrieved from http://media.collegeboard.com/homeOrg/content/pdf/sat-report-college-career-readiness-2012.pdf

College Board. (2012d). The 8th Annual Report to the Nation. Retrieved from http://sitesearch.collegeboard.org/?i=1&q=2011&q1=AP&x=0&x1=t4&y=0&searchType=site_ref

Combs, J., Slate, J. R., Moore, G., Bustamante, R., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Edmonson, S. L. (2010). Gender differences in college preparedness: A statewide study. Urban Review, 42, 441-457. doi:10.1007/s11256-009-0138-x

Complete College America. (2012). Remediation: Higher education's bridge to nowhere. Retrieved from

http://www.insidehighered.com/sites/default/server_files/files/CCA%20Remediation%20ES%20FINAL.pdf

Conley, D. T. (2008a). Rethinking college readiness. New England Journal of Higher Education, 22(5), 24-26.

Conley, D. T. (2008b). Rethinking college readiness. New Directions for Higher Education, 144, 3-13. doi:10.1002/he.321

Conley, D. T. (2011). Building on the common core. Educational Leadership, 68(6), 16-20.

Corra, M, Carter, J. S.; & Carter, S. K. (2011). The interactive impact of race and gender on high school advanced course enrollment. Journal of Negro Education, 80(1), 33-46.

Council of the Great City Schools & ACT, Inc. (2007). College readiness: Benefits of high school core curriculum. Washington, DC: Council of the Great City Schools.

Davis, C. M. (2011, November). Black students' perceptions of Advanced Placement involvement in their college readiness. Paper presented at Association for the Study of Higher Education, Charlotte, NC.

Davis, C. M., Joyner, S. A., & Slate, J. R. (2011). Differences in Advanced Placement exam results for Black students across three states. e-International Journal of Educational Research, 2(5), 87-102.

DeCuir, J. T., & Dixson, A. D. (2004). "So when it comes out, they aren't that surprised that it is there": Using critical race theory as a tool of analysis of race and racism in education. Educational Researcher, 33(26), 25-36. doi:10.3102/0013189X033005026

Delgado, R. (1990). When a story is just a story: Does voice really matter? Virginia Law Review, 76, 95-111.

Delgado Bernal, D., & Villalpando, O. (2002). An apartheid of knowledge in academia: The struggle over the 'legitimate' knowledge of faculty of color. Journal of Equity & Excellence in Education, 35(2), 169-180.

Dewey, J. (1966). Democracy and education: An introduction to the philosophy of education. New York, NY: Collier Macmillan.

Dillon, S. (2007, February 7). Advanced Placement Tests are leaving some behind. New York Times. p. 9.

Dougherty, C. (2010) Using the right data to determine if high school interventions are working to prepared students for college and careers. National High School Centers. Retrieved from http://www.eric.ed.gov/ERICWebPortal/search/detailmini.jsp?_nfpb=true&_&ERICExtSearch_SearchValue _0=ED511823&ERICExtSearch_SearchType_0=no&accno=ED511823

Early College High Schools. (2011, July). Initiatives Jobs for the Future Organization. Retrieved from http://www.earlycolleges.org/

Education Commission of the States. (2011). Postsecondary success: Developmental/remediation. Retrieved from http://www.ecs.org/html/issue.asp?issueid=200&sublssuelD=274

Education Week. (2011). Achievement gap. Retrieved from http://www.edweek.org/ew/issues/achievement-gap/

Flowers, L. (2008). Racial differences in the impact of participating in Advanced Placement programs on educational and labor market outcomes. Educational Foundation, 22(1), 121-132.

Gehring, J. (2001). SAT said to be reliable predictor of college success. Education Week, 20(34), 3.

Gilead, T. (2009). Human capital, education and the promotion of social cooperation: A philosophical critique. Studies in Philosophy & Education, 28, 555-567. doi:10.1007/s11217-009-9146-2

Green, P. E. (1999). Chapter 10: Separate and still unequal: Legal challenges to school tracking and ability grouping in America's public schools. In L. Parker, D. Deyhle, & S. Villaneas (Eds.), Race is...race isn't: Critical race theory & qualitative studies in education (pp. 231-250). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Harris, C. I. (1993). Whiteness as property. Harvard Law Review, 106, 1707-1791.

Haycock, K. (2010). Building common college-ready standards. *Change: The Magazine of Higher Learning*, 42(4), 14-19. doi:10.1080/00091383.2010.490464

Hechinger, J. (2009, August 26). SAT scores fall as gap widens; Asians gain. The Wall Street Journal. Retrieved from http://online.wsj.com/article /SB125121641858657345.html

Housee, S. (2010). When silences are broken: an out of class discussion with Asian female students. Educational Review, 62, 421-434. doi:10.1080/00131911.2010.486475

Hylton, K. (2010). How a turn to critical race theory can contribute to our understanding of 'race', racism and anti-racism in sport. International Review for the Sociology of Sport, 45, 335-354. doi:10.1177/1012690210371045

International Baccalaureate. (2012). About International Baccalaureate. Retrieved from http://www.ibo.org/general/who.cfm

James, D., Lefkowits, L., & Hoffman, R. (2012). Dual Enrollment: A Pathway to College and Career Readiness. Perspectives, AdvancedED. Retrieved from http://www.advanc-ed.org/issues-in-education/perspectives/dual-enrollment-pathway-college-and-career-readiness?page=0,0

Kanter, M., Ochoa, E., Nassif, R., & Chong, F. (2011, July 21). Meeting President Obama's 2020 college completion goal. [Powerpoint]. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/news/speeches/meeting-president-obamas-2020-college-completion-goal

Klarman, M. J. (2007). Brown v. Board of Education and the civil rights movement [electronic resource]: Abridged edition of From Jim Crow to civil rights: The Supreme Court and the struggle for racial equality. Oxford, NY: Oxford University Press.

Klopfenstein, K. (2004). Advanced Placement: Do minorities have equal opportunity? Economics of Education Review, 23(2), 115. doi:10.1016/S0272-7757(03)00076-1

Kobrin, J. L., Patterson, B. F., Shaw, E. J., Mattern, K. D., & Barbuti, S. M. (2008). Validity of the SAT for predicting first-year college grade point average. (Research Report No. 2008-5). New York, NY: College Board.

Kozol, J. (2005). The shame of the nation: The restoration of apartheid schooling in America. New York. NY: Three Rivers.

Ladson-Billings, G. (1995). Toward a theory of culturally relevant pedagogy. American Educational Research Journal, 32, 465-491.

Ladson-Billings, G. (1997). It doesn't add up: African American students' mathematics achievement. Journal for Research in Mathematics Education, 28(6), 697-708.

Ladson-Billings, G. (1998). Just what is critical race theory and what's it doing in a *nice* field like education? *Qualitative Studies in Education*, 11(1), 7-24.

Ladson-Billings, G. (2006). Chapter 15 The Meaning of Brown . . . for Now. Yearbook of the National Society for the Study of Education (Wiley-Blackwell), 105, 298-315. doi:10.1111/j.1744-7984.2006.00087.x

Ladson-Billings, G. (2007). Pushing past the achievement gap: An essay on the language of deficit. Journal of Negro Education, 76, 316-323.

Ladson-Billings, G., & Tate, W. F., IV. (1995). Toward a critical race theory of education. Teachers College Record, 97(1), 47-68.

Laslett, B., & Brenner, J. (1989). Gender and social reproduction: Historical perspectives. Annual Review of Sociology, 15, 381-404.

Lavin-Loucks, D. (2006). The academic achievement gap (Research Brief). Retrieved from http://www.dallasindicators.org/Portals/8/Reports/Reports_Internal/

AcademicAchievementGap.pdf

Lawrence, C. R., III. (1987). The id, the ego, and equal protection: Reckoning with unconscious racism. Stanford Law Review, 39, 317-388.

Lewin, T. (2011, September 27). College graduation rates are stagnant even as enrollment rises, a study finds. New York Times. Retrieved from http://www.nytimes.com/2011/09/27/education/27remediation.html

Llorca, J. C. (2012, October 2). El Paso school district rebuilds after fraudulent testing practices by administrators. Huffington Post [Education]. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2012/10/02/school-district-rebuilds-_0_n_1933327.html

Loomis, S., & Rodriguez, J. (2009). The individual-collective problem in education: The special cases of John Dewey and human capital theory. Oxford Review of Education, 35(4), 509-521. doi:10.1080/03054980903072587

Macris, V. (2011). The ideological conditions of social reproduction. Journal for Critical Education Policy Studies, 9(1), 20-46.

Marklein, M. B. (2007, March 19). All four-year U.S. colleges now accept ACT test. USA Today. Retrieved from http://www.usatoday.com/news/education/2007-03-18-life-cover-acts_N.htm

Martinez, M., & Klopott, S. (2005). The link between high school reform and college access and success for low-income and minority youth (Report of the American Youth Policy Forum and Pathways to College Network). Retrieved from http://www.pathwaystocollege.net/pdf/HighSchoolReform_FullReport.pdf

Maxwell, L. A. (2012). Achievement gaps tied to income found widening. Education Week, 31(23), 1-22.

Menson, R. P., Patelis, T., & Doyle, A. (2009). New England's state of college readiness. New England Journal of Higher Education, 23(5), 22-23.

Middle College National Consortium. (n.d.). Middle - Early College overview. Retrieved from http://www.mcnc.us/about/middle-early-college/

Moore, G. W., & Slate, J. R. (2008). Who's taking the Advanced Placement courses and how are they doing: A statewide two-year study. The High School Journal, 92(1), 56-67. doi:10.1353/hsj.0.0013

Moore, G. W., Slate, J. R., Edmonson, S. L., Combs, J. P., Bustamante, R., & Onwuegbuzie, A. J. (2010). High school students and their lack of preparedness for college: A statewide study. Education & Urban Society, 42, 817-838. doi:10.1177/0013124510379619

Neubert, S. (2010). Democracy and education in the twenty-first century: Deweyan pragmatism and the question of racism. Educational Theory, 60, 487-502. doi:10.1111/j.1741-5446.2010.00372.x

Nieto, S. (2004). Affirming diversity: The sociopolitical context of multicultural educational (4th ed.). Boston, MA: Allyn & Bacon.

No Child Left Behind (NCLB) Act of 2001, Pub. L. No. 107-110, § 115, Stat. 1425 (2002).

Obama, B. (2011, July 18). Education. [Video podcast]. Retrieved from http://www.whitehouse.gov/issues/education

Olaniyan, D. A., & Okemakinde, T. T. (2008). Human capital theory: Implications for educational development. European Journal of Scientific Research, 24(2), 157-162.

Orfield, G., Losen, D., Wald, J., & Swanson, C. (2004). Losing our future: How minority youth are being left behind by the graduation rate crisis. [Contributors: Advocates for Children of New York, The Civil Society Institute]. Cambridge, MA: The Civil Rights Project at Harvard University.

Parker, L., & Lynn, M. (2002). What's race got to do with it? Critical race theory's conflicts with and connections to qualitative research methodology and epistemology. Qualitative Inquiry, 8, 6-22. doi:10.1177/107780040200800102

Phillip, A. (2011). Middle Colleges grow in number and target lower-income, minority students. Diverse Issues in Higher Education. Retrieved from http://diverseeducation.com/article/15008/

Pizarro, M. (1999). Chapter 3: "¡Adelante!": Toward social justice and empowerment in Chicana/o communities and Chicana/o studies. In L. Parker, D. Deyhle, & S. Villaneas (Eds.), Race is...race isn't: Critical race theory & qualitative studies in education (pp. 53-81). Boulder, CO: Westview Press.

Potts, R. G. (2003). Emancipatory education versus school-based prevention in Black communities. American Journal of Community Psychology, 31, 173-183.

Roberts, M. (2010). Toward a theory of culturally relevant critical teacher care: African American teachers' definitions and perceptions of care for African American students. Journal of Moral Education, 39(4), 449-467. doi:10.1080/03057241003754922

Rubb, S. (2006). Educational mismatches and earnings: Extensions of occupational mobility theory and evidence of human capital depreciation. Education Economics, 14(2), 135-154. doi:10.1080/09645290600622905

Sakura-Lemessy, I., Carter-Tellison, K., & Sakura-Lemessy, D. M. (2009). Curriculum placement, race, class and gender differences in wage growth amongst non-college workers: Evidence from the NELS 1988-2000 data. Journal of African American Studies, 13(4), 406-430. doi:10.1007/s12111-009-9093-6

Sanchez, C., & Wertheimer, L. (2011, July). School dropout rates add to fiscal burden. National Public Radio [Radio Transcript]. Retrieved from http://www.npr.org/2011/07/24/138653393/school-dropout-rates-adds-to-fiscal-burden?plckFindCommentKey=CommentKey:da98a6ce-2652-4da5-8a05-b64beeb80c46

Smith, D. (2007). Why expand dual-credit programs? Community College Journal of Research & Practice, 31(5), 371-387.

Sullivan, E., Larke, P. J., & Webb-Hasan, G. (2010). Using critical policy and critical race theory to examine Texas' school disciplinary policies. Race, Gender & Class, 17(1-2), 72-87.

Tate, W. F., IV. (1997a). Critical race theory and education: History, theory, and implications. Review of Research in Education, 22, 195-247.

Tate, W. F., IV. (1997b). Race-ethnicity, SES, gender, and language proficiency trends in mathematics achievement: An update. Journal for Research in Mathematics Education, 28(6), 652-679.

Texas Association of Community Colleges. (2012). Dual credit Texas: A collaboration of Texas community colleges. Retrieved from <u>http://www.dualcredittexas.org/index.php</u>

Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2006). Closing the gaps goals and targets summary. Retrieved from http://www.thecb.state.tx.us/reports/PDF/

1724.PDF?CFID=24405756&CFTOKEN=55540342

Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2008). Overview: Dual credit. Retrieved from http://www.thecb.state.tx.us/reports/PDF/1514.PDF

Texas Higher Education Coordinating Board. (2010). Closing the Gaps Progress Report 2010. Retrieved from http://www.thecb.state.tx.us/reports/PDF/

2045.PDF?CFID=32910725&CFTOKEN=22448819

Thomas, P. L. (2009). Shifting from deficit to generative practices: Addressing impoverished and all students. Teaching Children of Poverty, 1(1), 1-19. Retrieved from http://journals.sfu.ca/tcop/index.php/tcop/article/viewFile/8/1

Trimis, E. A. (2009). Closing the achievement gap: Breakthrough in the urban high school (Doctoral dissertation, University of Southern California). Retrieved from http://gradworks.umi.com/3355450.pdf

U.S. Department of Education. (2012, August 1). \$21.5 million in grants awarded to 43 states to cover fees charged to low-income students for taking AP tests. Press Release: Washington, DC. Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/news/press-releases/215-million-grants-awarded-43-states-cover-fees-charged-low-income-students-taki

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2009). Digest of Education Statistics, 2008 (NCES 2009-020). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d08/index.asp

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2011a). Digest of Education Statistics, 2010 (NCES 2011-015). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d11/tables/dt11_345.asp

U.S. Department of Education. National Center for Education Statistics. (2011b). The condition of education: Indicator 22 remedial coursework (NCES 2011-033). Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/pdf/coe_rmc.pdf

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2012). The condition of education: Postsecondary education completions. Retrieved from http://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/tables/table-eda-1.asp

VanSciver, J. H. (2006). Closing the diversity gap in Advanced Placement course enrollment. Multicultural Perspectives, 8(3), 56-58. doi:10.1207/s15327892mcp0803_10

Walker, S. A., & Pearsall, L. D. (2012). Barriers to Advanced Placement for Latino students at the high-school level. Roeper Review, 34(1), 12-25. doi:10.1080/02783193.2012.627549

Wimberly, G. L., & Noeth, R. J. (2005). College readiness begins in middle school (ACT Policy Report). Retrieved from http://inpathways.net/readiness.pdf

Yosso, T. (2005). Whose culture has capital? A critical race theory discussion of community cultural wealth. Race, Ethnicity & Education, 8(1), 69-91. doi:10.1080/1361332052000341006

Zagier, A. (2011). ACT scores show college readiness problems persist. Community College Week, 24(2), 3.

Zhao, E. (2011). High school dropout rates for minority and poor students disproportionately high. Huffington Post Education. Retrieved from http://www.huffingtonpost.com/2011/10/20/high-school-dropout

Early Childhood Program Participation and Long Term Effects on Reading Achievement among Boys and Girls Lory E. Haas [1], Debra P. Price [2], John R. Slate [3]

ABSTRACT

In this study reading scores for kindergarten through eighth grade students who participated in a Head Start program, center-based care program, or home-based care program prior to school entry were analyzed to determine effects of early childhood program participation on reading achievement for boys and girls. Through analyzing data from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten, girls consistently outperformed boys in reading with regard to each of the three early childhood programs. Furthermore, boys and girls who attended a center-based care program prior to kindergarten entry consistently performed higher in reading than boys and girls who attended Head Start or home-based care programs in kindergarten through eighth grade. Evidence was present regarding the importance of center-based care programs to future academic success of students. Implications for considerations for further research are discussed.

Academic achievement, Formal assessment measures, **Keywords:** Gender, Head Start, Center-based care programs, Homebased care programs [1] Faculty, College of Education, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas, Department of Language, Literacy and Special Populations LEH015@SHSU.EDU

[2] Faculty, College of Education, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas, Department of Language, Literacy and Special Populations EDU¬_DDP@SHSU.EDU

[3] Faculty, College of Education, Sam Houston State University, Huntsville, Texas, Department of Educational Leadership and Counseling JRS051@SHSU.EDU

INTRODUCTION

Many children enter kindergarten lacking the necessary skills to be successful academically and continually fall further behind as they matriculate through the educational system. However, researchers (e.g., Barnett, 1995, 1998; Kostelnik, Soderman, & Whiren, 2011; McPherson, 2008; Pianta, 2007) have revealed that children who attend high-quality early childhood education programs develop behavioral, academic, and social skills that enable them to achieve success in elementary school and beyond. Substantial differences in student knowledge, social development, and performance are apparent as children enter kindergarten. These differences place some children on a continuum of striving to catch up to their peers, thus giving support to the need for development and implementation of high-quality early childhood programs that provide equitable educational opportunities for all students (Barnett, Lamy, & Jung, 2005; Carlo et al., 2004; Pianta, 2007; Zimmerman, Rodriguez, Rewey, & Heidemann, 2008). Based on decades of research, researchers (e.g., Barnett, 1995, 1998; Kostelnik et al., 2011; McPherson, 2008; Pianta, 2007) have revealed positive outcomes for all children who participate in high-quality early childhood programs, especially those children considered high-risk for academic failure.

More children are enrolled in early childhood programs than ever before as the number of women joining the workforce has rapidly increased over the past decades; thus for many children, kindergarten is no longer considered the beginning of children's formal school experience (Graue, 2009). Barnett et al. (2009) reported that 30% of the nation's 4-year-olds attended a state funded preschool program in the 2008-2009 school year, and this percentage increased to 40% of children attending a state or federally funded early childhood program when including children who participated in a Head Start program. Additionally, Barnett et al. (2009) noted that according to the National Household Education Survey of 2007 (NHES) more than 30% of children were enrolled in either a private or locally funded preschool program the year before kindergarten entry. Researchers (e.g., Schulman & Barnett, 2005; Zigler, Gilliam,

Jones, 2006a) have noted positive long-term effects of early interventions for children considered high-risk for academic failure; however, little research exists regarding the effects of early childhood program participation in which student achievement has been compared based on participation in one of three types of early childhood programs: Head Start, center-based care, or home-based care.

Increased emphasis on accountability by federal and state policy makers has led educators to focus on early childhood education to provide developmentally appropriate programs which will better prepare children for future academic success (Britto, Brooks-Gunn, & Griffin, 2006; McPherson, 2008; Meisels, 2007; Pianta, 2007). According to Barnett, Friedman, Boyd, and Hustedt (2008), quality standards that enhance social, emotional, physical, and cognitive development of children before entrance into kindergarten are implemented in effective preschool programs. Zigler, Gilliam, Jones, and Malakoff (2006b) argued that the learning that occurs before entrance into formal schooling has a great impact on the learning processes and experiences that take place in later academic years. Moreover, Yaden, Rowe, and MacGillivray (1999) reviewed various studies regarding emergent literacy knowledge and processes of preschool children in home, childcare centers, and kindergarten environments, which revealed a need for further exploration as to the complexities of social, cognitive, and cultural differences among children in the different environments. With these factors in mind, undoubtedly one of the biggest problems facing the nation's educational system today is in the lack of accessibility of early childhood educational opportunities for all children and is not limited to children identified as economically disadvantaged.

The purpose of this study was to determine whether early childhood program participation prior to kindergarten entry has an effect on academic performance of students as they progress through school. Additionally, formal assessment data were analyzed as predictors of achievement through investigation of reading skill attainment by gender based on program participation. The Early Childhood Longitudinal Study-Kindergarten Class of 1998-1999 (ECLS-K) database, obtained from The National Center for Education Statistics (NCES), was analyzed to examine cognitive development of boys and girls with regard to language and literacy (reading) skills for three rounds of formal assessment data acquired from participants. Furthermore, analyses of data obtained through administration of formal measures were explored to determine if achievement was sustained or enhanced based on early childhood program participation year to year, in kindergarten, third grade, and eighth grade (NCES, Data file, User's Manual, 2009a, 2009b).

Long-term effects of early childhood program participation were investigated through analyses of formal assessment data in relation to gender for students who participated in Head Start, center-based care, or home-based care before kindergarten entry. The No Child Left Behind Act (2001) mandated states administer formal assessments yearly for accountability purposes and to determine adequate yearly progress (AYP) in student and school performance. Additionally, the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (2004) mandated schools implement a response to intervention process to identify children in need of early academic interventions and to monitor their progress on a continual basis. Given the implications of the effects of early childhood education on future academic success, differences in reading achievement among students in kindergarten through eighth grade were examined with regard to early childhood program participation.

In this study the following research question was addressed: What is the difference in reading achievement among kindergarten boys and girls in the fall of the 1998-1999 school year, third grade boys and girls in the 2001-2002 school year, and eighth grade boys and girls in the 2006-2007 school year who participated in one of three types of early childhood programs prior to kindergarten entry: Head Start, center-based care, or home-based care.

Review Of Literature

Although three groups of early childhood programs were included in this study, each of the groups consisted of varying types of programs, curriculums, settings, and theoretical perspectives that could not be examined. Therefore, from an educator's and researcher's approach to early childhood education, a constructivist perspective was employed for purposes of this study wherein the belief is that knowledge acquisition is a continually changing process in which the learner is an active participant (Bruner, 1966; Dewey, 1938/1998). Knowledge is constructed through a combination of exploration, personal experiences, and social interactions (Bruner, 1966). When children are afforded rich opportunities to participate in learning experiences that allow connections to be made between previous experiences and current activities, ideas are assimilated and knowledge is shaped. Implementing a constructivist approach to teaching and learning in early childhood education allows children to internalize information by synthesizing new and old schema to build on existing knowledge (Dewey, 1938/1998).

Each year kindergarten classes are filled with bright and shining faces of children eager to learn and become engaged, yet they enter with vastly differing degrees of skills and experiences with some children already lagging behind their peers (Wertheimer, Croan, Anderson Moore, & Hair, 2003). Some children have developed school readiness skills through extensive opportunities to learn, whereas others lack any formal educational experiences.

Further, little agreement exists among educators concerning what qualifies as school readiness; yet with increased emphasis on performance outcomes in subsequent grade levels, more attention has been given to early childhood programs and kindergarten as a means of developing skills necessary for future academic success (Bennett-Armistead, 2008).

McPherson (2008) noted that more than one-half of children who attended either a prekindergarten program or Head Start program were equipped with early learning skills which contribute to future academic success, in accordance with core academic indicators for literacy and math as set forth by the state of New York. Although focus has been placed on many factors correlated with student achievement, opportunity to learn remains most critical (Allington, 2002). In essence, children's performance in early years of schooling has been associated with later achievement because children who enter formal schooling with a strong foundation of emergent literacy skills learn to read at an earlier age and develop reading skills that enable future academic success (Downer & Pianta, 2006). Conversely, children who enter kindergarten with poor language and literacy skills tend to demonstrate poor achievement in reading through elementary school and beyond (Cunningham & Stanovich, 1997).

Before entering formal schooling, children acquire considerable language skills and knowledge through interactions with parents, siblings, and other close family members or caregivers (Morgan, 2007). Dewey (1938/1998) maintained that experiences include everything individuals encounter throughout their daily lives and that focusing attention on experiences translates into learning; therefore, the more opportunities young children have to participate in an array of experiences, greater amounts of actual learning takes place versus simply learned performance. Children enter school with the expectation they will succeed; however, students whose language and ethnicity are not highly represented in the school's population experience varying degrees of success academically, often resulting in an achievement gap (Risko & Walker-Dalhouse, 2007).

Furthermore, children with limited access to reading materials and children who are not read to have less exposure to vocabulary outside of daily conversations. This leads to fewer opportunities to learn more sophisticated language necessary to expanding knowledge of the world around them (Neuman, 2006). This argument is consistent with Allington's (2002) view that "the richer the language a preschooler experiences, the richer the child's language development" (p. 81). According to Carlo et al. (2004), a persistent gap in academic performance between groups of students presents both an intellectual and practical challenge.

Head Start

In 1964, Head Start, a federally funded early childhood program, was developed and implemented to provide comprehensive support to children and families living below the poverty threshold. President Lyndon B. Johnson supported Head Start programs as a means of response to the vast number of children living in poverty and lacking necessary health and nutritional services (Head Start Bureau [HSB], 2009). The War on Poverty campaign offered early childhood program opportunities to the growing number of children from low-income families and addressed cognitive, social, behavioral, and physical development of children.

Though benefits of the program have been demonstrated as noted by Barnett, Brown, and Shore (2004), standards for Head Start have not risen to meet the levels necessary to improve children's potential for success in school, as indicated by current research on components of early childhood programs. Barnett et al. (2004) further detailed factors that may impact program effectiveness, such as established expectations of qualifications for teachers, substantially lower salaries for Head Start teachers than public school educators, and less spending per child than public school programs.

Additionally, the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services (2005) reported in the Head Start Impact Study little to no statistical significance in cognitive and social development of 3-year-old children, yet moderate statistical significance with regard to the domains of health and parent participation. Included in the study were two groups, program and no-program, of which the majority of children in the non-Head Start group participated only in home-based care. Participants in both groups scored well below the average of all U. S. children on measures of achievement; however, at the end of the year children in the program group had closed the gap by nearly half, whereas non-Head Start participants lagged far behind. Benefits for participants were noted, although the gains were far less than expected when compared to achievement of children in programs that employ high-quality standards (Barnett et al., 2004).

The U. S. Department of Health and Human Services (2010) revealed similar findings as in the previously mentioned study regarding the benefits of Head Start programs for 3- and 4-year-olds. As noted in the Head Start Impact Study: Final Report (2010), a nationally representative group of nearly 5000 children who participated in the study were assigned to a control or comparison group. These children were followed from 2002-2006, through the end of first grade. Children in the comparison group were allowed to enroll in other early childhood programs, providing a variety of options for this group in comparison to the group who participated in Head Start. Stronger

language and literacy skills were demonstrated by children upon completion of the Head Start program before kindergarten entry; however, significant impacts were not indicated in math skills or prewriting abilities. At the end of first grade, academic performance of Head Start children was minimally statistically significantly higher in only one cognitive ability area, specifically, vocabulary. Greater impacts of Head Start participation were noted in the area of health, whereas more children received dental care and overall health improvement of participants was evidenced. With regard to the social-emotional domain, children in the lowest quartile academically and Black children displayed the most substantial benefits of participation in Head Start; the same benefits were not notable for other subgroups. Most importantly, as revealed in the report by the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services (2010), was the absence of sustained benefits for Head Start participants as they progress through school. Researchers disclosed that inconsistencies among Head Start programs are apparent in key instructional areas, particularly in the development of early language, literacy, and math skills.

Home Based Care

Providers of childcare are essential in helping to promote child development during the most impressionable years of a child's life, as early life experiences are critical to the development process (Smith, 2006). When making the decision with reference to center-based care versus home-based care, parents must examine many factors. As reported by Wood and Bassou (2008), in-home child care can offer many benefits to parents and children, such as allowing siblings to be together throughout the day, more flexibility in hours to meet the employment schedule of parents, and providing services at substantially reduced costs in comparison to center-based programs. Further, researchers revealed that home-based care helps develop stronger relationships between the caregiver and child, just as between parent and child, as often caregivers become somewhat of an extension of the family (Prescott, 1974; Wood & Bassou, 2008).

Zissner (2001) reported in an ethnographic study of families in a working-class neighborhood that many of the home-based childcare settings were unregulated and most often provided by relatives free of charge. Additionally, Zissner revealed that the development of a relationship of trust was more important for parents in selecting childcare than whether caregivers were licensed or not. Prescott (1973) compared three types of early childhood programs and revealed that the ideal setting for children from middle-class homes was a combination of in-home care and preschool, as children were provided nurturing and individual attention, as well as opportunities for socialization and cognitive development.

Families in rural areas frequently selected home-based care because of a shortage of childcare center options within the community and lack of flexibility in hours of operation to meet the needs of families with varying work schedules (Oliveira, 2007; Smith, 2006). As further noted by Smith, rural families relied more on relatives or non-relatives to provide in-home care versus center-based facilities whereas urban mothers, especially single mothers, most often depended on relatives to care for their children. Schulman and Barnett (2005) reported that the number of licensed childcare centers in middle-income neighborhoods was only slightly greater than in low-income areas and a shortage of spaces was available based on the population of children needing services. Thus many families, both lower and middle-income, had no other alternatives than home-based care options.

The most important factors indicated by parents in selecting home-based care over center-based facilities were the provision of a nurturing home environment where their child's needs would be met more readily due to a lower child to adult ratio, familial cultural patterns with regard to child care, and opportunity to experience emotional security and stability (Oliveira, 2007; Prescott, 1974; Smith, 2006; Wood & Bassou, 2008). Parents who revealed their preference for home-based care expressed that the emotional well-being of the child was more important in the early years than cognitive development and when children participated in a nurturing and secure environment, they would flourish when entering formal schooling (Prescott, 1974; Smith, 2006; Wood & Bassou, 2008; Zissner, 2001). Though the emotional benefits of home-based care are notable, caregivers need tools and training to help stimulate children's overall development, including behavioral, social, emotional, and cognitive skills to enhance school readiness and promote future academic success (Oliveira, 2007; Smith, 2006; Wood & Bassou, 2008). According to Oliveira (2007), more important in children's healthy cognitive and emotional development is the quality of childcare provided and not whether the setting is home-based or center-based.

Longitudinal Early Childhood Program Studies

Decades of research exist detailing the long-term effects of early childhood program participation. Most notably are three of the most renowned longitudinal studies of long-term benefits of early childhood program interventions. Each program provided high-quality educational opportunities for enrichment to children from economically disadvantaged families and who were considered at-risk. The three studies are The High/Scope Perry Pre-school Program (PPP), The Carolina Abecedarian Project (ABC), and The Chicago Child-Parent Center Program (CPC). Design of each program placed emphasis on differing components in relation to early childhood interventions.

Curriculum served as the focus of the PPP wherein child initiated learning was the goal (Schweinhart, Barnes, & Weikart, 1993). On the other hand, the ABC program provided the most intensive program which included both fullday and year-round services for five years (Campbell & Ramey, 1995). However, the CPC provided the most comprehensive center-based program services, which included parent and family support services, health care professionals, and various other specialists to meet student needs (Reynolds, 2000). Although the programs varied in several aspects, common aspects among each included small class sizes, emphasis on development of language and cognitive skills, and satisfactory qualifications among teachers, as well as adequate compensation for teachers (Zigler et al., 2006a). Most important were the long-term benefits of high-quality preschool programs noted by researchers for each of the studies.

Revealed in the results of the three studies were many long-term benefits of early childhood program interventions with regard to participants; however, it should be noted that these model programs were specifically designed to meet the needs of children at-risk for academic failure. The same benefits may not be indicated for children participating in less intense programs (Currie, 2001; Zigler et al., 2006a). Although it may be that most early childhood programs currently do not maintain the same level of intensity as the three model programs previously discussed, the long-term benefits and the effectiveness of program participation cannot be denied. Findings of each of the three longitudinal studies support the need for the development of high-quality early education programs that better prepare children for academic and life-long success. Additionally, the information provided, based on the results of the three studies, serve as evidence of the positive outcomes of early childhood education interventions for children at-risk and should also encourage policymakers to realize that every child may experience similar success if they are fortunate enough to have early educational opportunities (Barnett et al., 2005; Zigler et al., 2006a). Whereas the benefits of these programs are clear, it should be noted that outcomes only applied to children from low socioeconomic status and almost exclusively children identified as Black.

Few longitudinal studies have been conducted wherein researchers reveal such comprehensive results as noted in the three studies previously discussed. Although, many researchers have investigated academic performance specific to boys and girls, various ethnic groups, and socioeconomic status in relation to early childhood program participation, there is a lack of research wherein achievement is compared longitudinally based on specific program participation prior to kindergarten entry.

METHOD

Data were obtained from the National Center for Education Statistics, specifically; the ECLS-K for the purposes of this study. Participants in the study were selected as a representative sample of the national population of kindergarteners in the school year 1998-1999; it does not allow researchers to make estimates about third, fifth, or eighth graders (NCES User's Manual, 2006, 2009b). Data from the ECLS-K regarding reading achievement for three rounds of data to be examined were extracted from the ECLS-K Public Use Electronic Codebook (ECB) software. Readers are referred to the ECLS-K User's Manuals for additional information about sampling methods, calculations, and use of weighting (NCES User's Manual, 2006, 2009b).

RESULTS

A multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was conducted for the three rounds of data collected through formal measures of assessment to ascertain the extent to which gender differences were present in reading achievement for kindergarten through eighth grade students as a function of early childhood program participation. Although Box's *M* indicated that the assumption of homogeneity of variance was violated, MANOVAs were performed to answer the research question previously stated due to the robustness of this statistical procedure (Field, 2009). Additionally, Levene's Test of Equality of Error Variances was violated for each of the MANOVAs performed, with the exception of reading *T*-scores in relation to the variables of center-based care and gender for the first round of data analyzed, reading *T*-scores in relation to the variables of Head Start and gender for the second round of data analyzed.

Reading Analyses For Kindergarten Students By Gender, Fall Of 1998

The first MANOVA, conducted for kindergarten students, revealed no statistically significant interaction between gender and Head Start, $\Lambda = .99$, p = .59. The main effect for gender was statistically significant, $\Lambda = .99$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .01$, as well as for Head Start participation, $\Lambda = .97$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .03$, small effect sizes (Cohen, 1988). Follow-up ANOVAs revealed a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 2076) = 12.70, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .03$, trivial and small effect sizes, respectively

(Cohen, 1988). However, no statistically significant difference for reading as a function of gender and Head Start participation was noted, F(1, 2076) = 0.38, p = .54.

A second MANOVA conducted for kindergarten students for the initial round of data collection revealed no statistically significant interaction between gender and center-based care, $\Lambda = 1.00$, p = .83. The main effect for gender was statistically significant, $\Lambda = .99$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .01$, as well as for center-based care, $\Lambda = .97$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .03$, small effect sizes (Cohen, 1988). Follow-up ANOVAs revealed a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 7918) = 45.44, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .006$, and for center-based care, F(1, 7918) = 212.00, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .03$, trivial and small effect sizes, respectively (Cohen, 1988). A statistically significant difference was not revealed for reading as a function of gender and center-based care, F(1, 7918) = 0.37, p = .55.

According to the results of the third MANOVA, a statistically significant interaction between gender and homebased care was noted for kindergarten students in the first round of data collection, $\Lambda = .99$, p = .003, $\eta^2 = .002$, a trivial effect size (Cohen, 1988). The main effect for gender was statistically significant, $\Lambda = .98$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .02$, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). However, no statistically significant effect for home-based care was revealed, $\Lambda = .99$, p = .13. Examination of univariate analysis of variance procedures revealed the presence of a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 7419) = 64.20, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .01$, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988), but not for homebased care, F(1, 7419) = 2.15, p = .14. Additionally, a statistically significant difference was revealed for reading as a function of gender and home-based care, F(1, 7419) = 9.36, p = .002, $\eta^2 = .001$, a trivial effect size (Cohen, 1988). Presented in Table 1 are the descriptive statistics for reading and early childhood program participation.

 Table 1: Descriptive Statistics for Reading Achievement by Gender and Program Participation

 for Kindergarten Students in the Fall of 1998

Gender/Participation	n	М	SD
Boys			
Head Start	764	43.90	7.93
Center-based care	3248	51.93	10.05
Home-based care	1812	49.01	10.03
Girls			
Head Start	783	45.68	8.22
Center-based care	3434	53.81	9.70
Home-based care	1942	51.62	10.23

Reading Analyses For Third Grade Students By Gender, 2001-2002 School Year

The first MANOVA, conducted for third grade students, revealed a statistically significant interaction between gender and Head Start, $\Lambda = 1.00$, p = .004, $\eta^2 = .005$, a trivial effect size (Cohen, 1988). The main effect for gender was statistically significant, $\Lambda = .96$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .04$, as well as for Head Start participation, $\Lambda = .94$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .06$, small and moderate effect sizes, respectively (Cohen, 1988). Follow-up ANOVAs indicated a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 2057) = 14.36, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .007$, and for Head Start participation, F(1, 2057) = 93.71, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .04$, trivial and small effect sizes, respectively (Cohen, 1988). However, no statistically significant difference for reading as a function of gender and Head Start participation was noted, F(1, 2057) = 2.40, p = .12.

A second MANOVA conducted for third grade students for the fifth round of data collection, revealed no statistically significant interaction between gender and center-based care, $\Lambda = 1.00$, p = .93. The main effect for gender was statistically significant, $\Lambda = .96$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .04$, as well as for center-based care, $\Lambda = .97$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .04$, small effect sizes (Cohen, 1988). Follow-up ANOVA procedures revealed a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 6169) = 16.34, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .003$, and center-based care, F(1, 6169) = 204.55, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .03$, trivial and small effect sizes, respectively (Cohen, 1988). However, a statistically significant difference was not present for reading as a function of gender and center-based care, F(1, 6169) = 0.07, p = .79.

According to the results of the third MANOVA conducted in relation to third grade students, a statistically significant interaction between gender and home-based care was revealed for the fifth round of data collection, $\Lambda = 1.00$, p = .004, $\eta^2 = .002$, a trivial effect size (Cohen, 1988). The main effect for gender was statistically significant, $\Lambda = .94$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .06$, a moderate effect size (Cohen, 1988). However, no statistically significant effect for home-based care was revealed, $\Lambda = 1.00$, p = .23. Examination of univariate analysis of variance procedures indicated the

presence of a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 5598) = 35.43, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .006$, a trivial effect size (Cohen, 1988), but not for home-based care, F(1, 5598) = 1.59, p = .21. A statistically significant difference was present for reading as a function of gender and home-based care, F(1, 5598) = 9.17, p = .002, $\eta^2 = .002$, a trivial effect size (Cohen, 1988). Presented in Table 2 are the descriptive statistics for reading and program participation.

 Table 2: Descriptive Statistics for Reading Achievement by Gender and Program Participation

 for Third Grade Students in the 2001-2002 School Year

Gender/Participation	п	М	SD
Boys			
Head Start	552	44.37	9.49
Center-based care	2690	52.31	9.27
Home-based care	1317	49.10	9.89
Girls			
Head Start	638	46.70	9.37
Center-based care	2453	53.65	8.48
Home-based care	1312	51.41	9.07

Reading Analyses For Eighth Grade Students By Gender, 2006-2007 School Year

The first MANOVA, conducted for eighth grade students, revealed a statistically significant interaction between gender and Head Start, $\Lambda = .99$, p = .01, $\eta^2 = .01$, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). The main effect for gender was statistically significant, $\Lambda = .98$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .03$, as well as for Head Start participation, $\Lambda = .91$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .09$, small and moderate effect sizes, respectively (Cohen, 1988). Follow-up ANOVAs revealed a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 763) = 13.34, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .02$, and for Head Start participation, F(1, 763) = 68.51, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .08$, small and moderate effect sizes, respectively (Cohen, 1988). Additionally, a statistically significant difference for reading as a function of gender and Head Start participation was noted, F(1, 763) = 7.72, p = .006, $\eta^2 = .01$, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988).

A second MANOVA conducted for eighth grade students for the seventh round of data collection revealed the presence of a statistically significant interaction between gender and center-based care, $\Lambda = 1.99$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .01$, as well as for the main effect for gender, $\Lambda = 1.00$, p = .003, $\eta^2 = .004$, and for center-based care, $\Lambda = .97$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .03$, trivial and small effect sizes (Cohen, 1988). Follow-up ANOVAs revealed a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 2607) = 7.35, p = .007, $\eta^2 = .003$, and for center-based care, F(1, 2607) = 69.44, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .03$, trivial and small effect sizes, respectively (Cohen, 1988). In addition, a statistically significant difference was yielded for gender and center-based care, F(1, 2607) = 6.14, p = .01, $\eta^2 = .002$, a trivial effect size (Cohen, 1988).

According to the results of the third MANOVA conducted in relation to eighth grade students, a statistically significant interaction between gender and home-based care was not present for the seventh round of data collection, $\Lambda = 1.00$, p = .10. The main effect for gender was statistically significant, $\Lambda = .98$, p < .001, $\eta^2 = .02$, a small effect size (Cohen, 1988). However, no statistically significant effect for home-based care was revealed, $\Lambda = 1.00$, p = .24. Examination of univariate analysis of variance procedures indicated a statistically significant gender effect for reading, F(1, 2322) = 11.33, p = .001, $\eta^2 = .005$, a trivial effect size (Cohen, 1988), but not for home-based care, F(1, 2322) = 0.90, p = .34, as well as for reading as a function of gender and home-based care, F(1, 2322) = 0.50, p = .48. Noted in Table 3 are the descriptive statistics for reading and program participation by gender.

Gender/Participation	п	М	SD
Boys			
Head Start	171	42.60	8.09
Center-based care	1109	53.21	9.84
Home-based care	578	50.17	10.83

Table 3: Descriptive Statistics for Reading Achievement by Gender and Program Participation for Eighth Grade Students in the 2006-2007 School Year

Girls			
Head Start	219	47.01	10.23
Center-based care	1148	53.34	9.48
Home-based care	596	51.83	9.44

Analyses of data for the students in kindergarten revealed girls outperformed boys in reading for each of the three early childhood programs. Additionally, boys and girls who participated in Head Start scored substantially lower than non-participants in Head Start, as well as lower than boys and girls who participated in the other two programs. Furthermore, boys and girls who attended center-based programs outperformed all other groups in reading, with kindergarten girls who attended center-based care programs scoring the highest in academic performance. A smaller gap in scores between boys and girls who participated in home-based care was yielded for reading.

At third grade level, girls outperformed boys in reading for each of the three early childhood programs. Moreover, girls and boys who attended center-based care programs achieved the highest scores in reading, and boys and girls who attended Head Start scored far below students who attended center-based or home-based care programs. Boys who attended Head Start continued to perform considerably lower in reading than children in all other groups.

Consistent with previous rounds of data analysis, eighth grade results indicated that girls outperformed boys in reading for each of the three early childhood programs. Moreover, girls and boys who attended center-based care programs performed similarly in reading and considerably outperformed boys and girls who attended Head Start. For the last round of data analysis reading scores for boys who attended Head Start remained considerably lower than students in all other groups. In addition, girls who attended Head Start and home-based care programs outperformed boys, whereas boys who attended Head Start performed far below students in the other groups.

CONCLUSION

Findings of the present study support previous research regarding gender differences in achievement. As reported by the U. S. Department of Education (2006) in an analysis of gender differences in reading achievement among children in 35 countries, including the United States, girls consistently outperformed boys in reading. Further, according to Benbow (1988), Callahan and Reis (1996), and Lubinski, Benbow, and Sanders (1993) girls demonstrate stronger skills in language arts, whereas boys exhibit stronger skills in mathematical reasoning. In a more recent study, Haas and Slate (2010) documented that girls in kindergarten through fifth grade outperformed boys in reading.

Furthermore, Mucherah and Yoder (2008) and Logan and Johnston (2009) suggested that gender was a key factor influencing motivation to read wherein girls read more often for aesthetic reasons and demonstrated better reading comprehension skills than boys. The Education Alliance (2007) reported that girls performed higher on reading assessments, whereas Benbow (1988) revealed that boys continually outperformed girls in math achievement, and girls enjoyment in math decreased drastically beyond the fourth grade. Moreover, in an analysis of college readiness skills of girls and boys, Combs et al. (2010) documented statistically significant gender differences in reading and math performance; specifically, girls outperformed boys in reading, whereas boys scored higher in math. These findings, along with results of the present study, indicated differences in reading and math performance, were present in the earliest years of schooling, and continued as children progressed to upper grades and beyond.

Children who are afforded opportunities to participate in positive early educational experiences develop a stronger academic foundation for subsequent life-long success than children who are not afforded such opportunities (Kostelnik et al., 2011). Based on decades of research, researchers (e.g., Barnett, 1995, 1998; Kostelnik et al., 2011; McPherson, 2008; Pianta, 2007) have revealed positive outcomes for children who participate in high-quality early childhood programs, especially those children considered high-risk for academic failure. Children from lower income families enter school far less prepared than children from more affluent socioeconomic standing (Karoly, Kilburn, & Cannon, 2005; Peisner-Feinberg et al., 1999). However, many children from middle-income homes enter school less prepared socially and academically; therefore, academic readiness is not just a concern for children living in poverty (Barnett et al., 2004).

In an era of amplified accountability and high stakes testing, requirements as set forth by the NCLB legislation for all children to reach proficiency levels in reading and math by the school year 2013-2014 has led educators and policymakers to reexamine and restructure early childhood education programs as a means of addressing academic deficits at the earliest of ages (NCLB, 2001; Schwanenflugel et al., 2010; Stipek, 2006). Moreover, researchers (e.g., Barnett et al., 2005; Stegelin, 2004) have suggested the positive effects of student participation in high-quality early childhood programs are beneficial for children's future academic success as well as cost effective for economic growth. As noted by Barnett et al. (2009), approximately 74% of children in the United States were served in an early childhood program the year prior to kindergarten entry; therefore, consistency of quality standards among various programs should be considered for the provision of equitable educational opportunities for all children (Barnett et al., 2005; Stegelin, 2004).

Based on four decades of research, the positive effects of early childhood program participation and early intervention on the academic success of children is well documented; however, millions of children continue to be underserved or not served at all in a quality early education program (deVries, 2007; Zigler et al., 2006a). Although many children are served through state-funded preschool programs or the federally funded Head Start program, numerous children continue to lack the opportunity to attend a quality program due to limited funding, which often forces a ceiling to be placed on enrollment for only those children considered high-risk for academic failure.

With regard to the current study, findings support previous research conducted by the U. S. Department of Health and Human Services (2005, 2010) in which sustained academic benefits were absent for Head Start participants as they progressed through school. Additionally, as noted by Gottlieb (2002), children from disadvantaged homes showed greater academic gains when they were not segregated from their more socioeconomically advantaged peers. Furthermore, Schechter (2002) shared results in which children who attended an economically integrated preschool program acquired six times the gains in vocabulary than children who participated in an economically segregated program.

With 40 states offering prekindergarten programs and only three states offering a universal program to all families who choose to participate, it is clear that geography and economic status are considerable factors in early childhood program participation for numerous children (Barnett et al., 2009). As indicated in the findings of the present study, children who attended center-based care programs began kindergarten with stronger reading skills, and achievement was sustained through the eighth grade in comparison to academic performance of participants in Head Start or home-based care. Furthermore, the consistency of the results should encourage policymakers to support state efforts to offer a universal preschool program for all children as a means of addressing inequities in early educational opportunities. Finally, policies might be considered with regard to funding a universal preschool program wherein quality standards are consistent and a developmentally appropriate curriculum is implemented to better prepare our nation's children versus the multiplicity of opportunities currently available (Kostelnik et al., 2011; Zigler et al., 2006a).

With increased emphasis on student achievement and accountability, this study establishes a need for further research regarding the benefits of quality early childhood programs for all children. Additional research should be conducted to investigate quality standards of programs where student achievement is sustained or enhanced over time. Researchers may employ the national quality standards checklist set forth by The National Institute of Early Education Research to compare program quality (Barnett et al., 2009). A second recommendation for future research is to examine the curriculum implemented in various early childhood programs, along with methods of assessment and evaluation. According to Kostelnik et al. (2011) and Zigler et al. (2006a), curriculum should be developmentally appropriate and address the holistic needs of the child. Further, examination of various curriculums might reveal if a program is an extension of kindergarten curriculum or if the curriculum is designed to build skills necessary for success when entering formal schooling.

REFERENCES

Allington, R. L. (2002). Big brother and the national reading curriculum: How ideology trumped evidence. Portsmouth, NH: Heinemann.

Barnett, W. S. (1995). Long-term effects of early childhood programs on cognitive and school outcomes. The Future of Children, 5(3), 25-35. doi:10.2307/1602366

Barnett, W. S. (1998). Long-term cognitive and academic effects of early childhood education on children in poverty. Preventive Medicine, 27, 204-207. doi:1006/pmed.1998.0275

Barnett, W. S., Brown, K., & Shore, R. (2004). The universal vs. targeted debate: Should the United States have preschool for all? Preschool Policy Matters, 6, 1-16.

Barnett, W. S., Epstein, D. J., Friedman, A. H., Boyd, J. S., & Hustedt, J. T. (2008). The state of preschool 2008: State preschool yearbook. New Brunswick, NJ: National Institute for Early Education Research.

Barnett, W. S., Epstein, D. J., Friedman, A. H., Boyd, J. S., Sansanelli, A. H., & Hustedt, J. T. (2009). The state of preschool 2009: State preschool yearbook. New Brunswick, NJ: National Institute for Early Education Research.

Barnett, W. S., Lamy, C., & Jung. K. (2005). The effects of state prekindergarten programs on young children's school readiness in five states. New Brunswick, NJ: The National Institute for Early Education Research. Barnett, W. S., Robin, K. B., Hustedt, J. T., & Schulman, K. L. (2003). The state of preschool 2003: State preschool yearbook. New Brunswick, NJ: National Institute for Early Education Research.

Benbow, C. P. (1988). Sex differences in mathematical reasoning in intellectually talented preadolescents: Their nature, effects and possible causes. Behavioral and Brain Sciences, 11(2), 169-232. doi:10.1017/S0140525X00049244

Bennett-Armistead, S. (2008). Are we there yet?: Parents' perceptions of kindergarten readiness (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 1534636241)

Britto, P. R., Brooks-Gunn, J., & Griffin, T. M. (2006). Maternal reading and teaching patterns: Associations with school readiness in low-income African American families. Reading Research Quarterly, 41(1), 68-89. doi:10.1598/RRQ.41.1.3

Bruner, J. S. (1966). Toward a Theory of Instruction. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.

Campbell, F. A., & Ramey, C. T. (1995). Cognitive school outcomes for high risk African American students at middle adolescence: Positive effects of early intervention. American Educational Research Journal, 32, 743-772.

Carlo, M. S., August, D., McLaughlin, B., Snow, C. E., Dressler, C., Lippman, D. N.,, ...White, C. E. (2004). Closing the gap: Addressing the vocabulary needs of English-language learners in bilingual and mainstream classrooms. Reading Research Quarterly, 39(2), 188-215. doi:10.1598/RRQ.39.2.3

Callahan, C. M., & Reis, S. M. (1996). Gifted girls, remarkable women. In K. D. Arnold, K. D. Noble, & R. F. Subotnik (Eds.), Remarkable women: Perspectives on females' talent development (pp. 171-192). Cresskill, NJ: Hampton Press.

Cohen, J. (1988). Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences (2nd ed.). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.

Combs, J. P., Slate, J. R., Moore, G. W., Bustamante, R., Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Edmonson, S. (2010). Gender differences in college preparedness: A statewide study. The Urban Review, 42(5). doi:10.1007/s11256-009-0138-x

Cunningham, A. E., & Stanovich, K. E. (1997). Early reading acquisition and its relation to reading experience and ability 10 years later. Developmental Psychology, 33(6), 934-945. doi:10.1037/0012-1649.33.6.934

Currie, J. (2001). Early childhood intervention programs: What do we know? Journal of Economic Perspectives, 15(2), 213-238. doi:10.1257/jep.15.2.213

deVries-White, D. L. (2007). Program options and their effectiveness on the progress of school readiness skills for social economically disadvantaged children (Doctoral dissertation).

Dewey, J. (1938/1998). Experience and education: The 60th anniversary edition. West Lafayette, IN: Kappa Delta Pi.

Downer, J. T., & Pianta, R. C. (2006). Academic and cognitive functioning in first grade: Associations with earlier home and child care predictors and with concurrent home and classroom experiences. School Psychology Review, 35(1), 11-30.

Field, A. (2009). Discovering statistics using SPSS (Introducing statistical methods). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Gottleib, A. (2002). Economically segregated schools hurt poor kids, study shows. The Term Paper, 1(2), 1-6.

Graue, E. (2009). Reimagining kindergarten: Restoring a developmental approach when accountability demands are pushing formal instruction on the youngest learners. School Administrator, 66(10), 10-15.

Haas, L., & Slate, J. R. (2010). Gender differences in reading and math among K-5 students. Graduate Research Journal, 2, 1-17.

Head Start Bureau (HSB). (2009). Information about Head Start, program, services, research, and statistics. Administration for Children and Families, U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, Retrieved from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/ohs/

Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act (IDEIA). (2004). H. R. 1350. Retrieved from http://www.wrightslaw.com/idea/law/htm.

Karoly, L. A., Kilburn, M. R., & Cannon, J. S. (2005). Early childhood interventions: Proven results, future promise. Santa Monica, CA: Rand.

Kostelnik, M. J., Soderman, A. K., & Whiren, A. (2011). Developmentally appropriate curriculum: Best practices in early childhood education (5th ed.). Upper Saddle River: NJ: Pearson Education, Inc.

Logan, S., & Johnston, R. (2009). Gender differences in reading ability and attitudes: Examining where these differences lie. Journal of Research in Reading, 32(2), 199-216. doi:10.1111/j.1467-9817.2008.01389.x

Lubinski, D., Benbow, C. P., & Sanders, C. E. (1993). Reconceptualizing gender differences in achievement among the gifted. In K. A. Heller, F. J. Mönks, & A. H. Passow (Eds.), International handbook of research and development of giftedness and talent (pp. 693-707). Oxford, England: Pergamon.

McPherson, N. (2008). The effects of preschool programs on school readiness (Doctoral dissertation). Available from ProQuest Dissertations and Theses database. (UMI No. 1539489541)

Meisels, S. J. (2007). Accountability in early childhood, no easy answers. In Pianta, R. C., Cox, M. J., & Snow, K. L. (Eds.), School readiness & the transition to kindergarten in the era of accountability (pp. 31-47). Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing.

Morgan, H. (2007). Early childhood education: History, theory, and practice. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.

Mucherah, W., & Yoder, A. (2008). Motivation for reading and middle school students' performance on standardized testing in reading. Reading Psychology, 29(3), 214-235. doi:10.1080/027-02710801982159

National Center for Education Statistics. (2001). Early childhood longitudinal study, kindergarten class of 1998-1999 base year public-use data files and electronic codebook [User's Manual]. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

National Center for Education Statistics. (2006). Early childhood longitudinal study, kindergarten class of 1998-1999 fifth grade public-use data files and electronic codebook [User's Manual]. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

National Center for Education Statistics. (2009a). Early childhood longitudinal study, kindergarten class of 1998-1999 [Data file]. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

National Center for Education Statistics. (2009b). Early childhood longitudinal study, kindergarten class of 1998-1999 eight grade and k-8 full sample public-use data files and electronic codebooks [User's Manual]. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, National Center for Education Statistics.

No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB). (2001). Public Law 107-110. United States government, Retrieved from http://www.ed.gov/nclb/landing.jhtml

Neuman, S. (2006). The knowledge gap: Implications for early education. In D. K.Dickinson & S. B. Neuman (Eds.), Handbook of early literacy research: Vol. 2 (pp. 29-40). New York, NY: Guilford Press.

Oliveira, P. (2007). Beyond child care centers: The essential role of home-based child care in Connecticut's early care and education system. Connecticut Voices for Children, 1-12. Retrieved from http://www.ctkidslink.org/publications/ece07homebasedcare.pdf

Onwuegbuzie, A. J., & Daniel, L. G. (2002). Uses and misuses of the correlation coefficient. Research in the Schools, 9(1), 73-90.

Peisner-Feinberg, E. S., Burchinal, M. R., Clifford, R. M., Culkin, M. L., Howes, C., Kagan, S. L.,Zelazo, J. (1999). The children of the cost, quality, and outcomes study go to school [Executive summary]. Chapel Hill, NC: Frank Porter Graham Child Development Center. Retrieved from http://www.fpg.unc.edu/~ncedl/PDFs/CQO-tr.pdf

Pianta, R. C. (2007). Early education in transition. In R. C. Pianta, M. J. Cox, & K. L. Snow (Eds.), School readiness & the transition to kindergarten in the era of accountability

(pp. 3-9). Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing.

Prescott, E. (1973). A comparison of three types of day care and nursery school-home care. Washington, DC: Office of Child Development. Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED078910)

Prescott, E. (1974). Is day care as good as a good home? Washington, DC: Office of Child Development. Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED099099)

Reynolds, A. J. (2000). Success in early intervention: The Chicago child-parent centers. Lincoln, NB: University of Nebraska Press. Retrieved from ERIC database. (ED443532)

Risko, V. J., & Walker-Dalhouse, D. (2007). Tapping students' cultural funds of knowledge to address the achievement gap. The Reading Teacher, 61(1), 98-100.doi:10.1598/RT.61.1.12

Schechter, C. (2002). Language growth in low income children in economically integrated versus segregated preschool programs. Wes Hartford, CT: St. Joseph's College.

Schulman, K., & Barnett, W. S. (2005). The benefits of prekindergarten for middle-income children. [Policy report.] New Brunswick, NJ: National Institute of Early Education Research. Retrieved from http://nieer.org/docs/?DocID=117

Schwanenflugel, P. J., Hamilton, C. E., Neuharth-Pritchett, S., Adelaida Restrepo, M., Bradley, B. A., & Webb, M.Y. (2010) Paved for Success: An evaluation of a comprehensive preliteracy program for four-year-old children. Journal of Literacy Research, 42(3), 227-275. doi:10.1080/1086296X.2010.503551

Schweinhart, L. J., Barnes, H. V., & Weikart, D. R. (1993). Significant benefits: The High/Scope Perry Pre-school study through age 27. In N. Frost (Ed.), Child welfare: Major themes in health and social welfare (pp. 9-29). New York, NY: Routledge.

Smith, K. (2006). Rural families choose home-based care for their preschool-aged children [Policy Brief No. 3]. University of New Hampshire, NH: Carsey Institute. Retrieved from http://www.carseyinstitute.unh.edu/publications/PB_childcare_06.pdf

Stegelin, D. (2004). Early childhood education. In F. P. Schargel & J. Smink (Eds.), Helping students graduate: A strategic approach to dropout prevention (pp. 115123.). Larchmont, NY: Eye on Education.

Stipek, D. (2006). No child left behind comes to preschool. The Elementary School Journal, 106(5), 455-465. doi:10.1086/505440

The Education Alliance. (2007, Winter). Gender differences in reading achievement: Policy implication and best practices (Research summary), Charleston, WV: The Claude Worthington Benedum Foundation. Retrieved from http://www.educationalliance.org/downloads/Gender-Differences.pdf

U.S. Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistics. (2006). The Condition of Education 2006 (NCES 2006-071). Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing Office.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2005). Head Start Impact Study: First Year Findings. Washington, DC: Administration for Children and Families Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation.

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2010, January). Head Start Impact Study: Final Report [Executive summary]. Washington, DC: Administration for Children and Families Office of Planning, Research, and Evaluation.

Wood, S. J., & Bassou, A. A. (2008, July). Benefits of home childcare: "I wouldn't just go to a stranger." Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Sociological Association Meeting, Boston, MA.

Wertheimer, R., Croan, T., Anderson Moore, K., & Hair, E. C. (2003). Attending kindergarten and already behind: A statistical portrait of vulnerable young children. Child Trends Research Brief, 1-8. Retrieved from http://www.childtrends.org

Yaden, D. B., Rowe, D. W., & MacGillivray, L. (1999). Emergent literacy: A polyphony of perspectives. (Research Report No. 1-005). University of Michigan: Center for the Improvement of Early Reading Achievement.

Zigler, E., Gilliam, W. S., & Jones, S. M. (2006a). A vision for universal preschool education. New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Zigler, E., Gilliam, W. S., Jones, S. M., & Malakoff, M. (2006b). The need for universal preschool access for children not living in poverty. In E. Zigler, W. S. Gilliam, & S. M. Jones (Eds.), A vision for universal preschool education (pp. 89-106). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.

Zimmerman, S. S., Rodriguez, M. C., Rewey, K. L., & Heidemann, S. L. (2008). The impact of an early literacy initiative on the long term academic success of diverse students. Journal of Education for Students Placed at Risk, 13, 452-481. doi:10.1080/10824660802427744

Zissner, C. (2001). Child care within the family. The Future of Children, 11(1), 122-127. doi:10.2307/1602815



Emile: An Insigh into Education and Citizenship in Pluralistic Society

[1], Dr., Philosophy of Education Indiana University

Rasit Celik[1]

ABSTRACT

This article focuses on the educational aspects of Rousseau's various works, focusing on the idea of creating a rational citizen. With special reference to Emile and the Social Contract, I argue, beyond the discussion of 'man or citizen,' that a general educational ideal which aims at creating free and rational members of an ideal society may be inferred from Rousseau's educational, social, and political concerns. Rousseau's concepts such as that of a rational being and freedom are examined to achieve a sense of how an individual becomes a citizen who reasonably and willingly appreciates the general will. Finally, some suggestions are drawn with respect to education for a pluralistic society that may operate under a general will.

Keywords: education, citizenship, pluralistic society

INTRODUCTION

Rousseau's educational ideas have been discussed by various thinkers from different perspectives. Rousseau's Emile, for example, has been discussed as a book that shows the natural goodness of man and as a book that elaborates on how to shape individuals rather than societies through private education (Cook, 1975; Melzer, 1983). In addition, his political views have been interpreted from different standpoints, such as the idea that Rousseau attempts to eliminate human plurality from politics and that he wants to create citizens in the mold of one single model individual (Canovan, 1983). Yet some thinkers emphasize the importance of the relationships between Rousseau's various writings, pointing out that his works are to be read with reference to one another (Martin, 1987, 45; Melzer, 1983, 633). In this respect, for example, it is argued that Rousseau's educational ideas provide an answer to the concern regarding how to create an ideal social unity along with its virtuous and rational members (Boyd, 1963, 196; Parry, 2001, 248). In this study, it is argued that the educational ideas of Rousseau, based primarily on Emile and his social and political ideas constructed chiefly in the *Social Contract,* may provide a perspective of citizenship education with special reference to pluralistic societies.

The first chapter of the Social Contract begins with "man was/is born free and everywhere he is in chains" (Rousseau, 1994c, p. 131). Similarly, Rousseau (1993) declares in the opening sentence of Emile that "God makes all things good; man meddles with them and they become evil" (p. 5). Rousseau tries to overcome these corruptions and to reach a form of government by passionately standing for the ideal state. What Rousseau argues for in both Emile and the Social Contract is an ideal (natural) society that "is a real spiritual unity with a rational personality and a general will different from the individual personalities and wills of its constituent members" (Boyd, 1963, p. 196). With this in mind, Rousseau (1994a) also argues that "one of the greatest chimeras of Philosophy is having to seek some form of Government in which the citizens can be free and virtuous by the force of law alone" (p. 12). Undoubtedly, arriving at these ends requires well-educated, proper citizens. As Parry (2001) succinctly puts, "the significance of education for Rousseau is that it seems to offer a means of solving one of the central dilemmas of his social and political thought," which aims "to create a virtuous circle in which transformed human beings could live in a transformed society in which all could equally enjoy a sense both of self-fulfillment and community with others" (248). To put it briefly, Rousseau educates Emile as a free and rational being and as an individual who, later in his life, takes his place in his society as a fully developed and educated social contributor. Before discussing how this well-educated social contributor might be educated in a pluralistic society, it may be constructive to examine some essential aspects of Rousseau's educational and political ideas as follows.

MAN AND CITIZEN

In Book I of *Emile*, Rousseau explains the main characteristics of *natural man* and *citizen*. The former "is the unit, the whole, dependent only on himself," whereas the latter is one whose "values depend upon the whole, that is, on the community" (Rousseau, 1993, pp. 7-8). Clearly, the concept of *the whole* in these statements represents different ideas. In effect, Rousseau provides us with two different educational systems whose goals are seemingly conflicting since they are determined by different notions of *the whole*. While one aims to make *man*, the other aims to create the *citizen*. In fact, one of the most challenging of Rousseau's ideas to interpret is about the vagueness between *creating either man or citizen* and *creating man and citizen at the same time*. As Rousseau (1993) asks,

but what can be done when they conflict, when instead of training man for himself you try to train him for others? Harmony becomes impossible. Forced to combat either nature or society, you must make your choice between the man and the citizen, you cannot train both (p. 7).

These seemingly conflicting educational aims have been discussed by various thinkers from different perspectives. For example, Perkinson (1965, pp. 91-92) argues – contrary to Boyd, who asserts that



Rousseau adopted a faulty perspective by which he developed an either-or education theory (education for the individual or society) - that although Rousseau frames different educational ideas, he is not inconsistent with respect to the aims of his educational thoughts, but advocates a constant educational aim in all his works. In fact, Rousseau suggests contradictory educational approaches in Emile and the Considerations on the Government of Poland. A primary difference between the two works is that the latter provides an authoritarian education that is opposed to what is outlined in the former in general. However, a careful analysis reveals that these two works are intended to respond to fundamentally different concerns with different perspectives. To put it clearly, while Rousseau frames an ideal education for an individual in *Emile* in order for the character to become a fully developed individual, he provides practical educational implications in Considerations on the Government of Poland for a society that is indeed corrupted. More specifically, Rousseau's (1953) concern in the latter work is to contribute to the development of a nation that "will date her second birth from the terrible crisis from which she is emerging" (p. 180) through a proper national education that is supposed to "give souls a national formation and direct their opinions and tastes in such a way that they will be patriotic by inclination, by passion, by necessity" (p. 176). Rousseau limits his suggestions with respect to the aspirations and current situation of Poland. Rousseau (1953) clearly emphasizes his limited but practical suggestions, asserting that "my purpose here is only to give a few general suggestions; but that is enough for those I am addressing" (p. 180). In short, Rousseau's perspective on Poland's situation is not to be understood as a part of his ideas on an ideal education system for an ideal society, since it is specific to a corrupt society that is expected to reemerge. Beyond this, it may also be argued that Emile's education happens in a non-ideal society that is too corrupted by the people who value the wrong things and who do not live by the laws of nature. However, as Parry (2001) discusses, the education framed in *Emile* "is designed to allow persons to live an honest life even when surrounded by the pressures of a corrupt society" (p. 249). Emile, in any case, provides not a limited but a complete account of education for the development of an ideal individual who may become a participant of an ideal society, even when desired social conditions do not match the realities.

Now, considering the question about how to create a man and/or a citizen, a possible answer may be provided from a view in which creating man and citizen is seen as a complementary and continuing process that aims at a single educational end which is compatible with Rousseau's social and political ideals. First, it may be argued that an individual is educated to become a *man* by private education, followed by public education that makes him a *citizen*, in such a way that the two educations may be seen as consecutive parts of a single education. In Rousseau's account of education, a man is created through a private (domestic or natural) educational system, while a citizen is created through that of a public (civic or citizenship) system (Rousseau, 1993, p.8). At the same time, he maintains that individuals are to be educated in a way that is appropriate to their developmental stages. Rousseau (1992a) argues that educational tasks should be

60



"within the reach of their age and experience" (p.168) so that they can comprehend. As Shklar (1969, p. 147) discusses, Emile's education is specifically concerned with his developmental stages which are appropriate for him to improve his physical, moral, and intellectual traits. Private education comes prior to public education since human beings are not developmentally able to be educated through public education to become citizens before a certain period in their lives. In this respect, individuals should experience the concerns of their society only when they satisfy the conditions necessary to comprehend social concerns. Until that time, they are educated by means of private education. In other words, individuals are to be educated appropriately according to the developmental stages they are in, which enables Emile to be educated first by private education and then by public education. It is, therefore, reasonable for Rousseau to argue that an individual is to be educated for citizenship after developing his/her appropriate characteristics for becoming a citizen. Therefore, it becomes clear that what Rousseau means by you must make your choice is that instead of making a man and/or a citizen, one must first make a man and ultimately a citizen.

Second, if these educational systems are to be seen as continuous parts of a single educational theory, in order to understand the entirety of these two educational systems one may need to take a close look at Rousseau's works, particularly *Emile* and the *Social Contract*. The two works were published in the same year in 1762. In the Social Contract, Rousseau constructs his political theory, while in Emile he describes his educational theory. Emile elucidates in detail how a virtuous individual, who is to be seen as the foundation of the ideal society theorized in the Social Contract, can be created through education. As Martin (1987) states, "Emile provides the educational theory that any account of an ideal state requires, but that is not to be found in the Social Contract itself; the Social Contract enables one to understand how Rousseau solves the problem he poses at the beginning of *Emile* – educating Emile simultaneously as an autonomous man and a citizen" (p. 45). As Perkinson (1965) states succinctly, Rousseau conceived education as the best-suited institution to solve problems of social engineering, and Emile, as his work that comes after the Social Contract, is "primarily a treatise on social reconstruction through education" (p. 89). In this sense, therefore, the book *Emile* may be understood as the work that analyzes the educational system of the ideal state, while Emile himself is seen as the exemplary citizen of the ideal state constructed in the Social Contract.

In short, it may be argued that for Rousseau, ideal education requires a continuous process and progress starting with private education and following with public education. On the one hand, Emile is to acquire his independence from others through his education, becoming a complete individual in the process. His education is preventive in character, with respect to the early years in which nothing is imposed upon him which may lead retardation or forced progress (Shklar, 1969, p. 147). On the other hand, once Emile is to become a citizen, he rationally recognizes the wholeness of society and his dependence on others with whom he participates in political unity. As Rousseau (1993) mentions, "Emile is not made to live

61

alone, he is a member of a society, and must fulfill his duties as such. He is made to live among his fellowmen and he must get to know them" (p. 349). What Rousseau demonstrates in Emile may be interpreted as "how a child can be turned into a man in civil society" (Parry, 2001, p. 250). Now, to provide an insight into how this transition is made possible, with regard to the notion of the citizen in an ideal society, it is necessary to analyze some crucial concepts provided by Rousseau, which are in fact deeply interconnected.

BEING FREE AND RATIONAL The Rational Individual

One of the most important aims of Emile's natural education is to make him rational. It is one of the prerequisites that should be accomplished before Emile's private education ends, which is crucial for his later education in order to make the transition from a man to a citizen. In other words, before beginning his public education, Emile is to become a rational individual. Being rational involves being strong and good since, according to Rousseau (1992c), "all wickedness comes from weakness," and once he is made strong, then "he will be good" (p. 39). For Rousseau (1992c), a good person is one who is able to use his own reasoning because "reason alone teaches us to know good and evil" (p. 39).

Emile is to exercise his strength by using his power. Power is an important concept and a crucial element in becoming rational. According to Rousseau, each desire implies a want and individuals can satisfy their wants only within the limits of their power (Rousseau, 1992c, p. 51). On the one hand, such satisfaction is dependent upon the power of individuals, which makes them happy. Happiness, on the other, is desired by everyone. For the natural man, Rousseau (1992c) states that "happiness is as simple as his life; it consists in the absence of pain" (p. 168). Furthermore, pain is inevitable when an individual is not able to satisfy his or her desires. Emile, therefore, should learn what happiness is and how to balance his desires and power in order to maintain his happiness, because for Rousseau, a miserable man is one who suffers from the imbalance between his power and his desires. A happy man, on the contrary, is one who is able to satisfy his wants. In his words, "the happiest is he who suffers least; the most miserable is he who enjoys least" (Rousseau, 1992c, p. 51). Therefore, happiness is contingent on the balance between one's desires and power. One's power and desires should be in equilibrium because "a conscious being whose powers were equal to his desires would be happy...true happiness consists in decreasing the difference between our desires and our powers, in establishing a perfect equilibrium between the power and the will" (Rousseau, 1992c, p. 52). This is the true position in which a person can find him/herself to have human wisdom (Rousseau, 1992c, p. 52).

In brief, a rational person is one who is strong, who uses his/her reasoning to enable him/herself to be in equilibrium in his/her desires and power, and thus, who is a happy person. One of the ultimate aims of Emile's education, therefore, appears to be to make him a rational individual. But are there any differences between a rational man and a rational citizen? Are there any differences in the concept of being rational between a man's perspectives and a citizen's perspectives? An answer may be revealed if the meanings of

62

rational and free from the perspectives of man and citizen are analyzed within Rousseau's notion of freedom.

Rousseau's Notion of Freedom

In the Social Contract, Rousseau differentiates between natural, moral, and civil freedom. Emile's natural freedom is "an unlimited right to everything that tempts him and that he can get" (Rousseau, 1994c, p. 141). The crucial point here is the idea that a naturally free person can do whatever he/she wants to do and that he/she depends neither on others nor on abstract reason. It is the capability to fulfill physical necessities and, for Rousseau, it is the "[s]avage man, desiring only the things he knows and knowing only those things the possession of which is in his power or easily acquired" (Rousseau, 1992c, p. 86). Thus, a naturally free person can acquire whatever he/she desires if it is within his/her power. However, he/she never uses abstract reason in order to conduct his/her actions to meet his/her needs.

The difference between *naturally free* and *morally free* is that, unlike that of a naturally free person, a morally free person's desires are determined by his or her abstract reason. For Rousseau, man has to leave his natural freedom because there is no place for a naturally free person when it is time to join society. Rousseau (1993) argues that an isolated person who is self-sufficient and dependent only upon him/herself "could not even continue to exist" (p. 187) because once others have left the state of nature, no one can remain in a state of nature and one is forced by others to leave it too. As mentioned previously, Emile is in fact educated to join society once he develops the required skills and is able to fulfill his social responsibilities. Even before Emile enters society, the concept of social relations is gradually developed in his mind (Rousseau, 1993, 187). Yet before entering civil society, one has to learn how to be rational and morally free. In order to achieve moral freedom, the education of Emile starts right after he becomes conscious of himself. Rousseau states that with the second phase, after infancy, Emile's real personal life begins because he becomes conscious of himself, and so he is to be considered a moral being (Rousseau, 1993, pp. 49-50). From now on, Emile begins exercising his reasoning as a moral being. The morality in this stage is related to being rational and being able to preserve the balance between desires and power, as discussed above.

Emile, as a morally free being, is able to do whatever he wants to do only within the limits of his power insofar as his abstract reasoning allows him. However, it should be considered that Emile is still not able to comprehend the rationale behind the relations among citizens because moral freedom is only, in Rousseau's (1994c) words, "obedience to the law one has prescribed for oneself" (p. 142). In other words, a morally free person relies only on him/herself and the relation between his/her desires and power that are in a state of equilibrium. As discussed above, it is the true position that enables one to be in equilibrium in one's power and will. Being in the true position requires a rational person to be under the control of abstract reason. The difference between the stages of moral freedom and civil freedom is that while the former is abstract, the latter is concrete and requires obedience to the concrete laws established by *free*



and rational citizens as a whole. Moral freedom may be seen as the transitional period between natural freedom and civil freedom. Being able to be morally free and be in the *true position* allows one to become able to experience civil freedom since one has already mastered being under a law, that is, the law one prescribes for oneself. Now, a person who has already experienced being under a law of self-reason can easily and willingly want to be under the general will, which allows him/her to enter society as a free and rational individual provided that he/she acquire the concept of civil freedom. Civil freedom requires being in a society, since it is achievable only within civil society and is a relation of one's will to the general will. Since civil freedom depends upon one's obedience to the *general will*, it is therefore determined by the limits of *general will*. Emile is now able to understand the rationale behind the actions of people who live together and he has to exercise social morality and recognize others as free beings.

Similar to his educational theory, a developmental understanding is seen in Rousseau's notion of freedom too. It requires individuals, in accordance with their developmental stages, to acquire the previous one first in order to comprehend the next. It ultimately aims to reach a civil freedom that is solely realized within the ideal society. In Rousseau's (1994c) words, moving "from the state of nature to the civil state produces a remarkable change in man, by subsuming justice for instinct in his behavior and giving his actions the morality they previously lacked" (p. 141). For him, while the general will limits civil freedom, natural freedom is limited only by the force of the individual (Rousseau, 1994c, p. 141-142). Moral freedom, however, is that "which alone makes man truly the master of himself" (Rousseau, 1994c, 142). In short, natural freedom comes prior to moral freedom and civil freedom since one first lives and is educated in the state of nature. Yet, the ultimate freedom that Rousseau wants for Emile is civil freedom. Therefore, Emile is educated in order to acquire first moral freedom and then ultimately civil freedom, since becoming a free and rational citizen is the purpose of his education.

Regarding the concepts of rational and free, it may be clear how man and citizen conceptualize these notions differently, with respect to an individual's relation to him/herself and to other members of society. As addressed earlier, Emile as a natural man relies only on himself and considers only his own interests. Prior to being able to use his abstract reason, Emile is free and good insofar as he can achieve whatever he desires and thus become happy. After becoming able to use his abstract reason, Emile's conceptions of being free, good, and happy take on different meanings. Morally free, Emile still lives for himself, but within the true position according to his abstract reason. Within the concept of natural man, being morally free makes him free and good as long as he consciously wants and reaches his desires within the limits of his own power. Considering the concept of civil freedom, however, it is understood that his abstract reason is based upon the limits of the general will and thus becomes concrete reason. That is to say, the basis of his abstract reason which is necessary for him to be morally free switches from the limits of his own power to the limits of the power of the general will.

Rousseau (1992b, p.137) maintains that in this transition period, one of the educational aims is to



make individuals acquire the idea that individual will is not necessarily good, but the general will is. According to Rousseau (1994b), once an individual enters society, then the nature is no longer "an infallible guide" for him/her since "a goal of shared felicity from which each individual would derive his own" (p. 77) cannot be achieved when individuals continue to follow only their own interests and listen to their passions. Human beings' characteristics of selfishness and being capable of rationally defining their selfinterests prevent them from recognizing the vitality of the well-being of the whole society (Rousseau, 1994b, p. 77). For this reason, Emile is educated as a citizen in order to be able to use concrete reasoning in accordance with the *general will* and in order to acquire the knowledge that being free in a civil society is to be able to act within the limits of a concrete set of laws. Then, he understands his own will as a part of the general will that determines his own power and accordingly governs his desires within the limits of the general will. Therefore, a citizen becomes rational and free insofar as he achieves his/her desires within the limits of general will, and thus he does pursue a happy life within his/her society. Accordingly, it may be argued that the ultimate aim of Rousseau's educational theory is to contribute to establishing and sustaining an ideal society populated by true citizens who are responsible for their society and who have willingly and reasonably committed themselves to follow the general will that makes them dependent on the whole.

EDUCATION AND PLURALISTIC SOCIETY

Once Emile is able to enter society, he has to learn how to act, and how to live among and engage with other members of the society. His education replaces his independence or individual dependence with mutual dependence "so that he no longer regards himself as one, but as a part of the whole, and is only conscious of the common life" (Rousseau, 1993, p. 8). Being a part of rational but concrete agreements among the members of society is inevitable for the sake of the unity of the whole society. As Rousseau (1994b) states:

The earth would be covered with men between whom there was almost no communication...Everyone would be isolated among others, and would think only of himself...We would lie without feeling anything; we would die without having lived ... There would be neither goodness in our hearts nor morality in our actions, and we would never have enjoyed the soul's most delicious feeling, which is love of virtue (p. 78).

Emile has to comprehend a new version of how to be rational and free as discussed above and thus must learn to be virtuous. It is one of the main aims of Emile's education for citizenship, which dramatically changes everything he has learned so far. He is to agree to, and be a part of, the general will. In fact, the notion of freedom is a vital element in Rousseau's social and political theory, as well as in his educational theory. "Had Rousseau not been centrally concerned with freedom ... he would never have made the general will the core idea of his political philosophy," as Riley (2001, p. 148) succinctly emphasizes. What Emile "loses by the social contract is his natural freedom and an unlimited right to everything that tempts him and that he can get; what he gains is civil freedom and the proprietorship of everything he possesses" (Rousseau, 1994c, p. 141). Thus, Rousseau puts citizens in a situation in which they find themselves dependent upon the laws.

The relation between citizens and laws are important since Rousseau argues that the relationship among citizens is to be minimal, whereas the one between citizens and the entire body is to be maximal (Rousseau, 1994c, p. 164). In other words, one's dependence should be upon the state rather than upon other individual members of society, since only the state can provide real freedom for its members. As discussed by Neuhouser (1993), full political freedom is achieved by citizens only if the two (objective and subjective) conditions are realized. These conditions are necessary to attain full political freedom, but one is not sufficient without the other. In this sense, Neuhouser (1993) concisely argues that (1) the laws are to be objectively liberating, meaning that "they must effectively mitigate the freedom-endangering consequences of dependence on the individuals" (p. 395) and (2) citizens are to be in an appropriate subjective relation to the laws, meaning that "the principles that inform the laws must be consciously embraced by citizens as their own" (p. 395). Emile, therefore, may be considered as still dependent only upon himself as he was in the state of nature. Yet, at this time, he recognizes other members of society as free and independent beings and he believes that each member of the state is independent from others but dependent on the whole, that is, on the laws by which they preserve their freedom and independence. Thus, it seems possible for an individual or a group of people not to share a singular cultural doctrine necessarily, in order to live together within a single society. A condition to make this possible may be the idea that the doctrines held by different groups do not contradict with the social contract and are included within it, which makes the idea of general will reasonably acceptable for everyone. But can this idea really be drawn from Rousseau's ideas? What happens if different groups come up with conflicting ideas? Are the unity of the whole and a common consensus endangered in such situations?

Regarding Rousseau's understanding of *passions*, it may be argued that passions lead people to hold conflicting ideas. Rousseau (1992c) discusses how "the more violent the passions, the more necessary Laws are to contain them" (p. 38). Conflicts may arise among different groups and become harmful for both individuals and the whole. Yet unity must be fostered through the control of the laws. Rousseau (1994c, p. 91) argues that if personal interests and passions dominate over public interest, then abuses become inevitable and the social structure turns out to be disastrous for the whole. Rousseau (1994d, p. 70) criticizes moralists for considering human beings as reasonable. For him, human beings are sensitive, consult solely their passions to act, and use reason to decrease thoughtless actions led by their passions (Rousseau, 1994d, p. 70). So, should children be taught how to destroy their passions in order to make themselves rational? His answer is clear, since he argues that no one can be good without possessing any passions (1992a, p. 155). Yet, instruction on how to control passions through reason is vital.

Self-love may provide a good example for such concern. According to Rousseau (1993, p. 208), as an
effect of self-love, everyone loves him/herself above everything. Yet everyone also loves anything that contributes to their preservation (1993, p. 208). In this sense, two crucial concepts appear as vital: reason and contribution. From Rousseau's perspective, reasoning should instill in students the idea that they are dependent on only general will, and any contribution to the well-being of society (the whole's selfpreservation) is in turn a contribution to their individual self-preservation. Therefore, within a society consisting of well-educated citizens, every group is understood to overcome any conflicting ideas among each other and arrive at a common consensus in order to preserve the well-being of the whole.

Furthermore, since Rousseau gives human actions dependence upon laws and morality, citizens are to be educated to embrace the sacredness of the bonds of social unity, to love and serve each other, and, in his words, to "scrupulously obey the laws" (Rousseau, 1992c, p. 80). Thus, students are to acquire the vital role of reciprocal relationships between individuals and different groups. According to Rousseau (1994b), justice can be found in "the fundamental and universal Law of the greatest good for all" (p. 114) rather than in a relationship between two individuals. Similarly, regarding pluralistic societies, justice must not be in a relationship between groups of people or individuals. Therefore, well-educated citizens in a pluralistic society that aims to be just should always search for a fair consensus, even if their ideas conflict.

In the final analysis, Rousseau provides us with an insight that may help us establish a framework of citizenship education for creating free, rational, and virtuous members of a just society. His educational ideas may give us some crucial elements of the curriculum in citizenship education concerning pluralistic social structure. For instance, reasoning appears as a crucial element in order to create rational individuals who acquire the necessary limits of relationships among citizens and who embrace principles of equality and the value of love. Moral education seems to be another important component of such an educational curriculum in order to instill the meaning of being free and virtuous into students. According to Rousseau, children are to be trained early enough to see themselves as parts of the whole and to learn obedience to each other. In order to achieve these ends, they are to be "raised in common in the midst of equality" and to be surrounded by love so that they can internalize the value of loving one another as brothers and sisters, wanting nothing but what the society needs (Rousseau, 1992a, p. 156). Even though Rousseau did not have a specific interest in a pluralistic social structure, his ideas may be interpreted with a special reference to citizenship education in pluralistic societies. It may be concluded that Rousseau's educational theory suits the realities of pluralistic societies well and does not conflict with them, insofar as an educational system is provided that includes crucial elements in its curriculum such as reasoning, moral education, and equality alongside the aim of creating rational, free, and equal citizens. Unquestionably, a further and detailed discussion on the integration of these and similar curriculum elements into existing curriculum is required in order for us to benefit from and extend his ideas. Yet, for now, Rousseau's educational theory appears to provide a viable direction for the future.

67

REFERENCES

Boyd, W. (1963). The educational theory of Jean Jacques Rousseau. New York, Russell & Russell.

Canovan, M. (1983). Arendt, Rousseau, and human plurality in politics. The Journal of Politics, 45(2), 286-302.

Cook, T. E. (1975). Rousseau: Education and politics. The Journal of Politics, 37(1), 108-128.

Martin, J. R. (1987). Reclaiming a conversation: The ideal of the educated women. New Haven, Yale University Press.

Melzer, A. M. (1983). Rousseau's moral realism: Replacing natural law with the general will. The American Political Science Review, 77(3), 633-651.

Neuhouser, F. (1993). Freedom, dependence, and the general will. The Philosophical Review, 102(3), 363-395.

Parry, G. (2001). Emile: Learning to be men, women, and citizens. In P. Riley (Ed.), The Cambridge companion to Rousseau (pp. 247-271). New York, Cambridge University Press.

Perkinson, H. J. (1965). Rousseau's Emile: Political theory and education. History of Education Quarterly, 5(2), 81-96.

Riley, P. (2001). Rousseau's general will. In P. Riley (Ed.), The Cambridge companion to Rousseau (pp. 124-153). New York, Cambridge University Press.

Rousseau, J.J. (1953). Considerations on the government of Poland. In F. Watkins (Ed.), Rousseau: Political writings (pp. 157-274). New York, Thomas Nelson and Sons.

Rousseau, J.J. (1992a). Discourse on political economy. In R. D. Masters and C. Kelly (Eds.), Collected writings of Rousseau (Vol. 3) (pp. 140-170). Hanover, University Press of New England.

Rousseau, J.J. (1992b). Natural right. In R. D. Masters and C. Kelly (Eds.), Collected writings of Rousseau (Vol. 3) (pp. 135-139). Hanover, University Press of New England.

Rousseau, J.J. (1992c). Second discourse. In R. D. Masters and C. Kelly (Eds.), Collected writings of Rousseau (Vol. 3) (pp. 1-95). Hanover, University Press of New England.

Rousseau, J. J. (1993). Emile. Vermont, Everyman.

Rousseau, J.J. (1994a). Fragment on freedom. In R. D. Masters and C. Kelly (Eds.), Collected writings of Rousseau (Vol. 4) (pp. 12-13). Hanover, University Press of New England.

Rousseau, J.J. (1994b). Geneva manuscript. In R. D. Masters and C. Kelly (Eds.), Collected writings of Rousseau (Vol. 4) (pp. 75-125). Hanover, University Press of New England.

Rousseau, J.J. (1994c). On the social contract, In R. D. Masters and C. Kelly (Eds.), Collected writings of Rousseau (Vol. 4) (pp. 127-224). Hanover, University Press of New England.

Rousseau, J.J. (1994d). Political fragments. In R. D. Masters and C. Kelly (Eds.), Collected writings of Rousseau (Vol. 4) (pp. 16-75). Hanover, University Press of New England.

Shklar, J. N. (1969). Men and citizens: A study of Rousseau's social theory. New York, Cambridge University Press.



Foundation of the Computer Assisted Translation Act Ilyas OZTURK [1], Cemil OZ [2], Filiz ŞAN [3]

[1] Prof. Dr. Sakarya University ozturk@sakarya.edu.tr

[2] Assoc. Prof. Dr. Sakarya University

[3] Research Assistant Sakarya University

ABSTRACT

Mechanical translation (MT) is the transfer of a text from a source language (SL) into a target language (TL) via a cybernetic machine, in other words, "computer". Human labour, human skills, human experience and human brain power are inevitable in this operation. Mechanical translation is based on word-for-word translation. What occurs in mechanic translation can be summarized as the mutual functioning of SL and TL together, and the achievement of coherence and equivalence in the performed translation. The data are given by humans and the translation is "automated" and mechanized by the computer.With the development of computers, mechanical translation has progressed to a more advanced level in recent years. The recent developed technology has put the polysemy of the words as well as the grammar rules at the disposal of humanity with a developed computer for an optimal translation. This study will show the stages of mechanical translations and the working systems of the projects conducted in this field. On the other hand, sentence-for-sentence-translation, which is the point that normal translation has arrived at, renders the mechanical translation more successful and fruitful. In this way, the contextual meaning of the text gets transferred. The current paper is comprised of the titles of The Realization of Natural Language Elements in Computer, Terminology Formation in Mechanical Translation and Actions Occurring in Mechanical Translation, and mechanical translation is tried to be presented and explained through illustrations and the main elements used.

(ovwords:	Machine Translation (MT), PC/Computer, Source Language
xeyworus.	(SL), Target Language (TL), Terminology

INTRODUCTION

Today's individuals follow the scientific, political, cultural and commercial developments, and watch them with interest. A political or a commercial development in a country could affect the lives of those individuals who are so far away from that country. It is so interesting and important to read or listen a document or a novel that was written in a foreign language in our mother tongue through Machine translation techniques with the help of electronic tools-especially with computer.

Translation which is automatically performed from a human language into another by using computer software and hardware technology is called automatic translation, or machine translation (MT) in general. The function of computer assisted translation (Mechanical Translation) is to ensure that the source text is analyzed by Computer (PC) and synthesized into a target language, that is, to ensure that the source text is translated word for word or sentence for sentence by PC. A Machine translation block between two persons is given in Figure 1. O. Kade, A. Neubert, G. Jaeger from "Leipzig Translation School" have contributed significantly to the works in MT.



Figure 1.¹ Machine Translation between two persons

There have been many studies conducted on machine translation and the automatication of machine translation. These works began with the invention of computer and progressed in parallel with the development of computer technology. It is 1950's and 1960's that the works on this field boomed. The advancements and successes in those years are limited and unsatisfactory translations were accomplished. The works that began in 1950's continue rapidly and significant achievements have been reached. Still, full automatic translation is yet to be reached and human translation has to be a part of it. On the other hand, the studies are still being carried out on scientific methods to create better and more accurate translations.

What happens in mechanical translation is to ensure that the ST and TT, that is, both languages, function together and create harmony. And that happens with the help and skill of human power. The data are given by the humans and the translation is "automated" - mechanized by the computer. When mechanical translation finds the various meanings of the words belonging to a source text in the target texts, it will succeed in reaching an optimal automatic translation. We cannot say we have accomplished it today. Significant achievements have been reached in a few languages (English, German and French). That level has yet to be reached in many languages apart from them.

Let's have a look at the English and German translations of a Turkish sentence done by the "google translate" program.

"Üç yıl önce Dubai'de bulundum"

a. Three years ago I was in Dubai (engl-human translation)

b. Vor drei Jahren war ich in Dubai gewesen.(german-human translation)

On the other hand:

c. Three years ago we (I) have been to Dubai (english - google translation

d. Vor drei Jahren haben wir (ich) bereits in Dubai (...) (german -google translation)

There is problem in the perception of pronouns in German and English. "We" should be "I", "wir" should be "ich" and "haben" should be "sein". The syntax is not completely realized in German. While the verb "gewesen" should be at the end, it is not understood in translation. It is revealed here that for a meaningful translation, humans must take part in translation process.

"Üç yıl önce Dubai'de bulundum"

(English) Three years ago I have been to Dubai: a. Üç yıl önce ben dubai olmuştur. (Turkish)

(German) Vor drei Jahren war ich in Dubai gewesen: b. Üç yıl önce Dubai'de olmuştu.

In the Turkish equivalents of the English and German sentences, we are more faced with meaning-based incomprehensibility. Both sentences reflect a meaningless translation. After the translations performed above, the problem is seen as the fact that Turkish is from a different language family (Ural-Altaic language family). As the syntax

¹ This table was firstly used in the article of Oz, C., Leu, MC. (2011) and was taken and modified according to the scope of this study.

structures of the both language families are different, there is a problem in the transfer from ST into TT.

According to the determination of UNESCO, there are 4000 languages in the world and translation is done only between 1200 of them (Ljudskanow:1972:219). Mechanical translation is successful only in a few languages as understood from the illustrations we have seen above and the success is limited to the translations among European languages.

Mechanical translation is based on word-for-word translation. It seeks to give more than one meaning of a word in TT. To the extent that the computer succeeds in knowing which one of the meanings to choose, the translation will reach its translation goal. The biggest trick of the mechanical translation is idioms. In this regard, the difficulties are much more in social and literature texts.

In this respect, mechanical translation will be more fruitful to the extent that it is able to do sentence-forsentence translation which human translation has reached. While a mechanical translation of any sentence of a text is performed, it is a necessity to know all the information of the whole context.

Methods Used in Machine Translation

In all machine translations bilingual dictionaries and grammar rules in Data-Form are used as moduls. Yet each method differs from each other. We can part the approaches in machine translation in four groups: Direct MT, rulebased MT, Corpus-based MT and information-based MT. There are advantages and disadvantages in each approach group. The methods used in Machine Translation are given in Figure 2.



Figure 2.² Methods used in Machine Translation

(a) Direct Machine translation

There is no interim representation or a complicated structure in Direct Machine translation the block diagram of which is given in Figure 3. The words of the source text are transferred into TT with the same word-for-word arrangement with the help of bilingual dictionary. After the translation is performed, the sentences are changed according to the TL rules and then transferred into TL. This method is the oldest one. The stages of direct machine translation are as follows:

- The morphological inflections are removed from the words of the source text according to the different grammar rules of the word.
- The target language equivalent is found in a bilingual dictionary.
- Necessary syntactical arrangements are performed.

² This table was firstly used in the article of Jaganadh G. (2010) and was taken and modified according to the scope of this study.





Figure 3.³ Direct machine translation system (Direct MT)

The disadvantages of direct machine translation are that it does not take into consideration the structure and relations between the words, that a system developed for a given language cannot be applied to a different language and that the perceptions and changes in the language are not considered.

(b) Rule-based Machine Translation

Compared with direct Machine translation, rule-based machine translation yields better results . The system includes language rules which play an important role in machine translation and which are created by linguists. There are two rule-based machine translations: transfer-based and Interlingua.

(b1) Transfer- based MT: This application is a classic method comprising of three stages. These stages are Analysis, Transfer and Generation. First the grammar structure is analyzed. Then the semantic structure is produced. At the end, all actions are transferred into TT. Thus the operations performed in TT are reproduced. Transfer-based MT diagram is given in Figure 4.



Figure 4.⁴ Transfer-based MT diagram

(b2) Interlingua: Here the grammar data of the source text is analyzed and transferred into an second interlanguage (Zwischensprache). These grammar data is produced in TL via this second interlanguage. This method is suitable for the statements with multiple meanings.

(c) Corpus-based MT

³ This table was firstly used in the article of Jaganadh G. (2010) and was taken and modified according to the scope of this study.

 $^{^4}$ This table was firstly used in the article of Jaganadh G. (2010) and was taken and modified according to the scope of this study.

TOJNED The Online Journal of New Horizons in Education

Corpus is the database of the conversations and words in a language. It is possible to see many studies on this subject. It results from the fact that there is a less need for qualified linguists. It is parted into two groups: SBMT (Statistics-Based Machine Translation) and EBMT (Example-Based Machine Translation).

(d)Information-Based MT

Information-based MT is a system that performs translation from a source language into a target language by using one of the morphological, syntactical or expanded semantic information. These kinds of systems make use of artificial intelligence.

Translation Programs

The number of MT systems and programs used today increases gradually. Especially recent years have seen great expansions and advances in this field. It is worthwhile to introduce some systems which are among translation programs.

a. SYSTRAN

SYSTRAN is one of the first commercially used machine translation systems. It was first used in 1971 for a translation from Russian into English. And NASA used SYSTRAN in sharing spacecraft information.

b. LOGOS

It was begun to be developed in 1964. It was used for translation from English into Vietnamese at Air Force of United States of America. It was supported by Siemens AG in 1978 and was used for the translation of communication documents from German into English. The system was not used any more since it was not found successful. Later, this system was bought by multi-partnered companies (Hewlett-Packard, Nixdof etc.).

c. COMSKEE

It is a system established and used by Saarbrücken Research Center (SFB-100). This system was specifically adapted to Computational Linguistics base. This is a program language oriented towards Linguistics. It has greatly contributed to MT. Translation processes are performed on mathematical four operations of addition, subtraction, division and multiplication (+, -, :, x), logarithm and potential calculations and for this, "**Computers**" are an inevitable equipment. Elementary actions of mathematical logic (and - ^, or >, negation >, if ---) are performed in the production stages of translation processes. For this reason, computer is necessary and without it there cannot be MT (K-D-Schmitz:1987:116).

d. EUROTRA (European Translation System)

EUROTRA translation system has been created with a work performed in 1982 at the request of European Union Council.

As is evident from its name, as EUROTRA was founded with the support and wish of European Union, it will conduct its operations with a function that will comprise of the states of European Union. We see that Turkey has not been included in the MT projects carried out up to now. Although included in the programs of some private firms, qualified Turkish translation programs have not yet been developed as we will see in the following text illustrations.

It could be overcome with the entry of Turkey into European Union. One reason why the executers of the MT programs up to now were not interested in Turkish is that Turkish has a rather different structure than the European languages that are accepted as main languages. After our private attempts on this subject, we learnt that there had to be computer programming knowledge besides theoretical knowledge. We understood that in order to take part in such a project, there is a need for a double skill of both processing and using theoretical knowledge in computer environment. Apart from that, we have understood that there is an alternative to work together with the dominant computer programmers.

European Center for Scientific Knowledge Processing too was performing works in this field too, They had

yielded the first product of their first work in 1963. With the system they had developed, they were able to translate 60,000 Russian words into English in an hour. 1000 Russian words were translated for 7 Dollars. When looked at from a financial aspect, it was seen that it could compete with human translation. While EUROTRA was focusing its attention on knowledge and developments, the Russian scientific institution ISPRA was concentrating on translation.

As a result of this cooperation, 115 translations were performed and a translation capacity of 700,000 words were realized between 1965 and 1968 (Piatrowski:1984: 335). As soon as the translations were obtained from the machine, they were given to the **Editors** with the Russian original text. Even though the machine could not translate the comparisons and formulas in the original text, a successful action had then been realized on the text base. It was observed that those who gave translation brief were more or less satisfied with the performed translations.

300,000 words were transferred with these translations done with IBM Computer system. A dictionary had a capacity of around 150,000 words.

e. SUSY: Meanwhile, significant works were being performed with a project (Saarbrücken Mechanical Translation System) conducted by H. D. Moos in Saarbrücken, Germany. Its works serve as a source for world-wide developments even today. It contributed significantly to MT with translations of word-for-word and word groups.

Though the works of mechanical translation augmented rapidly, it was not possible to make fast progress due to the resulting problems. This in turn led the researchers to translate texts in certain fields. The purpose was to settle the foundations of translation system. As a result, some characteristic views emerged.

- Full automatic translation cannot be performed completely.
- Understandable, albeit flawed, translations in specific languages and fields are performed.

• Much better translation programs should be developed and translations should be done with the existing good programs.

• The correlation of the languages to be applied in mechanical translation should be determined.

In 1966, the scientific academy of Automatic Language Processing Advisory Committee in USA performed works. After its works, this committee had some decisions about mechanical translation.

In parallel with the worldwide attempts, Germany conducted some mechanical translation works as well. The SUSY project in Saarbrücken could be given as an example to these works. Important developments to machine translation were made with this project. With a project named **"Feasibility study on fully automatic high quality Translation**" at the University of Texas, USA, in 1970, it was aimed to meet the fully automatic translation need felt in the fields of Philosophy, Linguistics and Computer. Numerous scientists as well as linguists worked in the development of this project.

The first outputs of this work showed that only the translations of individual sentences were successful and were presented by Stachowitz. For him, these works had to be concentrated more in the fields of descriptive, theoretical and comparative linguistics. In this way, many issues such as the studies of linguistic models would be examined (Stachowitz: 1973: 9).

The main starting point of mechanical translation is the realization of word-for-word translation with the help of a dictionary. The equivalents of the words are automatically brought and there is more than one translation possibility for each word in question. The problem here is the fact that the syntaxes of different languages cannot be ordered clearly. We have seen in the examples above that the syntaxes of German, English and Turkish are different and that problems arise resulting from that.

The computer has not yet completely succeeded in transferring the equivalency of different syntaxes, because each language carries a different syntax system. A second problem is how to give which one of the different meanings of the words and where to give. The whole problem lies at the two points here. It is seen that humans should be a part of this process. It is a fact that even human help cannot render mechanical translation completely automatic.

Application processes of mechanical translation

Trojanskji (1946) who started the first study in the field of mechanical translation made it possible for the mechanical system to be understood with the tool he acquired. With this tool, the researchers applied the following processes (Bruderer:1982:24).

TCINED The Online Journal of New Horizons in Education

 1^{st} **Process**: This system transfers the code number of each word of the foreign language into TT with the relevant codes. The name of this application is "directory system". The coding in this system is performed as such: A=01, B=02, C=03......Z= 26

The code number of the German word "und" is (as the code number of each letter is different) is 211404 with u=21, n=14, d=04. The equivalent of the English word "and" would be coded as 011404 with a=01, n=14, d=04 (and : 211404 = 011404). This system is not practical because an alphabet of 26 letters on average would have a combination of fourteenth power of 1.4 x 10, which would not be practical at all.

2nd Process: An application performed with the adoption of a dictionary system: trying to the give the code words of SL with the equivalents of TL.

SL (fr.)	TL (eng.)
E.g.: beau: 0205011200	beautiful :020501232009062112 (beautiful)
Chien:0308090514	dog : 041507 (dog)

(Schwanke:1991:26)

If we consider that this system was made with the punched card system of the day (1947) we could understand how difficult it is. Still, it is an application that has a place in mechanical translation as a successful endeavor. Both the present situation is much more beyond it, and it is successful and easy. At the same time, the data are applied and realized on a digital environment.

3rd **Process:** The first step in this field was taken by two entreprenuers named Booth and Richens. It is a system which ensures that the root and affixes of the word reflect in the translation. It was an advanced stage compared with the first step. With this method, not the word with its root but just its root was kept in the memory. When a word was looked up and not found, the longest word that is nearest to it comes to the screen. It was a significant stage then but as the computer technology was not sufficient enough it could not yield the desired success. A block diagram belonging to MT conducted in this process is given in figure 5.

Director of Physical Sciences of **Rockefeller Foundation**, **Warren Weaver**, made an offer to Language and Physical Sciences and made it possible for this kind of works to be performed. In this context, the works **Erwin Reitler** performed at the University of Washington are noteworthy. The innovation that the foundation brought to the works is the new style it offered to the **human-machine** connection.

Text producer

Machine tr.

+

= Translation

Review





Figure 5. MT. Block diagram showing the third process

Here it was not considered that the text producer should have TL knowledge. His/her task is to remove the words with double meanings from the ST. The task of the editor (Nachredaktuer) was thought to be all about orderly putting down on paper the text given by the machine. As seen, these works did not give the expected result either.

4th **Process:** In 1952, a conference on mechanic translation was held in U.S.A. for the first time. The significance of the international conference is that it accelerated the subsequent works. The creation of Russian Machine Dictionary was realized after the works of this conference. After even all this intervening time MT still was not able to proceed practically. The year 1955, in this sense, is a turning point to remember. Conducted at the same year and published in 1956, "Machine Translation of Language" is an important work carried out by **Booth**.

After all these works, the structure of the mechanical word was getting more and more complicated because the separated root and suffixes could not be found distinctly. The word was found either in the form of "root + suffix" or just in the form of "root". Also the "**roots**" was not found on their own. The suffixes and the words had to be found with individual structure numbers (e.g: -er:12; -st:75; -haft:81...) structure number This could not be achieved because the TL rules was not introduced to the machine completely. The biggest hardship here was that the machine did not completely identify the syntax rules and idioms of SL and TL. Meanwhile, while there were intense works being performed on MT in America, in Russia there were intensive developments where 500 researchers took part.

The Realization of Natural Language Elements in Computer

The most important component of this process is database. The data on the database constitutes all the materials and building stones of machine translation. Databases should have such information:

- a. Morphological explanations
- b. Syntax explanations
- c. Word roots
- d. Word separations and suffixes
- e. Frequency differences between the words (such as gehen: **go** on foot / fahren: **go** with a car Geist: life, soul)
- f. Expression styles
- g. Bibliography

While the information above and the explanations of roots and words are being loaded to the database, the characteristics of both partner languages should be known in detail. However, as will be seen in the following example, there may arise difficult problems to resolve such as the emergence of different translations in the German equivalents of an English expression.



Terminology Formation in Mechanical Translation

Unknown words seem to be more than normal in a text before a translational act gets started. For this reason, it is more useful to do a raw translation firstly, put the new words instead of those which cannot be determined by the computer and start the translation in that way. Terminology relating to the expertise fields of relevant texts could be loaded to the database or could be added in addition to the existing dictionaries. Trados translation program could be given as an example to it. The function of Trados translation programs continually increases.

Trados was founded as a language service provider (LSP) in Germany in 1984. The company started developing translation software at the end of 1980's. By the end of 1990's, it had become an important trademark in desktop translation memory software. Trados was purchased by SDL in 2005 (www.trados.SDL :14.10.2012). In SDL/Trados system, MultiTerm Extract process operates and the following concepts are valid. They are operated on action process.

Monolingual Term Extraction Project	MultiTerm Extract extracts source language terms starting with a, b, c, and d, up to a maximum of 100 terms. If the source language is not Latin alphabet-based, the first 100 terms are extracted. No export functionality is available and projects cannot be saved.
Bilingual Term Extraction Project	MultiTerm Extract extracts source language terms starting with a, b, c, and d (and associated translation proposals), up to a maximum of 100 terms. If the source language is not Latin alphabet-based, the first 100 terms are extracted. No export functionality is available and projects cannot be saved.
Translation Project	MultiTerm Extract processes the first 20 terms that are common to both the termbase and the bilingual input files. No export functionality is available and projects cannot be saved.
QA Project	MultiTerm Extract processes QA projects that contain one file only; the file must be less than 100KB in size. No export functionality is available and projects cannot be saved.
Dictionary Compilation Project	MultiTerm Extract extracts source language terms starting with a, b, c, and d (and associated translation proposals), up to a maximum of 100 words. If the source language is not Latin alphabet-based, the first 100 words are extracted. No export functionality is available and projects cannot be saved.

(www.SDL Multiterm 2007)

There is a dictionary server in MT translation. Some firms create their own databases and create translation programs. If the technical side of the issue, the money and time spent and the difficulty thereof are considered altogether, it is more appropriate for the firms to buy ready translation programs from the outside. However, the firms Siemens, Bosch and Mercedes which develop their own translation programs make significant progresses on it. After overcoming the specified hardships, the introduction of original translation programs creates more productive, faster and more qualified translation from the programs that could be bought.

Many terminologies are created automatically im MT where works have been conducted since 1950's. These words are put on our agenda as specialty language **(Fachsprache)**. These newly coined words are called (information) source.

The act of machine translation is a phenomenon where appropriate algorithm operations are realized on Computer with the power of human intelligence. In other words, Mechanical translation is the realization of appropriate algorithm marks on machine environment with human power.

Here what is mentioned is a phenomenon that does not take place in human practice. Each number, figure and mark processed by computers, and each command given to the computer are stored in a cell within its memory. The operation occurring here or realized by humans is "**Euclidean Algorithm**".

Ders bitene kadar beklemelisin. – Du musst warten, bis der Unterricht aus ist. (German)

The above sentence is comprised of a series of words. We should express the forms of discourse and meaning created by each word and their suffixes with direct speech paraphrase) What constitutes the content of the text is paraphrase. Each word, suffix, letter and grammatical mark that serves a purpose in the sentence has a value. If we give the number equivalents of each element in order to find the value of this sentence, we will be confronted with millions of numbers. In this regard, it is revealed that the euclidean algorithm is an inevitable mathematical operation (Ljudskanow:1972:219).

Accordingly, Machine Translation should have the following characteristics:

- a. The translation should reflect the word meanings of the original text
- b. It should reflect the inner meaning of ST.
- c. The TT should be read as the original
- d. The TT should reflect the style of the translator
- e. TT should reflect the style of ST author by adapting to the style of the translator
- f. TT should also reflect the time when the ST was created
- g. Nothing should be added to or removed from the TT
- h. If the translation cannot be transferred as poetry, it should be transferred as prose

As we have stated before, although all the translation programs use different methods, they are basically established on computer technology. With each passing day, new usage conveniences and solutions for MT are created along with the innovations in computer technology.

Technology Use in Translation Works in European Union

For multilingualism, language learning has crucial importance for European Union. Multilingualism has been accepted as a identity determination criterion for EU. In this regard, European Commission has Directorate-General for Translation. Translation briefs are performed among 23 languages in 27 member countries. Directorate-General for Translation of European Union Commission conducts these translation briefs.

The translators in the Directorate-General for Translation work with translator's work bench and translation memories. This commercial application package (TWB) is a program that includes local translation memory and stores all official documents and allows for being taken from itself when necessary. In addition to them, **Euromis** (European Advanced Multilingual Information System) is a commonly used application. Euromis is a set of web applications that is combined with electronic mail mechanism and that allows access to many services in the field of language operations. Terminology formation in the Directorate-General for Translation is the task of language departments. By means of terminologists, these departments support the formation of the terminology necessity for the translations between the official languages of EU. The Union supports for the formation of different institutions for the development of the following translation professions: European machine translation (computer translation) institution, European Council of Associations of Literary Translators, European Community of Translation Works and European Union of Associations of Translation Companies (www.euro.eu.) <u>http://ec.europa.eu/pubic</u>

Comskee: It is a system founded and used by Saarbrücken Research Center (SFB-100). This system has been specifically adapted to the LDV (Computational Linguistics) base. It is program language oriented towards Linguistics. It has greatly contributed to MT. The translations are performed on the mathematical four operations of addition,

subtraction, division and multiplication (+, -, :, x), logarithm and potential calculations and "**Computer**". Elementary actions of mathematical logic (und - ^, oder >, negation >, wenn ---) are performed at the formation stages of translation processes. In this regard, computer is necessary and without it, MT cannot be realized (K-D-Schmitz:1987:116).

The system processes raw translation (Rohübersetzungen) in fully automatic translation process. Specific subject domain texts are more suitable for the structure of the system. These texts are processed in a short time, that is, translated and put into the service of the customers. LFC system has a capacity of processing one word in a second or 200 pages of text in a work day (Schwanke:1991:104).

CONCLUSION

As the countries become closer and closer to each other, people are left no choice but to reach more information. This in turn created an effective translation need between languages. Automatic machine translation is a commercial market and a new research area which ensures that people instantly access current information in global world. While mechanical translation is a field also related to artificial translation, it is the research subject of also linguistics, informatics and computer science. Today, MT is a world-famous branch of Software Industry and many softwares have been developed in this field. Most of them are carried out in University environments. Despite these, 1 % of all the translations is performed with MT (www.google.de/maschinelle übersetzung). In this study, machine translation, methods used in machine translation, the past and present of machine translation have been presented. In the light of these explanations, still many works are being conducted on machine translation. In spite of this, it cannot be denied that human translation is inevitable and irreplaceable in this process.

REFERENCES

Bruderer H. Automatische Sprachübersetzung, Darmstadt 1982

Jaganadh G. Man to Machine, A tutorial on art of Machine Translation. National Conference on Translation, Dept. Of Hindi, University of Kerala 2010.

Jonathan Sloccum A survey of Machine Translation: Its History, Current Status, and Future Prospects Computational Linguistic, Volume 11, 1985.

K-D. Schmidtz Maschinelle Übersetzungsmethoden und Werkzeuge, M. Niemeyer Verlag Tübingen, 1987

Ljudskanow, A. Mensch und Maschine als Übersetzer, Halle, 1972

Oz, C., Leu, MC. (2011). American Sign Language word recognition with a sensory glove using artificial neural networks *Engineering Applications Of Artificial Intelligence*, Vol. 24, 1204 - 1213, ISSN:0952-1976, DOI: 10.1016/j.engappai.2011.06.015.

Piatrowski, R. Text-Computer-Mensch, Bochum, 1984

Schwanke, M. Maschinelle Übersetzung: Ein Überblick über Theorie und Praxis 1991

Stachowitz, R. Voraussetzungen für maschinelle Übersetzung Probleme, Lösungen und Aussichten Am Beispiel der Sprachen Englisch und Deutsch, Viueweg Braunschweig, 1973

Electronic Sources:

www.google.de/maschinelle übersetzung

www.google.translate

www.SDL Multiterm 2007

www.trados.SDL :14.10.201

http://ec.europa.eu/languages/index

http://ec.europa.eu/pubiic / archives

Strengthening the Synergy between Teaching and Research Divya Singhal [1]

[1], Associate Professor Goa Institute of Management, Goa, India

divyasinghal@gim.ac.in; divyagim@gmail.com

ABSTRACT

It is now proved that with the changing context role of management education has become much more important. Teaching-learning process at management education institutions means more than facilitating learning environment and it address the demands and challenges of the knowledge based economy. In the area of management education an ongoing global debate about the teaching-research link is going on. The present paper attempts to answer how research informs teaching and how teaching is informed by research. This paper explores the linkage between teaching and research and suggests ways to strengthening that link. In the first part of the paper it talks about the Research and Teaching relationship; in the second part it discusses the Researchinformed teaching. Last part of the paper deals with the Teaching inform Research aspect.

Keywords: teaching-research, management education, india

INTRODUCTION

We live in an increasingly interdependent world. There is greater diversity at workplace. Managers have to face new challenges everyday, they have to grapple with uncertain issues and find ways to revamp their organizations in such conditions. In these kinds of scenarios we need to have decision-making talent capable of flourishing in the new environment.

"Involving students in inquiry - in research - is a way of improving their learning, motivating them more. After all, what motivates large numbers of academics is engaging in the excitement of research. Bringing research and teaching together is a way of enhancing the motivation of both academics and students."

(Brew, in preface to Jenkins et al., 2003, ix)

In this context the role of management education has become very important. Management education in general is concerned with imparting knowledge that is relevant for managerial career and also concerned with developing capabilities to use this knowledge in problem analysis, diagnosis, anticipating events, etc. and in decision-making. (Dayal 2002)

The quality of education or teaching-learning process should enable future managers to contribute global learning solutions to their organizations as quickly as possible.



Recent Debate

Teaching-learning process at management education institutions means more than facilitating learning environment where academics staff and students are 'working together'; teaching and learning are interwoven towards the needs of students and the demands/challenges of the knowledge based economy.

There is an ongoing global debate in the teaching-research nexus. There are issues such as how research inform and enhances leaning and teaching? How research is useful in the management education context? How Teachinginforms Research?

The present paper attempts to answer these questions. This paper explores the linkage between teaching and research and suggests ways to strengthening that link. In the first part of the paper it talks about the Research and Teaching relationship; in the second part it discusses the Research-informed teaching. Last part of the paper deals with the Teaching –inform Research aspect.

Feeding research knowledge into teaching can be viewed as a knowledge transfer process. The relationship between Research and Teaching has been widely studied in the last two decades. Jenkins and Zetter (2003) view the value of creating such a link from three perspectives: experientially (both students and faculty benefit); conceptually (benefit from development of knowledge); and operationally (benefit from reciprocity of Research and teaching as learning activities. Scarfe Adam in his paper, 'Conceptualizing the Teaching - Research Contrast: A Process Philosophical Perspective' formulates an argument by definition, inspired by Whitehead's manner of thinking, by which we can poist how teaching informs and enhances research and further conceptualize the teaching-research contrast. Similarly Vammila (1995) and Henkel (2000) pointed out that there are a number of studies, which show that academics feel strongly about the problems caused by the desire/wish to do research and to teach.

According to Sagor (2003) as cited by Donna R. Everett argued that teachers, who conduct action research, bring certain skills to their classrooms. They are observers (looking at what is happening and thinking about information they already have); they are questioners (everything that occurs in a classroom can be seen as data to be understood); they are learners (reflecting on what they learned rather than on what they taught); and they are more complete teachers because they bring together the concepts of knowing and doing. Senaratne, et al., (2005) as cited by McFarland indicates that the changes in quality assurance and funding mechanisms have created a tension between research and teaching. Firstly the separation of research and teaching quality assurance has created problems within universities as regards choosing a mission statement (research excellence versus teaching excellence) and allocating resources. A second tension arises among academics "as research is more rewarding compared to teaching, academics aim for research excellence at the expense of teaching" (p.588). Brown considers that the academic discussion on the linkage between research and teaching "contains a certain confusion. It is uncertain whether the research that academics are supposed to overtly link to their teaching is the research already undertaken and published by others in books, journals or textbooks, or whether what is to be introduced to teaching is their own personal research" (2005, p.394). Scott (2008) opined that business school must articulate what type of research is valued (pedagogic, discipline based or applied). AACSB International - The Association to Advance Collegiate Schools of Business in their Accreditation Standards- talks about the Portfolio of Faculty Contributions which is explained by a generalized categorization of intellectual contributions includes contributions to learning and pedagogical research, contributions to practice, and discipline-based scholarship. According to AACCB accreditation standard, Learning and Pedagogical Research contributions influence teaching-learning activities of the school. Preparation of new materials for use in courses, creation of teaching aids, and research on pedagogy all qualify as learning and pedagogical research contributions. Watkins, C. & Mortimore, P. (1999) expressed pedagogic research as applied research into teaching and learning practice. The primary aim of such research is to enable the teacher to understand and interrogate their practice, rather than add to the global stock of knowledge.

Pedagogic research plays a key role in the university's plans for future development, building on existing expertise in areas such as experiential learning, education for sustainable development. Thus, Pedagogical research can pave the right path for the development of b-school. Applied research is designed to solve practical problems of the modern world, rather than to acquire knowledge for knowledge's sake. It is basically to answer appropriately to the needs of businesses by dissemination and valuing knowledge and know-how.

Cooper and Mcalister(1998) in their paper suggested that Business schools in research universities can compete effectively if we focus on research that is both basic (influencing further knowledge development) and applied (problem driven), and if we differentiate our offering by incorporating the findings of our basic, applied research into our curriculum. Paul et. Al (1998) also talks about the use of applied research extensively by different Bschools. Many educational institutions believe in the strong relationship between teaching and research. Foundation for Organizational Research and Education (FORE) school of Management believes in research strongly and to boost their presence in field of Research, the institute has formed a "Centre of Research" under which faculty work in the varied functional areas of management with particular emphasis on organizational research. They have their refereed research journal for more than last twenty-seven years. Goa Institute of Management in its philosophy of education details core functions of GIM which includes:

- Through a learning centric mode (as against being learner centric or teaching/teacher centric), impart knowledge that is contemporary, practical and useful to managers, organizations and society.
- Generate knowledge through research that informs teaching and is informed by teaching

Research That Informs Teaching

There is a widely held axiom in universities that 'research informs teaching'. But what does this actually mean? Teaching in discipline and subject areas should reflect research knowledge, as it informs the discipline or subject area.

Research can directly inform teaching through example and practice by mirroring the thought process. (Ray and Woods berry 2009). Here are some points for research – led-teaching primarily taken from University of Melbourne experience. (Baldwin 2005)

1. Sketch on your own research in designing and teaching courses

This facet of research informed teaching Research *in* Teaching focuses on teaching that reflects the impact of research that occurs in the context of teaching practices as they intersect specific discipline/unit/course content, teaching experiences and student experiences. In this context faculty plays role of a reflective practitioner.

Fig. I: Curriculum design and the research-teaching nexus



STUDENTS AS PARTICIPANTS

Source: Based on Healey (2005a, 70)

According to Garnett and Holmes (1995) one obvious way in which research used in teaching is in underpinning curriculum, especially at postgraduate level.

It is true that its not easy to use personal research directly in teaching, however, there could be possibilities in this direction.



"We are all researchers nowTeaching and Research are becoming ever more intimately related ... In a 'knowledge society' all students – certainly all graduates – have to be researchers. Not only are they engaged in the production of knowledge; they must also be educated to cope with the risks and uncertainties generated by the advance of science."

Peter Scott, Vice Chancellor of Kingston University 'High wire: We are all Researchers now,' Guardian Education, January 28, 2002, 13

There are many opportunities for teachers to introduce their own research experiences into classes in the form of illustrations.

In my course on Research Methods, I use my recent research project during my sessions to give them practical examples. I used my papers in various occasions such as when I was teaching Factor Analysis, that time I refereed my paper and asked students to see how in that context factor analysis is useful. Similarly when taking a session on questionnaire design and data coding etc; I again shared my questionnaire development process to give them practical understanding.

Garnett and Holmes (1995) stated that research can provide teachers with a framework for the development of up-to-date course material and research related projects.

It is believed that good teacher is constantly searching for relevant examples and anecdotes. If a teacher is engaged in research in his/her areas, then this can very well keep him/her up-to-date with the current innovations in the respective field and the dynamic changes too. This understanding provides ample scope for using those facts/data in class room environment.

2. Plan learning activities around contemporary research issues

In many disciplines/ subjects it is possible to ask students to explore some of the cutting-edge research themselves. Such as in Marketing discipline; while taking a session on 'online marketing'; faculty may ask students to find out the current trends in advance and share their finding in the class.

These kinds of experiential activities may be more effective as they give a chance to involve students' in practical exposure as well as break the monotony of chalk and talk technique. For example, students in one course were asked to investigate the Management Information System used in the different oragnisations.

3. Integrate research activity into students' assignments

This facet of Research Skills & Practices most directly on students (and, where appropriate, academic staff) acquiring skills needed to successfully undertake and complete their own research.

Some courses can include full research project or given a chance to analyze 'real data' from an existing research project. Here again the author would like to cite an example of the Research Methods course at Goa Institute of Management where Project is an important part of the course. The project there is used to engage students through a process of experiential learning.

A group comprising 4-5 students generally choose a specific research topic in consultation with the Course Instructor(s). They have to identify a work – based issue in the area of Human Resource /Finance/Marketing/Operations/Social that can be investigating using a qualitative and quantitative approach. This research project is aimed to provide students with lasting benefits, e.g.

- The student selected project reinforces classroom instruction and students learning about both the qualitative and quantitative aspects of research.
- The students will become more experienced in applying suitable research tools, working in teams, brainstorming, so necessary for professional success.

The author have witnessed some of the very good quality projects in last four years at GIM. Many of the projects taken up by students were applied in nature and live projects. This has given them a chance to enjoy the unique kind of learning that comes with it. Through their projects students were able to understand the technicalities of the research process apply them in their projects and again contribute their experience in the class.

A student project is the ideal form for active learning- learning by doing, rather than just listening. Professor Ranjini in her internal document for CIS and dissertation opined that GIM could consider offering students the option of doing a Comprehensive Project of about three units. The project would require students to take up a live problem or opportunity (of defined and modest scope) facing a company and help the company to respond effectively *on the ground*. Thus the student must help the company act effectively; he must help the company execute decisions. (A library based project would not be considered acceptable as a comprehensive project.) A comprehensive project would provide student with an opportunity to (a) integrate learnings across the disciplines/ fields of management (b) learn the challenges in execution. Faculty members guiding the project have to be permanent faculty of the Institute. The student could access help from others within or outside the institute; however, the guiding and evaluation would primarily be the responsibility of the permanent faculty member who is the guide.

Brew and Bound (1995b) stressed that latest research into teaching and learning suggests that actively engaging with content is a way of gaining in depth understanding of the contents. An effective way of achieving that is by having students carry out research.

RESEARCH INFORMED TEACHING Teaching can be research-led curriculum is structured around subject content, and the content selected is directly based on the specialist research interests of teaching staff Teaching can be research-oriented attention is given to the teaching of inquiry skills and on acquiring a "research ethos"; Teaching can be research-based curriculum is largely designed around inquiry-based activities; students are also involved

4. Encourage students to feel part of the research culture of the institute

At institute level one can stimulates students' interest in research through different clubs/ societies or by holding guest lectures to keep students up-to-date with new discoveries and ideas. Many institutes have components of dissertation, case writing etc in their curriculum. The Dissertation allows students to explore deeply, a research question of interest and relevance to the student.

Sadeghi Abbas (2009) talks about the benefits of teaching from research and explained that active involvement in the research process directly improves the quality of teaching by promoting a critical engagement with the subject matter and by providing experiential learning environment. It keeps the academic up to date with the frontiers of knowledge within the discipline. He opined that research gives teachers the opportunity to convey to students not only specific new information but an understanding of the value and intrinsic excitement of scholarly endeavor and an appreciation of the spirit of enquiry underlying it.

Research Which Is Informed By Teaching

The aim of teaching is knowledge transmission and many a times there could be possibilities where teaching can be key to research or we can say teaching-led research.

Specially when designing/re-designing of curriculum; one needs to think through. Here the core is to teach 'a subject' and in the process of understanding that subject teacher requires research. For example when an idea came to the author of this paper to launch an elective related with Lyrics and Management at GIM last year; the author have to do whole lot of research on justifying her idea; creating the course outline; collating the relevant material. The author decided to link role of music in advertising; this gives her ample scope to research in order to understand the conceptual background. Launching this kind of a totally new course can provide research opportunities.

In this context; author used research at understanding level. Also later, she included this experience in one of her paper and shared with the intellectual world. This is an example of teaching –led research.

Teaching-led research can be used to showcase new courses/new developments with stakeholders group. Sometimes questions from students can led to substantiate research or class hours with students can give new ideas of refining research. In a paper by Becker and Kennedy (2004), interviews of the faculty members in respect to the question as to how their teaching informs their research were discussed. And, there was a consensus of responses to the effect that teaching substantially informs research.



One professor expressed that "Teaching keeps research in perspective – I can think of several instances in which teaching has forced me to come to my senses and give up on a topic because I couldn't explain why it is important.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Thus, there's a synergy between teaching and research -- research informs teaching and teaching informs research. It should be very significant that management education ensure ways to strengthen this synergy. Many research studies suggest that Indian B-Schools lack research culture. In light of this, to strengthen the teaching-research relationship; it is important that business school first recognize its importance and find ways to create a research culture.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The paper is an outcome of author's work to understand the Educational Philosophy of her own institute.

REFERENCES:

AACCB,AccreditationStandard.Retrievedfromhttp://www.aacsb.edu/resource_centers/research/standards_2_intellectualcontributions.aspaccessed on March 18, 2010

Baldwin Gabriel (2005) *How research informs and enhances learning and teaching in the University of Melbourne.* Centre for the Study of Higher Education. Retrieved from http://www.cshe.unimelb.edu.au accessed on March 19, 2010

Becker, William E. and Kennedy, Peter E., (2004) *Does Teaching Enhances Research in Economics?*. Retrieved from SSRN: <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract=601504</u> accessed on March18, 2010

Brew, A& Boud, D. (1995b) *Teaching and Research Establishing the Vital Link with Learning*" Higher Education, 29 (3), 261-273.

Brew, A (2003) Teaching and research: new relationships and their implications for inquiry-based teaching and learning in higher education, Higher Education Research & Development 22(1), 3-18

Brown, R. (2005) Why link personal research and teaching? Education and

Training, 47 (6/7), 393-407.

Cooper William and Mclister Leigh (1998) *The Importance of Basic, Applied Research*. Journal of Market Focused Management, 2, 303–308 (1998)

Dayal Ishwar (2002) *Developing Management Education in India*, Journal of Management Research Vol2-2 Sadeghi Abbas (2009) Relationship between Teaching and Research: Conflict or Harmony? with special focus on Guilan University (Faculty of Humanities), Iran Retrieved from <u>www.ictl.intimal.edu.my/proceedings</u> accessed on March 18, 2010.

Garnett, P& Holmes, R. (1995) *Research, Teaching and Learning: A Symbiotic Relationship* in B. Smith & S. Brown (Eds), Research Teaching *in Higher Education* (pp. 49-57), London: Kogan Page.

Griffiths R (2004) *Knowledge Production and the research –teaching nexus: the case of the built environment disciplines* Studies in Higher Education , 29(6) 709-726.

Henkel, M. (2000) *Academic Identities and Policy Change in Higher Education*, London: Jassica Kingsley Publishers. Healey, M. (2005) *Linking Research and Teaching: Disciplinary Spaces* R.

Barnett (Ed.), Reshaping the University: New Relationships Between Research, Scholarship and Teaching, 30-42. Maidenhead: McGraw- Hill/Open University Press.

Mann, Leon, & Dunning, Jeremy. & Bain, Paul (1998) *The relationship between transformational leadership and project performance in applied research development teams / by Leon Mann, Jeremy Dunning and Paul Bain* Melbourne Business School, University of Melbourne, [Carlton, Vic.]

McFarland Paul(2007) *Developing a Research Culture from Undergraduate Teaching*. Retrieved from <u>www.anzaps.org/.../Paul McFarland</u> **Research Culture** ANZAPS 07.pdf accessed on March 18, 2010

Ray Cooksey and Woodberry Eve (2009) *How Research Informs and Influences Teaching at UNE: A Statement about Aspirations and Realities,* Academic Board Document. Retrieved

from <u>www.une.edu.au/policies/.../research-informed-teaching-at-une-statement.pdf accessed on March 18</u>, 2010 Seneratne, S. *et al.* (2005)*Research knowledge transfer into teaching in the built environment.* Engineering, Construction and Architectural Management, 12 (6), 587-600.

Watkins, C. & Mortimore, P. (1999) *Pedagogy: What do we know?* In P. Mortimore (ed.), Understanding pedagogy and its impact on learning. London, Paul Chapman Publishing.1-19. Retrieved from http://www.ljmu.ac.uk/lid/ltweb/81557.htm

Valimma, J. (1995) *Higher Education Cultural Approach* Jyvaskyla Studies in Education, Psychology and Social Research . No 113. Jyvaskyla: University of Jyvaskyl.

Woodhouse, D. (1998) Auditing Research and the Research/Teaching Nexus, New Zealand Journal of Education Research 33 (1), 39-53.

"Involving students in inquiry - in research - is a way of improving their learning, motivating them more. After all, what motivates large numbers of academics is engaging in the excitement of research. Bringing research and teaching together is a way of enhancing the motivation of both academics and students."

(Brew, in preface to Jenkins et al., 2003, ix)

The Effects of Parent's SES and Education Level on Students' Mathematics Achievement: Examining the Mediation Effects of Parental Expectations and Parental Communication

Ali Bicer[1], Mary M. Capraro[2], Robert M. Capraro [3]

[1] Ali Bicer, Texas A&M University. alibicer@neo.tamu.edu

ABSTRACT

Although there has been prior research concerning parental involvement effects on students' mathematics achievement, little attention has been placed on the reasons for the mathematics achievement gap between low-and middle-income students, and how to reduce this gap associated usually attributed to students' SES. The present study's focus is specifically on parent-child communication and parental expectations mainly because these two variables can increase students' mathematics achievement despite parental income and education level. The correlation matrix was derived from a national, cross-sectional study of children. The 1997 Child Development Supplement of the Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID-CDS) data set was used to analyze the hypothesized model using SEM. The goodness-of-fit indices for the hypothesized model fit well to the data.

Keywords: mathematics achievement, mediation effects, parental expectations, parental communication

INTRODUCTION

Research about the effects of parental involvement on students' mathematics achievement have revealed that parent's SES and parent's education level play an important role on their children's early and later mathematics achievement (Crosnoe & Cooper, 2010; Clements & Sarama, 2007; Jordan, Kaplan, Locuniak, & Ramineni, 2007). Davis-Kean (2005) noted, however, that the effects of parents' educational level and SES background have not been investigated in a coherent manner because previous studies have found that the effects of these variables on children's mathematical achievement can possibly be explained by other parental variables. For example, Smith, Brooks-Gunn, and Klebanov (1997) found that the correlation between children's mathematics achievement and parental background (namely parent's SES and education level) was mediated by the educational environment at home. Additionally, the mediation effects were higher on parent's educational level than parent's SES. Halle et al. (1997) sampled from parents with low-SES backgrounds, and reported that children's mathematics success was related to parents' educational level. The reason for this relationship was because highly educated parents held more positive feelings towards mathematics and set higher success expectations from school than less educated parents (Halle, Brooks-Gunn, & Klebanov, 1997). Alexander, Entwistle and Bedinger (1994) demonstrated that although parents with low-SES backgrounds set high expectations, there was no correlation between their children's mathematics achievement and their high-expectations; however, there was a correlation between parents with high-SES backgrounds and their children's mathematics achievement. This does not mean that low-income and less educated parents are not concerned about their children's mathematics achievement, but the reason is that they themselves do not feel ready to assist their children because of their own limited educational and financial resources (Clements & Sarama, 2007). Padavick (2009) found that children's mathematics achievement can be increased even when parents read books to their children at an early age, and this early active involvement develops not only students' mathematical understanding but also their later social interaction. Therefore, research is needed with specific attention to parent-child communication and parental expectations because these two variables can be changed in a way that can help to develop children's mathematical achievement. At first glance, it appears that schools and teachers might be incapable of changing parental attitudes, but thanks to the efforts of educators through educational research's implementations, it is possible to increase parental expectations, beliefs and parent-student relationships (Yan & Lin, 2005). Therefore, the aim of the present study was to determine how parent-child communication and parental expectations play a role in explaining children's mathematics achievement regardless of their parents SES and educational background level.

Literature Review

Home experiences are vital in shaping children's future mathematical interests, beliefs, and motivations. The role of parents in shaping their children's future mathematics' attitudes and motivation is especially key during early childhood. Iruka and Barbarin (2008) noted that parents and families are considered the most essential others who children encounter in the earliest stage of their lives. The reason why parents are considered the most essential others who children encounter is early and later lives is because children observe and learn from, and later apply as parallel their early observations. Because each parent provides different experiences at home, the observations of each child results in differences related to their parents' attitudes, values, and beliefs about mathematics. All of these parental behaviors lead to different educational emphases in the home (Cross, Woods, & Schweingruber, 2009). To provide more positive educational experiences at home, parents need to be informed about how their involvement affects their children's mathematical skills and knowledge.

Friedel, Cortino, Turner, and Midgley (2010) noted that parental involvement in its many and varied ways is a vital parameter for increasing children's mathematics achievement. Current studies have indicated some specific factors that play an essential role in increasing children's mathematics achievement: Parental aspirations, parent-child communication, home structure, and parents' involvement in school's activities (Singh, Bickley, Keith, Trivetta, Keith, & Anderson, 1995; Wang, 2004). Bicer, Capraro, and Cetin (2010) noted similar indicators affecting children's mathematical achievement either adversely or positively: parents' SES, parents' success expectations from their children's mathematics, and parent-child, teacher and school communication.

Parents' SES and Educational Background Effects on Mathematics Achievement

Students who come from low-SES backgrounds enter school far behind their peers who come from higher-SES backgrounds and understand less mathematical topics including but not limited to counting, and number relations (Jordan et al., 2007). Although there has been much research about parental involvement effects on students' mathematics achievement, little attention has been placed on the reasons for the mathematics achievement gap between low-and middle-income students, and how to reduce this SES gap. Cross et al. (2009) further added that there was a huge mathematics achievement gap between low-and middle- SES students even before they enrolled in elementary school, suggesting that low-SES parents can support their children's informal mathematical knowledge and skills by enhancing their readiness before they start school; thus reducing the gap between low-SES students and high-SES. However, this support may be improved by providing information about early and later mathematical development, and its connection to parental support (Starkey & Klein, 2000). Once parents believe their support is of importance to their children' s mathematical development, they will try to provide as many opportunities as they can (Bicer, et al., 2010), and students who have had opportunities at home to learn mathematics demonstrated more mathematical achievement than their peers who lacked such opportunities. Zadeh, Farnia and Ungerleider (2010) showed that providing an enriched home environment was essential for the reading and mathematics achievement of both boys and girls, and they indicated that providing an enriched home environment was one of the options available to influence children's mathematics achievement, particularly that of children of less well-educated mothers. Crosnoe and Cooper (2010) noted that the achievement gap due to the students' economic background was larger for reading but more related to family socialization factors in mathematics.

Children had smaller gains on the math and reading tests between their kindergarten and first-grade years with each additional marker of family economic disadvantage (especially the combination of low parent education, family poverty, and some third dimension of disadvantage) (Crosnoe & Cooper, 2010, p. 26).

Guo and Harris (2000) found that the economic status of parents has had significant effects on mathematics achievement during early childhood, but its effects have not been shown to be as noteworthy as during later childhood. The reason is because there is a vital period in a child's life when development of cognitive skills is greatest and that is during the time before formal schooling when involvement by parents is generally the highest. In other words, the worst effects of poverty on children can be explained by a lack of early cognitive development within the home (Guo & Harris, 2000). Unfortunately, low-SES students receive less support in their home environment to

develop their mathematical skills than their middle and high-SES peers (Blevins-Knabe & Musun-Miller, 1999). Demir, Kilic, and Unal (2010) found that parents' educational background was also an important indicator for students' mathematics achievement, and noted that if parents had higher educational background, this could increase their children's later mathematics success. Starkey and Klein (2000) noted the gap between students' mathematics achievement associated with their SES background was not only explained by parents' financial resources, but it was mostly based on parents' educational background and exposure to mathematics. For example, although providing board game materials was cheap, and could be easily made at home, most Head Start children were not provided these activity games at home. While 80% of middle-income children reported that they played one or more board games activities at home, only 47% of Head Start children reported that they did (Ramani & Siegler, 2008). This demonstrates one of the reasons for the gap associated with SES background and why it is more likely due to parents' educational background rather than their financial resources.

Demir, Kilic, and Unal (2010) demonstrated that students whose parents were highly educated and exposed to mathematics before in their lives tended to show more success in mathematics than their peers whose parents were less educated and not being exposed to mathematics. The reason for this correlation is because highly educated parents knew the learning requirements and had the opportunity to provide the best educational environment for their children (Alomar, 2006).

Exploring the contribution of these educational settings is important because interpreting SES effects as emanating exclusively from the family or the child means that policy and program intervention may focus too narrowly as they attempt to improve the educational outcomes of low-SES children (Aikens & Barbain, 2008, p. 236).

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (2005) reported Head Start programs were not significantly impacting students' early mathematics development. Later, Clements and Sarama (2007) showed similar findings that students who attended Head Start demonstrated little gains in numbers and almost no gain in geometry. Therefore, research in mathematics education should specifically target programs like Head Start and reconsidered it in terms of its impact on children's early and later mathematics achievement, with more parental involvement being encouraged. Also, parent-child, teacher, and school communication need to be integrated into K-12 in various ways to reinforce students' mathematics development (Bicer, et al., 2010).

Parents-Child, Teacher, and School Communication

In order to decrease the gap in students' mathematics achievement, parents might be encouraged to participate in their children's education actively by attending school events, activities and mathematics workshops. Griffin, Case, and Siegler (1994) noted that parent's active participation in small group mathematical activities led to improvement in their children's numeracy skills. For instance, playing games at home such as Building Block and Big Math can significantly impact children's mathematical development (Clements & Lewis, 2009). Reading books at an early age and having students receive help from their parents or guardians with their school homework can also foster children's mathematical development (Padavick, 2009).

Educators and educational programs in K-12 should emphasize parents-teacher, parent-child, and parentsschool communication to yield positive effects on students' mathematics development. Bicer et al. (2010) found that obtaining curricular information from schools and/or teachers enables parents to follow the progress of their children; thus they can help their children with problems related to their mathematics learning. For example, when parents understand and are aware of school resources, they can encourage their children to use these resources. This is an especially helpful practice for students who have fewer resources at home. Although some children may have enough resources at home, their parents may not know how to use these resources in effective manner; thus making parentschool communication important. This is because parents can be assisted by school counselors or teachers when they have curricular questions (Bicer, et al., 2010).

Parent-teacher communication is vital for parents to track their children mathematics learning processes from a professional education viewpoint. Bicer et al. (2010) noted that if parents met with their children's mathematics teacher in order to guide their children at home, those children could become more successful than students whose parents did not participate in parent-teachers conferences. Epstein (2005b) demonstrated that students whose parents joined mathematics training and informational workshops had children who demonstrated more success than student whose parents did not attend.

Parents-school or teacher communication might be difficult because of the number of hours parents spend at their jobs, with other children at home, to name a few. To overcome these difficulties, new and innovative ideas can be used to promote parents participation such as online-communication tools (Strayhorn, 2010) or social networking sites. Shirvani (2007) researched four Algebra classes in order to show the effects of parental communication on students' mathematics success, and found that students whose parents received a monitoring sheet about their

mathematics' performance outperformed students whose parents did not use the sheet. Hyde, Quest, Alibali, Knuth, and Romberg (2006) noted that parent and school communication was more important for students whose parents did not possess enough mathematical background than for students whose parents had a strong mathematical background. This might be because less-educated parents may not know how mathematics plays a crucial role in their child's later education lives, and then they may not transmit more positive feelings to their child about mathematics.

Research has revealed that families from low SES background did not communicate with their children's school and teacher as much as parents from high SES background did. However, clear reasons have not been identified as to why families from low SES backgrounds often do not participate in educational programs and activities, and what else can be done to increase their participation (Cross et al., 2009). It has been shown that teachers, schools, and educators cannot easily change parental involvement structures, but communication between parents-child, parents-teachers, and parents-school can change parents' attitudes and beliefs about mathematics (Yan & Lin, 2005). Parental expectation as one of the important parental involvement parameter can be shaped by parental communication. Epstein (1995a) noted that in order for children to be successful in mathematics parents needed to demonstrate high expectations for school achievement despite their socio-economic background.

Parental expectations and beliefs about their children mathematics achievement

Parents can increase the potential development of their children mathematical knowledge and skills by setting high expectations and providing stimulating environments (Cross et al., 2009). Because early education years have been found to be so vital for children's later mathematics achievement, children need to be supported by their parents in their social, emotional, and cognitive development in addition to instructional support in mathematics. What happens at student's homes is related to their mathematics intrinsic motivation in childhood and later improvement through high school (Gottfried, Gottfried, & Oliver, 2009).

Parents' behaviors are crucial for their children attitudes towards mathematics (Hyde, Quest, Alibali, Knuth, & Romberg, 2006), but the relationships between parents' academic reinforcement and student's mathematics achievement was not found a significant. However, a significant relationship was found between the parents' mathematical values and students' mathematics achievement (Hong, You, & Wu, 2010). If parents thought mathematics was important, they could transfer this importance to their children's mathematics success; thus they have more positive attitudes towards mathematics.

Much research has shown the relationship between parental beliefs and attitudes, including the expectations of parents, target orientations, and ability beliefs' children espouse (Friedel, Cortina, Turner, & Midgley, 2007). However, most parents thought that the mathematics skill of their children is less important than other skills of their children. Barbarin et al. (2008) demonstrated that parental time spent on literacy skills was rated at 50%, however, the time they spend on their children's numeracy skills was rated as only 3.5%. Cannon and Ginsburg (2007) also concluded similar findings as mothers thought learning literacy, and developing language skills were more important than learning mathematics. The survey done by these researchers showed that mothers spent much of their time developing their children's language usage, however, they devoted less time to working on mathematical skills with their children. However, to decrease the gap between Low-SES and High-SES background of students mathematics achievement, parents' role should be mentioned as follow:

Parents need to become teachers within their homes. There are two key reasons behind this statement: (a) parents can influence their children by being their original teachers of intrinsic motivation, morals, and discipline; and (b) they can capitalize on the teachable moments that happen in abundance in the home! (Padavick, 2009, p. 97).

By providing more positive encouragement, parents can support their children's mathematics success. Canavagh (2009) reported that parents helping to improve their children's skills in mathematics leads to an increase in their children mathematics test scores. Children who received high levels of encouragement showed more persistence and effort when they faced difficult mathematical tasks (Hokoda & Fincham, 1995). Tocci and Ergelhard (1991) indicated that the higher levels of encouragement children received from their parents, the more positive the attitudes they displayed in their mathematics courses. In contrast, when the lower level of encouragement children received from their parents, the higher mathematical anxiety these children demonstrated. Almost all parents tried to encourage their children in mathematics, but they either did not know how to involve and/or they did not know why their involvement was important. Cavanagh (2007) showed that parents can make mathematics more interesting and joyful for their children by practicing real world informal mathematics that schools usually do not provide. Students whose parents were aware, knowledgeable, encouraging, and involved tended to gain higher academic achievement than students whose parents were not. Despite the differences between parents' backgrounds, a general view to be successful in mathematics was when parents showed high expectations for the school achievement of their children (Epstein, 1995a).

Purpose of the Statement

The present study's purpose was to examine how the socioeconomic background of parents, namely parents' income and parents' educational level, indirectly relates to children's mathematics achievement as mediated through parental expectations and parental communication.

METHOD

Participants

To conduct the present study, many relevant samples from previous studies were reviewed to find the best fit answer associated with the purposes of the study. After analyzing many data sets, one correlation matrix reported by Davis-Kean (2005) was selected because this matrix included all the variables which were previously selected for use in this study. In the present study, only 5 variables (see the correlation matrix in Table 1) associated with the present study were purposefully selected among 27 variables.

Table 1. Correlation Matrix

Variables	Parent's Education	Family Income	Parental Expectation	Parent-Child Communication	Mathematics Achievement
Parent's Education	1		•		
Family Income	.53	1			
Parental Expectation	.42	.34	1		
Parent-Child Communication	.17	.18	.24	1	
Mathematics Achievement	.38	.33	.44	.21	1

This correlation matrix was derived from a national, cross-sectional study of children, the 1997 Child Development Supplement of the Panel Study of Income Dynamics (PSID-CDS) data set were used. The data-set included families with children up to 12 years of age. In cases where there were more than 2 children at home, only one child from each family was randomly selected to avoid perfectly correlated data. The PSID data-set included interviews, home-observations, and students' reading and mathematics achievement scores. The preset study sample size was 868 because the correlation matrix reported by Davis-Kean (2005) reported only the sample of 868 students from the 1997 PSID data set. This sample includes 8-12 years old middle school students, and their gender was equally distributed with 435 females and 433 males. The ethnicity of participants were mainly European American (n= 423) and African American (n= 411), with the remaining (n= 34) from the other ethnic backgrounds.

Measures and Analysis

In the present study parent's income, parents' education, parents' expectation, and parents-child communication were selected as predictor variables, and students' mathematics achievement score was the outcome variable. To test the hypotheses that parent income and education indirectly influenced children's mathematics achievement through parental expectation and communication, structural equation modeling (SEM) in M-plus was employed to estimate the fit of the hypothesized model (see Figure 1). All fit indices in M-plus were taken into account to determine whether or not the hypothesized model fit the given data.

RESULTS

The results from the SEM analysis revealed that parent's income and parent's education were related to students' mathematics achievement indirectly through parental expectations and parental communication. The goodness-of-fit indices for the hypothesized model were: chi-square (1 = df) = 23.093, CFI = 0.95 and SRMR= 0.04 indicating that the hypothesized model (see in Figure 1) fits well to the data, and the explained variance of children's mathematics achievement ($R^2 = .25$). Without parental expectations and parental communication, the explained portion of children's mathematics achievement by parent's education and parent's income was ($R^2 = .16$).





Figure 1. Standardized parameter values of the model.

According to the hypothesized model, all paths other than the two paths (one from parental communication to students' mathematics achievement, and the other from income to parental communication) drawn were statistically significant, and each path was positively estimated as shown in Figure 1. In the hypothesized model, the direct path through parent's educational level to students' mathematics achievement ($\beta = .17$, p < .005), the direct path through parent's income to students mathematics achievement ($\beta = .11$, p < .005), and all other indirect paths were non zero; thus suggesting that parental expectation and parent-child communication have mediation effects on students' mathematics achievement was not fully mediated by the indirect path of parental expectation and parental communication. The mediation effects of parental expectation on parental education level to explain students' mathematics achievement were (.333x .306 = .101) about 10 %, and had the largest mediation effects on mathematics achievement compared to other mediation effects in the hypothesized model. Therefore, the present study suggested that there might be other mediation effects which were not taken into account in the hypothesized model. Table 2 through 5 shows the estimation, significance, and relationships to variables of each path in the hypothesized model.

Variables		Estimates	р	Relationship
	Parental Communication	.08	>.005	Positive
Mathematics on	Parental Expectation	.30	< .005	Positive
	Income	.11	< .005	Positive
	Parent's Education Level	.17	<.005	Positive

Table 2. Standardized Parameter Estimates, p Values, and Relationships of Variables

Table 3. Standardized Parameter Estimates, p Values, and Relationships of Variables

Variables		Estimates	р	Relationship
Communication on	Income	.12	>.005	Positive
Communication on	Parent's Education Level	.10	<.005	Positive

Variables		Estimates	р	Relationship
Income with	Parent's Education Level	.53	<.005	Positive

Table 4. Standardized Parameter Estimates, p Values, and Relationships of Variables

Table 5. Standardized Parameter Estimates, p Values, and Relationships of Variables

	Variables	Estimates	р	Relationship
Expect on	Income	.16	< .005	Positive
	Parent's Education Level	.33	<.005	Positive

DISCUSSION

The present study examined the effects of parental-expectation and parent-child communication as mediator variables on parents' educational level and parents' income to explain students' mathematics achievement. The hypothesized model proposed that parents' education level and parents' income were indirectly related to students' mathematics achievement through the parental expectation and parent-child communication. In the model, parental expectation has the largest mediation effects on parents' education level to explain students' mathematics achievement. This suggests that parents with higher educational backgrounds set a higher success expectation from school to their children. However, the mediation effects of parental expectation are small on parents' income to explain students' mathematics achievement. The reasons why parental expectation has larger mediation effects on parents' education level rather than parents' income might be because: 1) highly educated parents are more likely to be believers of mathematics importance on their children lives; thus they transfer their positive feelings and attitudes to their children (Hong, You, & Wu, 2010). Once students are exposed to positive mathematics feelings and attitudes, their intrinsic motivation towards mathematics can increase (Gottfried, Gottfried, & Oliver, 2009) and they want to be more successful in mathematics, 2) students whose parents were highly educated and exposed to mathematics before in their lives tended to show more success in mathematics than their peers whose parents were less educated and not exposed to mathematics (Demir, Kilic, & Unal, 2010). Therefore, because highly educated parents knew the learning requirements and had opportunities to provide the best education environment for their children (Alomar, 2006), their children were exposed earlier to mathematics in the most effective home educational environment.

In the hypothesize model, there are two non-statistically significant paths; one is from parents' income to parent-child communication, and the other is from parent-child communication to students' mathematics achievement. This is surprising because the literature revealed parental communication is one of the important parental factor on children' mathematics achievement. However, the reason why these two paths are not significant might be due to the present study's limitation that parent-child communication was selected as only one variable, but there are various parental communication namely parent-child, parent-school, and parent-teacher. Further research needs to investigate all three parental communication dimensions to determine the role of parental communication on students' mathematics achievement.

In summary, parental expectation and parental communication are two important variables that can increase students' mathematics achievement. Regardless of parental background related to SES and education level, the gap between high and low SES background students' mathematics achievement can be reduced by increasing parental expectations and parental communication. Once parental communication is establish, parental expectation will more than likely happens by itself. This is because once parents communicate with their children and their children's teachers; they may become more knowledgeable about their children needs.

REFERENCES

Alexander, K. L., Enwistle, D. R., & Bedinger, S. D. (1994). When expectations work: Race and socioeconomic differences in school performance. Social Psychology Quarterly, 57, 283-299.

Alomar, B. O. (2006). Personal and family paths to pupil achievement. Social Behavior and Personality, 34, 907-922.

Aikens, N. L., & Barabarin, O. (2008). Socioeconomic differences in reading trajectories: The contribution of family, neighborhood, and school contexts. Journal of Educational Psychology, 100(2), 235-251.

Barbarin, O. A., Early, D., Clifford, R., Bryant, D., Frome, P., Burchical, M., Howes, C., & Pianta, R. (2008). Parental conceptions of school readiness: Relation to ethnicity, socioeconomic status, and children's skills. Early Education & Development, 19 (5), 671-701.

Bicer, A., Capraro, R. M., & Cetin, S. C. (2012, February). Parental involvement effects on students' mathematics achievement. Paper presented at the annual conference of Southwest Educational Research Association (SERA), New Orleans, LA.

Blevins-Knabe, B., & Musun-Miller, L. (1996). Number use at home by children and their parents and its relationship to early mathematical performance. Early Development and Parenting, 5(1), 35-45. doi:10.1002/(SICI)1099-0917(199603)5:1<35::AID- EDP113>3.0.CO;2-0

Cannon, J., & Ginsburg, H. (2008). "Doing the math": Maternal beliefs about early mathematics versus language learning. Early Education and Development, 19(2), 238-260.

Cavanagh, S. (2007). When it comes to math and science, mom and dad count: Parents attitudes influence how their offspring take to those subjects. Science & Mathematics, 27(9), 24-26.

Cavanagh, S. (2009). Parents schooled in learning how to help with mathematics. Science & Mathematics, 28(2), 10-11.

Clements, D. H., & Sarama, J. (2007). Early childhood mathematics learning. In J.F.K. Lester (Ed.), Second handbook of research on mathematics teaching and learning (pp. 461-555). New York, NY: Information Age.

Clements, P., & Lewis, A. E. (2009, April). The effectiveness of the big math for little kids curriculum: Does it make a difference? Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association, San Diego, CA.

Crosnoe, R., & Cooper, C.E. (2010). Economically disadvantaged children's transition into elementary school: Linking family process, school contexts, and educational policy. American Educational Research Journal, 47(2), 258-291.

Cross, C.T., Woods, T. A., & Schweingruber, H. (Eds.). (2009). Mathematics learning in early childhood: Paths toward excellence and equity. Washington, DC: National Research Council.

Davis-Kean, E. P. (2005). The influence of parent education and family income on child achievement: The indirect role of parental expectations and the home environment. Journal of Family Psychology, 19(2), 294-304.

Demir, I., Kılıç, S., & Ünal, H. (2010). Effects of students' and schools' characteristics on mathematics achievement: Findings from PISA 2006, Procedia Social and Behavioral Sciences, 2, 3099-3103.

Epstein, J. L. (1995a). School/family/community partnerships: Caring for the children we share, Phi Delta Kappan, 76 (9), 701-712.

Epstein, J. L. (2005b). Links in a professional development chain: Preservice and inservice education for effective programs of school, family, and community partnerships. The New Educator, 1(2), 125-141.

Friedel, J., Cortina, K. S., Turner, J. C., & Midgley, C. (2010). Changes in efficacy beliefs in across the transition to middle school: Examining the effects of perceived teacher and emphases. Journal of Educational Psychology, 102, 102-114.

Friedel, J. M., Cortina, K. S., Turner, J. C., & Midgley, C. (2007). Achievement goals, efficacy beliefs, and coping strategies in mathematics: The roles of perceived parent and teacher goal emphases. Contemporary Educational Psychology, 32, 434-458.

Guo, G., & Harris, K. M. (2000). The mechanisms mediating the effects of poverty on children's intellectual development. Demography, 37, 431-447.

Griffin, S., Case, R., & Siegler, R. S. (1994). Classroom lessons: Integrating cognitive theory and classroom practice. In K. McGilley (Ed.), Rightstart: Providing the central conceptual prerequisites for first formal learning of arithmetic to students at risk for school failure (pp. 25-50). Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

Gottfried, A.W., Gottfried, A.E., & Oliver, P.H. (2009). A latent curve model of parental motivational and developmental decline in math and science academic intrinsic motivation. Journal of Education Psychology, 101(3), 729-739.

Halle, T., Kurtz-Costes, B., & Mahoney, J. (1997). Family influences on school achievement in low-income, African American children. Journal of Educational Psychology, 89, 527-537.

Hokoda, A., & Finchan, F. D. (1995). Origins of students' helpless and mastery achievement patterns in the family. Journal of Educational Psychology, 87, 375-385.

Hong, S., Yoo, S. K., You, S., & Wu, C. C. (2010). The reciprocal relationship between parental involvement and mathematics achievement: Autoregressive cross-lagged modeling. The Journal Experimental Education, 78, 419-439.

Hyde, J. S., Quest, N. M., Alibali, M. N., Knuth, E., & Romberg, T. (2006). Mathematics in the home: Homework practices and mother-child intersections doing mathematics. Journal of Mathematics Behavior, 25, 136-152.

Iruka, I., & Barbarin, O. (2008). African American children's early learning and development: examining parenting, schools, and neighborhoods. In H. Neville, N. Tynes, & S. Utsey (Eds.), Handbook of African American psychology (Ch. 13, pp. 175-186). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.

Jordan, N. C., Kaplan, D., Locuniak, M. N., & Ramineni, C. (2007). Predicting first-grade math achievement from developmental number sense trajectories. Learning Disabilities Research and Practice, 22(1), 36-46.

Padavick, J. (2009). Parental involvement with learning and increased student achievement. Doctoral study in teacher Walden University. UMI: 3366815.

Sirvani, H. (2007). The effect of teacher communication with parents on students' mathematics achievement. American Secondary Education, 36(1), 31-43.

Singh, K., Bickley, P. G., Trivetta, P., Keith, T. Z., Keith, P. B., & Anderson, E. (1995). The effects of four components of parent involvement on eight grade student mathematics achievement: Structural analysis of NELS: 88 data. School Psychology Review, 24(2), 297-315.

Strayhorn, T. L. (2010). When race and gender collide: Social and cultural capital's influence on the academic achievement of African American and Latino males. The Review of Higher Education, 33(3), 307-332.

Starkey, P., & Klein, A. (2000). Fostering parental for children's mathematical development. Early Education & Development, 11(5), 659-680.

Smith, J. R., Brooks-Gunn, J., & Klebanov, P. K. (1997). Consequences of living in poverty for young

children's cognitive and verbal ability and early school achievement. In Duncan, G. J., & Brooks Gunn, J. (Eds.). Consequences of growing up poor, (pp. 132-189). New York, NY: Russell Sage Foundation

Tocci, C. M., & Ergelhard, G. (1991). Achievement parental support and gender differences in attitudes toward mathematics. Journal of Educational Research, 84(5), 280-286. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, Administration for Children and Families, Office of Planning,

Research, and Evaluation. (2005). Head Start Impact Study: First-year Findings. Retrieved from http://www.acf.hhs.gov/programs/opre/hs/faces/index.html Wang, D.

B. (2004). Family factors and mathematics success: A comparison of Chinese and US student. International Journal of Educational Research, 41, 40-54.

Yan, W., & Lin, Q. (2005). Parent involvement and mathematics achievement: Contrast across racial and ethnic groups. The Journal of Educational Research, 99(2), 116-127.

Zadeh, Z.Y., Farnia, F., & Ungerleider, C. (2010). How home enrichment mediates the relationship between maternal education and children's achievement in reading and mathematics. Early Education and Development, 21, 568-594.

The Use of Technology in Academic Translator Training in the Restructuring Process of Higher Education Filiz SAN [1]

[1] Research Assistant, Sakarya University fsan@sakarya.edu.tr

ABSTRACT

As the present age is communication age, the function of translation in this environment is gradually increasing. As a consequence of the developments occurring in the present century, it seems inevitable that translation be performed by means of today's technological/electronic tools and resources. Accordingly, technological tools have taken their place in translation education as well. The most important reason of this is the expansion of translation fields and the increase in what is expected from the translator. In this framework, the translator is expected to use computer assisted translation tools, to create translation memory, to access information and use resources. In this article, it has been focused on how and for what purposes technological/electronic tools and resources such as computers and computer hardware will be included in translation education within the context of Bologna process for the purposes of gaining these skills and meeting the expectations. In this regard, how the Bologna process is reflected in translation education will also be examined carefully. Translation occupational standards and specifically the use of information technologies have been discussed within the framework of the projected revisions in Bologna process. Besides, the approaches towards the academic translation education have been examined within the scope of this process. In addition to this, parametres necessary for the future of translation education have been determined and some conclusions have been reached for future studies to be carried out in translation.

	Bologna	Process,	Tran	slation	Осси	upational	Standards,
Keywords:	Academic	Transla	tion	Educat	ion,	Compute	r Assisted
	Translatio	n					

INTRODUCTION

The establishment of the departments giving academic translation education dates to early 80's. The increase over time in the number of the departments giving translation education brought various approaches in this field. Among those approaches, the most common one is the view that market expectations should be kept in mind while creating programs. However, it is not possible to train students as ready staff for the market in a 4-year education¹.

As a result of the developments taking place in the present century, the restructuring of higher education has become a current issue. In 1999, the first steps were taken in this direction. How did/will the revisions realized/to be realized in line with the objectives of the Bologna process and be reflected in academic translation education? How did/will these revisions affect the academic translation education? In this study, these questions will be answered by focusing on the use of technology in translation education. Accordingly, the approaches towards academic translation

¹ c.f. Eruz 2004:158

education will be examined. In addition to this, the Bologna process and occupational standards of translation in parallel with it will be examined; current parameters will be determined and conclusions will be drawn about the inclination of translation education. The aim of this study is not to make characteristic determinations and providing a closing remark to the discussions but to bring questions about the objectives of translation education and to ensure that they are being reconsidered according to the changing conditions.

The Use of Technology in Translation

It is known that the translation activity is not just a simple transfer occurring between the languages. The need for translation, which increases each day in every field started to require better quality the translators performance during the translation activityBesides the existing fields, new fields started to emerge with the recent developments in translation and related fields. What needs to be questioned at this point is how the use of technology is involved in education programs. Examining the use of technology in translation will be providing answers to these questions.

Various developments that took place in the 20th century were also reflected in science and technology as well as in social life. These developments affected international relations and increased the need for translation. Computer -aided translation became a current issue in translation field with the invention of computer in 1950's. In his article titled "Foundation of Computer Assisted Translation Activity", İlyas Öztürk explains the developments in "mechanical translation" as follows:

The period when works in this subject intensifies is 1950's and 1960's. As the progress and success in these years were limited, satisfactory translations were not achieved. The works that started in 1950's continues powerfully and as a result of them, significant achievements have been made today. Fully automatic translations have not been reached with these accomplishments and human translation should undoubtedly be put into use. While on one hand works on scientific methods are carried out in order to create better and more accurate translations, on the other hand new theories and views come on the scene." ²

The expansion of the working field of translators has brought with it various expectations such as technology use. Translators as experts are expected to improve themselves and to cope with the needs of the current conditions in order to meet the demands. This is also reflected in education. Developments taking place in our century increased the responsibilities of the institutions giving translation education and forced them to change their objectives and introduce innovations.

"It is surely important to learn how to use technical tools, such as computers. Computers are important tools for both creating texts and correcting them rapidly, and prepare the list of literature and databanks. Today we can say that there is no field left operating without using computers."³

Margret Amman emphasizes that technical tools are used widespread in every field. As a consequence of the developments taking place in our age and especially in parallel with the prevalence of technology, the use of technology has taken its place in translation activity as well. We noted above that the most important reason of it has been the increase in what is expected from the translators due to the same developments.

² Öztürk

³ Eruz 2004:24





Figure 1: Tools that the translators benefit from⁴

According to Peter A. Schmitt, the above figure is important in that it clarifies the sources that the translators benefit from in technology use. By making good use of this figure it is possible to say that technology from a translation point of view shows its face in three ways. The tools and devices used by the translators (for instance, computers, printers, scanners etc.), translation material (for example website localizations) and the tools and resources the translators benefit from in translation process (online dictionaries, translation programs, memories etc.) are important in this process.

As the fields expand accordingly, what is expected from the translators has also increased in this framework. While translation demands increase in such fields as technical text autorship, localizations of computer software, website translations etc, the translators are expected to perform computer-assisted translations, to use translation programs and translation memories etc.

In her book Susanne Hagemann "Translationswissenschaft und der Bologna-Prozess: BA/MA-Studiengange fur Ubersetzen und Dolmetschen im internationalen Vergleich" tells the developments and transformations about translation education and explains the changes as follows:

"The tools and the equipment of the translators are not any more just paper, pencil, typewriter and printed sources, but computer, internet and all the opportunities it provides."⁵

The vastness of the opportunities quoted by Hagemann is known by everyone. For the translator, it means to know how to utilize increasing opportunities with an ever advancing technology. Since the working area of the translator is the market, then the expectations of that market are too important to be underestimated. The importance of translation education should be stressed at this very point. In order to answer such questions as "What is the situation of the institutions that give translation education?", "What sort of an endeavour do the candidate translators need to show and who are able to follow the progressing technology and who are able to know how to

⁴ Peter A. Schmitt(1998) "Technische Arbeitsmittel" in Handbuch der Translation"

⁵ Hagemann, 2004:10

NED The Online Journal of New Horizons in Education

profit from that technology ?" and "Do the education institutions train ready personnel for the market within this sense?" In order to answer these questions it is essential to examine the Bologna process and translation occupational standards closely.

Bologna Process And Translation Occupational Standards

The effects of technological and scientific developments are deeply felt in translation activity when it is compared to various different fields. Bologna process is one of the most visible indications of this effect. It is the restructuring process of Higher Education System implemented by the member states. All the actions performed by professional competency board do have an utmost importance in this restructuring process.

In regard to shareholders, all the attempts related to the restructuring of higher education system have been conducted in Bologna process where Turkey along with many countries have also been a part of this process. The reasons of this need and its relation with the market that are explained in the booklet of Bologna process are as follows:

"Economic, social, cultural, political, scientific and technological developments taking place in the present century make it necessary for the higher education to be restructured. As the demand for higher education increases in information societies, it requires the higher education systems to develop accountable and transparent processes. New technologies make it possible to use new materials in education and research fields and increase the importance of flexible learning ways and life-long learning. In addition, the importance of the relationship between the higher education institutions and business world increases along with the increasing demand for the higher education in globalizing economies."

Bologna process formally began with the Bologna Declaration signed in 1999. The studies carried out within the framework of this process, have ensured and consisted of two-stage degree system consisting of higher education undergraduate and post-graduate with a European Credit Transfer System (ECTS) provided the mobility of students and instructors. It is aimed to develop the quality assurance and European dimension in higher education system.

Within the framework of these objectives, shareholders of the professions have taken their position in the program improvement stepsfor higher education. External shareholders, graduates, representatives of employers and professional chambers and an advisory committee were also involved in this process. The contributions of all the shareholders revealed the importance of relationship between academy and market. If it is interpreted in terms of translation education, then the shareholders, graduates, translation business enterprises become the objective group. In this regard, it is essential to take into consideration and involve all the related shareholders in the restructuring process of translation education.

In the light of all these datas, firstly the expectations of the market needs to be determined in order to interpret the reflections of Bologna process in translation education. Benefiting from not only the studies "Professional Competency Board", which is specifically acting as a decision body in the restructuring process of higher educationbut also the translation occupational standards will make it possible for us to progress over concrete determinations.

Professional competency board "determine the essentials of national competencies in technical and occupational fields, and conduct activities related to inspection, assessment and evaluation, documentation and certification"⁷. It is also mentioned in the explanations of Bologna Process that the studies conducted by the board should be taken into consideration in the structuring process of higher education;

"Determining the professional competencies is among the main tasks of PCB. Professional competencies are essential in terms of forming educational programs in line with the requirements of

⁶ "Restructuring in Higher Education: Applications of Bologna Process in 66 Questions", <u>http://bologna.yok.gov.tr/?page=yazi&c=0&i=129</u>, 2010:2

⁷ These information has been taken from the formal website of Professional competency board <u>http://www.myk.gov.tr/index.php/tr/hakkimizda/genel-olarak</u>



business market and determining the skills of the individuals to perform the profession. "8

Occupational standards directly contribute to the translation education. Occupational standards have been defined by a group of professionals whom have taken the views and perceptions of the related shareholders. These shareholders are as follows;

Ministry of European Union Translation Coordination Directorate, Turkish Translator's Association, Conference Interpreters Association of Turkey, Association of Translation Enterprises, Republic of Turkey Ministry of Foreign Affairs, Translation Enterprises, Translator Associations and Universities. Since the determination process of the translational professional standards studies are still ongoing, the information that has been analysed within the framework of our study has been taken from the existing draft.

Technology use in the translation profession has been particularly included in the examined draft. Among the tasks of the translator which are defined inseven categories, do have relations with technological tools;:

- He/she eliminates Translation Memory repeated entries
- He/she performs updates and improvements in an effort to keep the memory clean according to terminological changes and content similarities
- He/she makes possible the width of translation memory usage area relating to the operations of import and export
- He/she checks the appropriateness of the cabin and voice hardware of the environment where simultaneous translation will be performed according to the standards
- He/she checks the functionality of the technical hardware and software by means of which he/she will perform written translation and renders them suitable for use
- He/she translates the content of the speaker simultaneously with the help of technical equipment
- He/she follows the professional and sectoral developments through relevant sources and reflects them in his/her works.⁹

When we have a look at these tasks, we see that the area of responsibility for the translator is not only limited with the translation product. The translator is expected to have a command of the tools he/she uses and benefits from, and checks and updates them continually. Considering the technological tools used by the translator in the working environment, the importance of technology in the translation profession is revealed. The first thing that comes to mind when talking about technology is the use of computer . Text creating programs, skills of creating terminology, mechanical translation programs, skills of creating memories and utilizing them, database use are included in it as well as the use of printer, scanner and in general computer. It is necessary to examine the objectives of academic translation education in order to explain how much it is possible to make the students to gain all these skills.

Objectives of Academic Translation Education

It would not be wrong to say that translation education is formed according to the translation understanding prevalent in its existing period. According to the traditional point of view, translators "are persons that mediate between different languages"¹⁰. This point of view which attributes the language primary importance is directly reflecting on education as well. Translation education was formerly given by the departments of foreign language teaching and philology, but after the translation studies was gained its position as a scientific approach, departments of translation have started to be founded.¹¹

The increase of translation need in the market brought new responsibilities for education institutions each day. The expansion of translation field led to the questioning of the **objectives** of translation education. These approaches

⁸ "Restructuring in Higher Education: Applications of Bologna Process in 66 Questions", 2010:33

⁹ See Professional Competency Board Translation Profession Standard Draft Text <u>http://www.myk.gov.tr/index.php/tr/haberler/34-meslek-standartlar-dairesi-bakanl/1056-myk-calma-grubu-tarafndan-taslak-meslek-standard-hazrland 2012</u>: 10-17.

¹⁰ Ammann, 2008:14

¹¹ For detailed information in translation education, see Eruz, Sakine (2003, 2008)


particularly focus on the formation of translation education and the extentson of translation staff whom could be trained for the market. One of the most important approaches commonly adopted among these views is the opinion of Christiane Nord. In her article "Praxisbezug im Übersetzungsunterricht – Wie realitätsnah muss eine universitäre Translatorenausbildung sein?" she mentiones her ideas as follows;

"Eine Universitätsausbildung soll eine wissenschaftlich fundierte, breite Grundlage für ein Berufsfeld vermitteln. Das heisst, es werden Juristen, nicht Richter oder Staatsanwälte, Mediziner, nicht Neurologen oder Genforscher, Translatoren oder Experten für interkulturelle Kommunikation und nicht Konferenzdolmetscher / Fachübersetzer für Elektrotechnik ausgebildet."¹²

These words seem to sum up Nord's views on translation education. Nord points out the fact that there is neither any education for the specific field of expertise in academic translation nor in other professions. What is stressed here is that it is not possible to train translators prepared for the market. Nord also explains the point that the translation education should be including theoretical and historical information (contemporary translational theoretical models, the history of translation theories, translation oriented text analysis, communication models etc.) so as to form the basis of translatological competence.

Noting that it is also important for the translation oriented research and documentation methods to be taught in a systematic and application-focused manner, Nord lays stress on the necessity that the students ought also to be informed about the technological supplementary tools for translation act. In addition, Nord makes it clear that it is necessary to inform the students about translation problems and finding a solution for them on the basis of the theoretical information given in translation education and real or near-real examples in translation practice.¹³

There is a need for translation in every field of life. How could the expectations in many fields like medicine, law, technique, politics be taken into consideration? The answer of this question lies at the objectives of academic translation education. In her paper where she examines "The Relation Between Academic Translation Education and Translation Market", Neslihan Demez interprets Nord's statements in such a way:

"I am of the opinion that it would be wrong to interpret Nord's opinion that academic education should offer a wide viewpoint towards a given profession rather than offering an expertise in that profession in the manner that the academy is against expertise, that it does not consider the conditions of the market and that it does not prepare the studens for the market. What is wished to be emphasized here is that academic education aims to give the students the skills of multi-purpose thinking, evaluating the events from different points of view and positioning them within different contexts."¹⁴

This explanation of Demez should not be overlooked. It is acceptable that the educational objectives of the translation education departments can be different however the above mentioned points need to be taken into consideration as a priority in curriculum and content planning. Likewise, approaches overlapping with this view have been brought by various translatologists.

Turgay Kurultay discusses the main objectives of translation education in his article "WWhat are the "condiciones sine quibus non" of Translation Education? An Essay on Determining Main Principles in Translation Education" and states that a graduate of translation studies should have;

- To be able to create functional and active texts with specific aims, to be able to criticize the texts of others and suggest corrections.
- To be able to approachanalytical to a given translation task, to make suggestions about the features of the final product to the person who gives the task and act as consultant (if necessary to give suggestions about the translated text in question).
- To decide whether taking or not taking the suggested work, to make a self assesment about the personal

¹² Nord, 1990:9

¹³ c.f. Nord, 1990:11

¹⁴ Demez, unpublished paper, 2008, titled "The Relation Between Academic Translation Education and Translation Market"

skills, knowledge and working conditions.

- To be able to translate for different purposes and to be able to take decisions as required by the communication environment.
- To be able to perform consultancy and mediation in an interlingual communication; to be able to determine, the necessary knowledge and comprehension for creating a common understanding ground for the related parties
- To be able to create a realistic working network in order to perform the undertaken task with a productive and satisfactory manner.¹⁵

It is particularly remarkable that the skills listed by Kurultay are broad in scope. It is the 'consciousness' that is being tried to be earned by the student for this objective. Accordingly, a translator is expected to be aware of the work he/she is performing and the responsibilities he/she will be undertaking. Stating those facts requires a specific intellectual background besides those skills. Kurultay lists the main parameters for translation education as follows:

- Creating a substructure with a wide perspective for a basic education;
- Introducing the translation process as a whole;
- Leading the student for an individual study;
- If a skill-focused field is chosen it is necessary to define the objectives of vocational educationand related fields;
- Treating different fields, different texts and different translation tasks in a comparative manner;
- Offering theoretical information as a justification tool for practice;
- Gainining translation skills not a matter of having high quantity in translationpractice but rather performing translation with a manner of methodical class practices oriented for specific skills;
- Teaching to practice with a systematic way and making use of supplementary tools and showing the students how to approach critically and come to an evaluation (within this scope, teaching the students to work with the field experts and benefit from them for the purposes of translation in a practical way);
- Informing the student about the field of practice (market).¹⁶

It will be fruitful to consider these parameters in when preparing programs for the translation education in order to to reach its objectives. It is observed that these points also cover technology use in translation education. It is clearly seen in the profession standards draft that technology is an necessary in translation profession.

Technology in translation activity is devided in three parts. In order to objectify this study to make evaluations within the framework of parameters mentioned above it will be beneficial to give an example about translation program that the translator benefit from as a research field and supplementary tool.

Technology in Translation Education

Today it is inevitable to use translation technologies and computer assisted translation tools not only in the marjket but also in translation education programs. The student is informed about the importance of technology use both in research methods and in computer assisted translation practices.

The classes that have computer assisted translation are included in education programs in general. Within the scope of computer assisted translation classes of some departments introduce Trados to give translation education. Trados is one of the most commonly used program . the presence of these kinds of software programs included in education programs can be interpreted as a result of market expectations. However, if the content of the class is examined, it is observed that this class has been included in curriculum only for teaching the Trados program. The

¹⁵ Kurultay, 1997

¹⁶ Kurultay, 1997



developments that have been occurring since the beginning of mechanical translation history until today are being the matter of discussions within the scope of the class practices. The students are informed about theknowledge and skills that are essential within the market such as computer assisted translation programs and online dictionaries. The Trados program is given after the students have all of these related information about technology usage. Here are the following features:

A. Translation Memory: One could benefit from the translation memories offered by SDL Trados as well as from the ones offered by other servers. For example, IATE.

B. Automated Translation Server: Translation is performed by a machine. The resulting translation is formed in a server and therefore it is realized by means of connecting to a server. For example, SDL BeGlobal or Google Translate.

C. Termbanken: You can use your databases or those databases created by others. You can also use server based term databases.

D. AutoSuggestWörterbücher: This feature enables the translation to be completed rapidly. When you enter a letter for the objective text the system automatically makes a suggestion and you can use those suggestions as well. You can create new ASW or choose the existing one.¹⁷



Figure 2: SDL Trados Studio 2011 Main Page View¹⁸

Here the students are informed about the features of Trados, a computer assisted translation program, and the students are taught how to use it. What if Trados, which is commonly used in continually developing technology, loses its popularity?

If we start from the objectives of academic translation education explained above and to study carefully the technology use in translation education, it is necessary to say that it would be appropriate to adopt an approach similar to the translations of specific fields. It is evident that it is impossible to train translator candidates /the students with a high level of competency with all of their skills developed.

At this point the question of how to keep up with the ever progressing and developing technology in education programs comes to mind. Undoubtedly, this should not be considered as an exclusion of translation programs from

 $[\]begin{tabular}{ll} \hline 17 & Can: EBS & Trados & Lecture & Notes: \\ \underline{http://www.ebs.sakarya.edu.tr/ebs_2012/?upage=fak&page=drs&f=02&b=16&ch=1&dpage=tnm&InKod=8265&dpage \\ \underline{=all} & \hline 18 & characterization & characterizat$

¹⁸ SDL Trados web page: <u>http://www.sdl.com/products/sdl-trados-studio/</u>

the education. What matters here is the skills that are desired to be acquired by the students. For instance, translation programs are all essential in the field of translation activity. Yet, one should not forget that the translation programs used in the market may also differ from each other.

If we consider the education objectives that we have discussed above, we can list the skills that are aimed to be earned by the student about technology use as follows:

- To be able to evaluate technology as a whole;
- Comprehending the general logic of computer assisted translation programs;
- To be able to benefit with a conscious manner from the technological supplementary tools with the method knowledge he/she has learned;
- To be able to envision -and provide solutions to- the problems that he/she could face when working with programs of this kind;
- To be able to compare and critically question a new program he/she could come across;
- To comprehend the logic of translation memories and term databases, to make use of them, update and create them;
- To be able to adapt to the new situations that he/she could find himself/herself in.

In addition to these, the expectations in the translational professional standards that we have told above should be taken into consideration in the technological objectives of translation education.

CONCLUSION

In this paper, technology used in translation education was discussed within the scope of restructuring process of higher education. In this context, one of the main objectives of Bologna process which was creating relationship between the higher education institutions and business world, was taken into consideration. The studies of Professional Competency Board about the professional translation standards were discussed. Objectives of translation education were taken within the framework of the acquired information and the issue of technology in translation education was examined within the scope of computer assisted translation. The expectations from the translators about the computer assisted translation were mentioned and accordingly some skills that a translator candidate should possess in his/her translation education were listed.

Although the fact that such programs as Lingua-soft, Trados, Systran which are used in translation market are given in translation education create some further problems they may have some help for the translation market. In this process, the acquired information will lose its accuracy by the developing technology and the translator will encounter new, much more advanced programs. Despite the fact that the daily increase of the translation programs used in the market make it harder for the translators to follow these developments; education programmes may turn them into a possibility and an opportunity to develop basic competence and coping skills in use of translation technology. However it is not realistic to consider that all of the translation programs can be taught when we consider the variety of market expectations. The institutions giving translation education should be aware of this fact.

In the light of the above mentioned facts, it is necessary to consider market expectations within the objectives of academic translation education. It is possible to claim that this act of turning towards the market will be more intense in the future. While the supplementary tools which are included in translation education such as Trados are introduced to the students, the intention should be to give basic information about the general logic of using such programs. Training the students for the market conditions is not only the matter of teaching one supplementary tool but rather ensuring that they are able to approach with a wider perspective and know how to use technology. Performing the translation act by using the technology in an education process is also the prerequisite of Bologna process.

REFERENCES

Ammann, Margret (2008) Akademik Çeviri Eğitimine Giriş, çevirmen: Deniz Ekeman (1990) Grundlagen der modernen Translationstheorie- Ein Leitfaden für Studierende - Heidelberg: Universität Heidelberg.

Demez, Neslihan (2008) "Akademik Çeviri Eğitimi ve Çeviri Piyasası İlişkisi", Çeviri Eğitimi ve Çeviri Dünyası Sempozyumu, Unpublished Paper, İstanbul Üniversitesi.

Eruz, Sakine (2004) "Çeviri Bir Sanat Mıdır? Çevirmen Yetiştirme Sürecinde Akademik Çeviri Eğitimi", Uluslararası Çeviri Sempozyumu Bildiri Kitabı, ed. İlyas Öztürk, Sakarya.

Hagemann, Susanne (2005) Translationswissenschaft und der Bologna-Prozess: BA/MA-Studiengänge für Übersetzen und Dolmetschen im internationalen Vergleich. SAXA: Beiträge zur Translationswissenschaft 2. Köln: SAXA.

Kurultay, Turgay (1997) "Neler Olmazsa Çeviri Eğitimi Olmaz? Çeviri Eğitiminde Temel İlkeler Belirlemeye Yönelik Bir Deneme", T. Kurultay/İ. Birkandan (eds.): 'Türkiye'de Çeviri Eğitimi. Nereden Nereye.' Sel Yayıncılık, p. 23-31.

Nord, Christiane (1990) "Praxisbezug im Übersetzungsunterricht. Wie "realitätsnah" muß eine universitäre Translatorenausbildung sein?" içinde: Entwurf eines Curriculums für einen Studiengang Translatologie und Translatorik, Margret Ammann und Hans J. Vermeer, Heidelberg: Institut für Übersetzen und Dolmetschen (= Translatorisches Handeln 4), p. 9-13.

Öztürk, İlyas/Öz, Cemil/Şan, Filiz (2012) "Bilgisayar Destekli Çeviri Eyleminin Temellendirilmesi", International Distance Education Conference, Dubai.

Schmitt, Peter A. (1998) "Technische Arbeitsmittel", içinde: Hornby, M.S.; Hönig, H.; Kussmaul, P., Schmitt, P. (derleyenler) Handbuch Translation, Tübingen: Stauffenburg, p.186-198.

Internet Sources

Can, M. Zahit (2012) Sakarya University EBS Trados Lecture Notes: <u>http://www.ebs.sakarya.edu.tr</u> /<u>ebs 2012/?upage=fak&page=drs&f=02&b=16&ch=1&dpage=tnm&InKod=8265&dpage=all</u>, accessed: 22.10.2012

Professional Competency Board: <u>www.myk.gov.tr</u>, accessed: 15.10.2012

Sakarya University Education Information System: <u>www.ebs.sakarya.edu.tr</u>, accessed: 02.11.2012

SDL Trados: <u>http://www.sdl.com/products/sdl-trados-studio/</u>, accessed: 22.10.2012

Higher Education Bologna Process: <u>www.bologna.yok.gov.tr</u>, accessed: 15.10.2012